# UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

# FORM 8-K

CURRENT REPORT
Pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d)
of The Securities Exchange Act of 1934

Date of Report (Date of Earliest Event Reported): September 12, 2017

# **Inotek Pharmaceuticals Corporation**

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

DELAWARE (State or other jurisdiction of incorporation) 001-36829 (Commission File Number) 04-3475813 (I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)

91 Hartwell Avenue
Lexington, MA
(Address of principal executive offices)

revised financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. ⊠

02421 (Zip Code)

Registrant's telephone number, including area code (781) 676-2100

Not Applicable (Former name or former address, if changed since last report)

Check the appropriate box below if the Form 8-K filing is intended to simultaneously satisfy the filing obligation of the registrant under any of the following provisions:	ing
☐ Written communications pursuant to Rule 425 under the Securities Act (17 CFR 230.425)	
☑ Soliciting material pursuant to Rule 14a-12 under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.14a-12)	
Pre-commencement communications pursuant to Rule 14d-2(b) under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.14d-2(b))	
Pre-commencement communications pursuant to Rule 13e-4(c) under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.13e-4(c))	
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is an emerging growth company as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act of 1933 or Rule 12b-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.	
Emerging growth company ⊠	
If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new	or

# Item 1.01 Entry into a Material Definitive Agreement.

#### Agreement and Plan of Merger

On September 12, 2017, Inotek Pharmaceuticals Corporation ("<u>Inotek</u>") entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger and Reorganization (the "<u>Merger Agreement</u>") with Rocket Pharmaceuticals, Ltd., a privately held biopharmaceutical company ("<u>Rocket</u>") and Rome Merger Sub, a wholly owned subsidiary of Inotek ("<u>Merger Subsidiary</u>"), pursuant to which the Merger Subsidiary will be merged with and into Rocket (the "<u>Merger</u>") at the effective time of the Merger, with Rocket continuing after the Merger as the surviving company and a wholly-owned subsidiary of Inotek.

Subject to the terms and conditions of the Merger Agreement, the percentage of the combined company that Inotek stockholders will own following the closing of the Merger is subject to an adjustment based on the amount of Inotek's net cash at the closing. On a pro forma basis, based upon the number of shares of Inotek common stock to be issued in the Merger, following the closing of the Merger current Inotek stockholders will own approximately 19% of the combined company and current Rocket shareholders will own approximately 81% of the combined company if Inotek has a valuation of at least \$47 million, which is based on a projected net cash balance (or cash and cash equivalents minus outstanding liabilities) at the closing of \$42 million, plus an additional \$5 million of enterprise value. Under the terms of the Merger Agreement, Rocket has a stipulated valuation of \$200 million which is not subject to any adjustments. Ten days prior to the closing, Inotek's estimated net cash at closing will be mutually agreed upon and the final exchange ratio will be calculated based on the relative values of the parties as described in the Merger Agreement. If Inotek's net cash at closing is within a range of \$40.5 million to \$43.5 million, no adjustment will be made to the foregoing split. Based on Inotek's current level of net cash and taking into account Inotek's projected expenses in connection with the proposed transaction, if the Merger were to close today, the stockholders of Inotek would own appropriately 19% of the combined company and current Rocket's shareholders would own approximately 81% of the combined company. There can be no assurances as to Inotek's level of net cash between now and closing.

The Merger Agreement contains a customary "no-shop" provision under which neither Inotek nor Rocket is permitted to (i) solicit any alternative acquisition proposals, (ii) participate in any negotiations or discussions with any person relating to any alternative acquisition proposal, (iii) approve, endorse or recommend any alternative acquisition proposal, or (iv) enter into any agreement relating to any alternative acquisition proposal. The Inotek "no-shop" provision is subject to certain exceptions that permit the board of directors of Inotek to comply with its fiduciary duties, which, under certain circumstances, would enable Inotek to provide information to, and engage in discussions or negotiations with, third parties with respect to alternative acquisition proposals.

The Merger Agreement provides each of Inotek and Rocket with specified termination rights. If the Merger Agreement is terminated by Inotek to accept a superior acquisition proposal or under other circumstances specified in the Merger Agreement, Inotek will be required to pay to Rocket or Rocket will be required to pay Inotek, as the case may be, a termination fee of \$2 million (the "Termination Fee"). Further, in connection with the termination of the Merger Agreement if the Rocket shareholders have not approved the Merger Agreement by September 22, 2017, Rocket has agreed to pay Inotek the Termination Fee, and if Inotek's stockholders do not approve the Merger Agreement Inotek has agreed to reimburse Rocket for its out-of-pocket fees and expenses of up to \$500,000.

The Merger Agreement provides that, immediately following the Effective Time, as defined in the Merger Agreement, the board of directors of the combined company will consist of up to seven individuals, two of whom shall be designated by Inotek (and mutually agreeable to Rocket) and the other five of whom shall be designated by Rocket (until each of their respective successors are duly elected or appointed and qualified or their earlier death, resignation or removal). In connection with the Merger, Inotek will seek to amend its certificate of incorporation to: (i) effect a reverse split of Inotek common stock at a ratio to be determined by Inotek, which is intended to ensure that the listing requirements of the Nasdaq Global Market are satisfied, (ii) change the name of Inotek to "Rocket Pharmaceuticals, Inc." and (iii) declassify Inotek's Board of Directors, subject to the consummation of the Merger.

Inotek's and Rocket's obligations to consummate the Merger are subject to the satisfaction or waiver of customary closing conditions, including, among others, obtaining the requisite approvals of the stockholders of Inotek and Rocket, including the approval of the charter amendments by the stockholders of Inotek, and the preparation of a proxy statement.

The board of directors of Inotek has unanimously approved the Merger Agreement and the related transactions, and has adopted resolutions recommending the requisite stockholder approval for the issuance of the shares of Inotek common stock pursuant to the Merger. Inotek has agreed to hold a stockholders' meeting to submit certain matters to its stockholders for their consideration. In connection with the Merger, Inotek intends to file with the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") a proxy statement and other relevant materials in connection with the proposed transactions.

The foregoing description of the Merger and the Merger Agreement does not purport to be complete and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the Merger Agreement, which is filed as Exhibit 2.1 to this Current Report on Form 8-K and is incorporated herein by reference.

The Merger Agreement has been included to provide investors and security holders with information regarding its terms. It is not intended to provide any other factual information about Inotek or Rocket. The Merger Agreement contains representations, warranties and covenants that Inotek and Rocket made to each other as of specific dates. The assertions embodied in those representations, warranties and covenants were made solely for purposes of the Merger Agreement between Inotek and Rocket and may be subject to important qualifications and limitations agreed to by Inotek and Rocket in connection with negotiating its terms, including being qualified by confidential disclosures exchanged between the parties in connection with the execution of the Merger Agreement. Moreover, the representations and warranties may be subject to a contractual standard of materiality that may be different from what may be viewed as material to investors or security holders, or may have been used for the purpose of allocating risk between Inotek and Rocket rather than establishing matters as facts. Moreover, information concerning the subject matter of the representations and warranties may change after the date of the Merger Agreement, which subsequent information may or may not be fully reflected in Inotek's public disclosures. For the foregoing reasons, no person should rely on the representations and warranties as statements of factual information at the time they were made or otherwise.

#### **Voting Agreements**

In connection with the execution of the Merger Agreement, Inotek entered into Voting Agreements with its current directors and certain officers, which together beneficially own or control an aggregate of approximately 5% of Inotek common stock. The Voting Agreements provide that, among other things, each of the stockholders has agreed to vote or cause to be voted, all of the shares of Inotek's common stock beneficially owned by such stockholder in favor of the stockholder proposals submitted at the Inotek stockholders meeting held in connection with the Merger. In addition, shareholders of Rocket owning or controlling approximately 67.2% of Rocket's voting securities at the time of signing have entered into similar voting agreements whereby they have agreed to vote, or cause to be voted, all of the shares of Rocket beneficially owned by such shareholders in favor of the adoption and approval of the Merger Agreement.

The foregoing description of the Voting Agreements does not purport to be complete and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the form of Inotek Voting Agreement and the form of Rocket Voting Agreement, which are provided as Exhibit B to the Merger Agreement, which is attached as Exhibit 2.1 to this Current Report on Form 8-K and incorporated herein by reference.

#### **Lockup Agreements**

Concurrently and in connection with the execution of the Merger Agreement, Rocket's chief executive officer and chief financial officer, current directors and certain shareholders of Rocket, who collectively own or control approximately 62.1% of Rocket's voting securities at the time of signing, and current directors and certain officers of Inotek, which together beneficially own or control an aggregate of approximately 5% of Inotek common stock, entered into lock-up agreements with Inotek, in substantially the form provided as Exhibit C to the Merger Agreement, which is attached as Exhibit 2.1 to this Current Report on Form 8-K and incorporated by reference herein (the "Lockup Agreements"), pursuant to which each stockholder will be subject to a 180 day lockup on the sale of shares of Inotek common stock received in the Merger.

# Item 3.02. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities.

The information in Item 1.01 of this Current Report on Form 8-K is incorporated herein by reference.

The shares to be issued by Inotek in the Merger will be issued in a private placement exempt from registration under Section 4(2) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act"), because the offer and sale of such securities does not involve a "public offering" as defined in Section 4(2) of the Securities Act, and other applicable requirements were met.

# Item 5.01. Changes in Control of Registrant.

The information in Item 1.01 of this Current Report on Form 8-K is incorporated herein by reference.

# Item 5.02. Departure of Directors or Certain Officers; Election of Directors; Appointment of Certain Officers; Compensatory Arrangement of Certain Officers.

On September 12, 2017, Inotek entered into an amendment to the Offer Letter with Inotek's Executive Vice President, Chief Medical Officer, Rudolf A. Baumgartner, MD, dated May 2, 2007, as amended on December 23, 2008, October 9, 2009 and August 7, 2017 (the "Amendment"). Under the Amendment, in the event Dr. Baumgartner's employment is terminated either by Inotek without Cause, as defined in the Amendment, or as the result of his resignation for Good Reason, as defined in the Amendment, then Dr. Baumgartner shall receive 12 months of severance pay at his current monthly base salary in exchange for his execution of a release of claims in Inotek's favor. In addition, if Dr. Baumgartner's employment is terminated either by Inotek without Cause or as a result of his resignation for Good Reason, Inotek will pay the employee portion of premiums if he elects COBRA continuation coverage until either the end of his 12-month severance period or the end of his eligibility for COBRA. Further, if Dr. Baumgartner's employment is terminated either by Inotek without Cause or as a result of his resignation for Good Reason, his outstanding stock options and other stock-based awards will accelerate and vest in full and become exercisable or nonforfeitable as of the date of the termination or resignation, as applicable.

The description of the Amendment set forth herein does not purport to be complete and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the full text thereof, which is attached hereto as Exhibit 10.1.

#### Item 8.01. Other Events.

On September 12, 2017, Inotek issued a press release announcing, among other things, the execution of the Merger Agreement. A copy of the press release is filed as Exhibit 99.1 to this Current Report on Form 8-K and is incorporated herein by reference.

# IMPORTANT ADDITIONAL INFORMATION TO BE FILED WITH THE SEC

In connection with the proposed transaction, Inotek plans to file with the SEC a proxy statement relating to the approval of the Merger Agreement. The information in the preliminary proxy statement is not complete and may be changed. The proxy statement and this communication are not offers to sell Inotek securities and are not soliciting an offer to buy Inotek securities in any state where the offer and sale is not permitted.

The definitive proxy statement will be mailed to stockholders of Inotek. INOTEK URGES INVESTORS AND SECURITY HOLDERS TO READ THE DEFINITIVE PROXY STATEMENT AND OTHER DOCUMENTS FILED WITH THE SEC CAREFULLY AND IN THEIR ENTIRETY WHEN THEY BECOME AVAILABLE BECAUSE THEY WILL CONTAIN IMPORTANT INFORMATION ABOUT THE PROPOSED TRANSACTION. Investors and security holders will be able to obtain free copies of the definitive proxy statement (when available) and other documents filed with the SEC by Inotek through the website maintained by the SEC at www.sec.gov. Free copies of the definitive proxy statement (when available) and other documents filed with the SEC can also be obtained on Inotek's website at http://ir.inotekpharma.com/phoenix.zhtml?c=254118&p=irol-sec.

# Participants in Solicitation

Inotek, Rocket and their respective directors and executive officers may be deemed to be participants in the solicitation of proxies from the stockholders of Inotek in connection with the Merger. Information about the directors and executive officers of Inotek is set forth in Inotek's Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016 and filed with the SEC on March 16, 2017 and the proxy statement filed with the SEC on April 26, 2017. Additional information regarding the interests of these participants and other persons who may be deemed participants in the Merger may be obtained by reading the proxy statement regarding the proposed transaction when it becomes available.

This document will not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy any securities, nor will there be any sale of securities in any jurisdiction in which such offer, solicitation or sale would be unlawful prior to the registration or qualification under the securities laws of any such jurisdiction.

# **Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements**

This communication contains "forward-looking" statements within the meaning of Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, known as the PSLRA. These statements, as they relate to Inotek or Rocket, the management of either such company or the proposed transaction between Inotek and Rocket, involve risks and uncertainties that may cause results to differ materially from those set forth in the statements. These statements are based on current plans, estimates and projections, and therefore, you are cautioned not to place undue reliance on them. No forward-looking statement can be guaranteed, and actual results may differ materially from those projected. Inotek and Rocket undertake no obligation to publicly update any forward-looking statement, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, except to the extent required by law. Forward-looking statements are not historical facts, but rather are based on current expectations, estimates, assumptions and projections about the business and future financial results of the pharmaceutical industry, and other legal, regulatory and economic developments. We use words such as "anticipates," "believes," "plans," "expects," "future," "intends," "may," "will," "should," "could," "estimates," "predicts," "potential," "continue," "guidance," and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements, although not all forward-looking statements contain these identifying words. Actual results could differ materially from the results contemplated by these forward-looking statements due to a number of factors, including, but not limited to, those described in the documents Inotek has filed with the SEC as well as the possibility that (1) the parties may be unable to obtain stockholder or regulatory approvals required for the proposed transaction or may be required to accept conditions that could reduce the anticipated benefits of the Merger as a condition to obtaining regulatory approvals; (2) the length of time necessary to consummate the proposed transaction may be longer than anticipated; (3) the parties may not be able to satisfy the conditions precedent to consummate the proposed transaction; (4) the proposed transaction may divert management's attention from Inotek's ongoing business operations; (5) the anticipated benefits of the proposed transaction might not be achieved; (6) Rocket's clinical programs and pre-clinical studies may not be successful or completed on time; (7) Rocket may not be able to successfully demonstrate safety and efficacy of its clinical programs or pre-clinical studies; (8) Rocket's expectations regarding the future development of its clinical programs and pre-clinical studies may not materialize; (9) Rocket's clinical programs may not obtain necessary regulatory or other approvals; (10) Rocket's clinical programs may not meet proof of concept; (11) Rocket may not be able to raise the necessary capital to conduct Rocket's clinical programs and pre-clinical studies or such capital may not be available; (12) the prospective market size of Rocket's drug candidates may be different than currently anticipated; (13) the proposed transaction may involve unexpected costs; (14) the business may suffer as a result of uncertainty surrounding the proposed transaction, including difficulties in maintaining relationships with third parties or retaining key employees; (15) the parties may be unable to meet expectations regarding the timing, completion and accounting and tax treatments of the transaction; (16) the parties may be subject to risks related to the proposed transaction, including any legal proceedings related to the proposed transaction and the general risks associated with the respective businesses of Inotek and Rocket, including the general volatility of the capital markets, terms and deployment of capital, volatility of Inotek share prices, changes in the biotechnology industry, interest rates or the general economy, underperformance of Inotek's or Rocket's assets and investments, decreased ability to raise funds and the degree and nature of Inotek's and Rocket's competition, as well as the risk that unexpected reductions in Inotek's cash balance could adversely affect the portion of the combined company that the Inotek stockholders retain; (17) activist investors might not approve of the proposed transaction; or (18) the risks that are more fully described in the section titled "Risk Factors" in Inotek's most recent Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC, as well as subsequent and other documents filed from time to time with the SEC by Inotek could materialize. Additionally, forward-looking statements related to Rocket's future expectations are subject to numerous risks and uncertainties, including risks that planned development milestones and timelines will not be met. Additional risks relating to Rocket's business and operations will be set forth in the proxy statement that Inotek will file to seek stockholder approval of the merger. Neither Inotek nor Rocket gives any assurance that either Inotek or Rocket will achieve its expectations.

The foregoing list of factors is not exhaustive. You should carefully consider the foregoing factors and the other risks and uncertainties that affect the businesses of Inotek described in the "Risk Factors" section of its Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q and other documents filed by Inotek from time to time with the SEC, as well as Risk Factors relating to Rocket that will be contained in definitive proxy statement for the proposed merger between Inotek and Rocket. All forward-looking statements included in this document are based upon information available to Inotek and Rocket the date hereof, and neither Inotek nor Rocket assumes any obligation to update or revise any such forward-looking statements.

# Item 9.01 Financial Statements and Exhibits.

(d) Exhibits

Exhibit No.	<u>Description</u>
2.1	Agreement and Plan of Merger and Reorganization, dated as of September 12, 2017, by and among Inotek Pharmaceuticals Corporation, Rocket Pharmaceuticals, Ltd. and Rome Merger Sub (1)
10.1	Amendment to Offer Letter, effective as of September 12, 2017, by and between Inotek and Rudolf A. Baumgartner, MD
99.1	Press release of Inotek Pharmaceuticals Corporation dated September 12, 2017

(1) Schedules have been omitted from this filing pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K. Inotek agrees to furnish supplementally a copy of any omitted schedule to the SEC upon its request; provided, however, that Inotek may request confidential treatment pursuant to Rule 24b-2 of the Exchange Act for any schedule so furnished.

\* \* \*

# **SIGNATURES**

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned hereunto duly authorized.

Date: September 13, 2017

# INOTEK PHARMACEUTICALS CORPORATION

By: /s/ Dale Ritter

Dale Ritter

Vice President – Finance

# EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit No.	<u>Description</u>
2.1	Agreement and Plan of Merger and Reorganization, dated as of September 12, 2017, by and among Inotek Pharmaceuticals Corporation, Rocket Pharmaceuticals, Ltd. and Rome Merger Sub (1)
10.1	Amendment to Offer Letter, effective as of September 12, 2017, by and between Inotek and Rudolf A. Baumgartner, MD
99.1	Press release of Inotek Pharmaceuticals Corporation dated September 12, 2017

(1) Schedules have been omitted from this filing pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K. Inotek agrees to furnish supplementally a copy of any omitted schedule to the SEC upon its request; provided, however, that Inotek may request confidential treatment pursuant to Rule 24b-2 of the Exchange Act for any schedule so furnished.

# AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER AND REORGANIZATION

among:

# INOTEK PHARMACEUTICALS CORPORATION,

a Delaware corporation;

# ROME MERGER SUB,

a Cayman Islands exempted company; and

# a Cayman Islands exempted company Dated as of September 12, 2017

The Agreement and Plan of Merger and Reorganization (the "Agreement") contains representations, warranties and covenants that were made only for purposes of the Agreement and as of specific dates; were solely for the benefit of the parties to the Agreement; may be subject to limitations agreed upon by the parties, including being qualified by confidential disclosures made for the purposes of allocating contractual risk between the parties to the Agreement instead of establishing these matters as facts; and may be subject to standards of materiality applicable to the contracting parties that differ from those applicable to investors. Investors should not rely on the representations, warranties and covenants or any description thereof as characterizations of the actual state of facts or condition of the parties to the Agreement, or any of their respective subsidiaries or affiliates. Moreover, information concerning the subject matter of the representations, warranties and covenants may change after the date of the Agreement, which subsequent information may or may not be fully reflected in public disclosures by the parties.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLE I DESCRIPTION OF TRANSACTION	2
Section 1.1 Structure of the Merger	2
Section 1.2 Effects of the Merger	2
Section 1.3 Closing; Effective Time	2
Section 1.4 Governing Documents; Directors and Officers	3
Section 1.5 Conversion of Shares and Treatment of Options	3
Section 1.6 Closing of the Company's Transfer Books	4
Section 1.7 Exchange and Payment	4
Section 1.8 Appraisal Rights	5
Section 1.9 Further Action	6
Section 1.10 Tax Consequences	6
Section 1.11 Determination of Net Cash	6
ARTICLE II REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE COMPANY	8
Section 2.1 Subsidiaries; Due Organization; Etc.	8
Section 2.2 Governing Documents; Charters and Codes of Conduct	8
Section 2.3 Capitalization, Etc.	9
Section 2.4 Financial Statements	10
Section 2.5 Absence of Changes	11
Section 2.6 Title to Assets	12
Section 2.7 Real Property; Leasehold	13
Section 2.8 Intellectual Property	13
Section 2.9 Agreements, Contracts and Commitments	14
Section 2.10 Liabilities	15
Section 2.11 Compliance; Permits; Restrictions	15
Section 2.12 Tax Matters	18
Section 2.13 Employee and Labor Matters; Benefit Plans	20
Section 2.14 Environmental Matters	23
Section 2.15 Insurance	24
Section 2.16 Legal Proceedings; Orders	24
Section 2.17 Authority; Binding Nature of Agreement	25
Section 2.18 Intentionally Omitted	25
Section 2.19 Vote Required	25
Section 2.20 Non-Contravention; Consents	25
Section 2.21 No Financial Advisor	26
Section 2.22 Accredited Investor Status	26
Section 2.23 Disclosure	26
ARTICLE III REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF PARENT AND MERGER SUB	27
Section 3.1 Subsidiaries; Due Organization; Etc.	27
Section 3.2 Governing Documents; Charters and Codes of Conduct	27
Section 3.3 Capitalization, Etc.	28
Section 3.4 SEC Filings; Financial Statements	29
Section 3.5 Absence of Changes	30
Section 3.6 Title to Assets	32
Section 3.7 Real Property; Leasehold	32
Section 3.8 Intellectual Property	32

Section 3.9 Agreements, Contracts and Commitments	34
Section 3.10 Liabilities	35
Section 3.11 Compliance; Permits; Restrictions	36
Section 3.12 Tax Matters	37
Section 3.13 Employee and Labor Matters; Benefit Plans	39
Section 3.14 Environmental Matters	42
Section 3.15 Insurance	43
Section 3.16 Transactions with Affiliates	43
Section 3.17 Legal Proceedings; Orders	43
Section 3.18 Authority; Binding Nature of Agreement	44
Section 3.19 Inapplicability of Anti-takeover Statutes	44
Section 3.20 Vote Required	44
Section 3.21 Non-Contravention; Consents	44
Section 3.22 No Financial Advisor	45
Section 3.23 Disclosure	45
Section 3.24 Valid Issuance	45
ARTICLE IV CERTAIN COVENANTS OF THE PARTIES	46
Section 4.1 Access and Investigation	46
Section 4.2 Operation of Parent's Business	47
Section 4.3 Operation of the Company's Business	47
Section 4.4 Negative Obligations	48
Section 4.5 Mutual Non-Solicitation	51
ARTICLE V ADDITIONAL AGREEMENTS OF THE PARTIES	55
Section 5.1 Proxy Statement	55
Section 5.2 Company Shareholder Approval	55
Section 5.3 Parent Stockholders' Meeting	56
Section 5.4 Regulatory Approvals	57
Section 5.5 Company Options	58
Section 5.6 Indemnification of Officers and Directors	59
Section 5.7 Additional Agreements	60
Section 5.8 Disclosure	61
Section 5.9 Listing	61
Section 5.10 Tax Matters	61
Section 5.11 Transaction Litigation	62
Section 5.12 Parent Employee Plans	62
Section 5.13 Other Proposals	62
Section 5.14 Board of Directors and Officers of Parent	62
Section 5.15 Parent Convertible Notes	63
Section 5.16 Private Placement	63
Section 5.17 Cooperation	63
ARTICLE VI CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO OBLIGATIONS OF EACH PARTY	63
Section 6.1 No Restraints	63
Section 6.2 Stockholder Approval	63
Section 6.3 Regulatory Matters	63
Section 6.4 NASDAQ Notification	63
	65

64

ARTICLE VII ADDITIONAL CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO OBLIGATIONS OF PARENT AND MERGER SUB

Section 7.1 Accuracy of Representations Section 7.2 Performance of Covenants Section 7.3 Consents Section 7.4 No Company Material Adverse Effect Section 7.5 Officer Certificate	64 64 64 64 64
ARTICLE VIII ADDITIONAL CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO OBLIGATIONS OF THE COMPANY	64
Section 8.1 Accuracy of Representations Section 8.2 Performance of Covenants Section 8.3 Consents Section 8.4 No Parent Material Adverse Effect Section 8.5 Officer Certificate	64 65 65 65 65
ARTICLE IX TERMINATION	65
Section 9.1 Termination Section 9.2 Effect of Termination Section 9.3 Expenses; Termination Fees	65 67 67
ARTICLE X MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS	68
Section 10.1 Non-Survival of Representations and Warranties Section 10.2 Amendment Section 10.3 Waiver Section 10.4 Entire Agreement; Counterparts; Exchanges by Facsimile Section 10.5 Applicable Law; Jurisdiction Section 10.6 Assignability Section 10.7 Notices Section 10.8 Cooperation Section 10.9 Severability	68 68 68 69 69 69 70
Section 10.10 Other Remedies; Specific Performance	71
Section 10.11 Construction	71

# **EXHIBITS AND SCHEDULES**

**Exhibit A** Certain Definitions

Exhibit B Forms of Support AgreementsExhibit C Form of Lock-up Agreements

Company Disclosure Schedule Parent Disclosure Schedule

# INDEX OF DEFINED TERMS

Accounting Firm	7	Board Declassification	62
Adjusted Aggregate Valuation	A-	Book Entry Shares	5
	1	Business Day	A-
Adjusted Lower Target Net Cash	A-		1
	1	Cayman Law	A-
Adjusted Parent Valuation	A-		1
	1	Cayman Merger Documents	3
Agreement	1	Certifications	30
Antitrust Laws	58	Closing	2
Antitrust Proceedings	58		

Closing Date	2	Exchange Ratio	A-
COBRA	A- 1	Existing Company D&O Policies	4 24
Code	1	Existing Parent D&O Policies	43
Company	1	Expense Reimbursement Amount	67
Company Acquisition Proposal	52	FDA	16
Company Associate	A- 1	Fully-Diluted Basis	A- 4
Company Board Recommendation	56	GAAP	10
Company Contract	A-	Goodwin Opinion	62
	1	Governmental Authority	A-
Company Disclosure Schedule	8		4
Company Employee Plan	21	Governmental Authorization	A-
Company Financials Company Intellectual Property	10 13	Corresponded Body	4
Company Interlectual Property  Company IP Rights	15 A-	Governmental Body	A- 4
Sompany IT Rights	1	Grant Date	22
Company Material Adverse Effect	A-	Hazardous Materials	A-
1 0	2		4
Company Material Contract	16	HSR	57
Company Most Recent Balance Sheet	10	Intellectual Property	A-
Company Options	A-		4
	2	IRS	A-
Company Ordinary Shares	A-	Van Emplemen	4
Company Ownership Factor	2 A-	Key Employee	A- 5
Company Ownership Factor	2	Knowledge	A-
Company Preferred Shares	A-	raiowicage	5
company reserved onaics	2	Legal Proceeding	A-
Company Products	16		5
Company Public Company Financials	A-	Legal Requirement	A-
	2		5
Company Share Option Plans	10	Liability	16
Company Share Stock	A-	Lock-up Agreements	2
Company Shareholder Approval	1 25	Lower Target Net Cash	A- 5
Company Shareholder Meeting	56	Mayer Brown Opinion	61
Company Stipulated Valuation	A-	Merger	1
	2	Merger Sub	1
Company Stock Certificate	4	Multiemployer Plan	A-
Company Third Party Intellectual Property	13		6
Confidentiality Agreement	A-	Multiple Employer Plan	A-
S	3	NIACDAO I 'at' an A a l'ant' a	6
Consent	A- 3	NASDAQ Listing Application Net Cash	61 A-
Contemplated Transactions	A-	ivet Casii	5
John Linguita Transactions	3	Net Cash Calculation	6
Contingent Workers	20	Net Cash Schedule	6
Contract	A-	Ordinary Course of Business	A-
	3		6
D&O Indemnified Parties	59	Parent	1
Delivery Date	6	Parent Acquisition Proposal	53
Determination Date DGCL	6 A-	Parent Associate	A- 6
DGCL	A- 3	Parent Board Recommendation	56
Dispute Notice	7	Parent Change of Recommendation	54
Dissenting Shares	5	Parent Common Stock	A-
Effect	A-		6
	3	Parent Contract	A-
Effective Time	3		6
Encumbrance	A-	Parent Convertible Notes	A-
Patitra	3	Davant Disalasuwa Cahadula	6
Entity	A- 3	Parent Disclosure Schedule Parent Employee Plan	27 40
Environmental Law	A-	Parent Intellectual Property	33
	3	Parent IP Rights	A-
ERISA	A-	3	6
	3	Parent Material Adverse Effect	A-
ERISA Affiliate	A-		6
	3	Parent Material Contract	35
Exchange Act	A-	Parent Options	A-
Exchange Agent	3 4	Parent Ownership Factor	7
EXCHANGE A VEHI	4	rateni Ownership Factor	A-
Exchange Fund	4		7

Parent Preferred Stock	A-
	7
Parent Products	36

53	Required Parent Stockholder Vote	44
		7
	•	A-
	neverse stock opin	8
	Sarbanes-Oxley Act	A-
7		8
28	SEC	A-
44		8
56	Securities Act	A-
53		8
33	Shareholder	A-
A-		8
7	Subsidiary	A-
A-	•	8
7	Surviving Corporation	2
A-	Tax	A-
8		8
A-	Tax Return	A-
8		8
46	Termination Fee	67
A-	Transaction Litigation	A-
8	-	9
A-	Treasury Regulations	A-
8		9
25	Upper Target Net Cash	A-
		9
	WARN Act	23
	28 44 56 53 33 A- 7 A- 8 A- 8 46 A- 8 A- 8	A- Response Date 7 Reverse Stock Split 29 A- Sarbanes-Oxley Act 7 28 SEC 44 56 Securities Act 53 33 Shareholder A- 7 Subsidiary A- 7 Surviving Corporation A- Tax 8 A- Tax Return 8 46 Termination Fee A- Transaction Litigation 8 A- Treasury Regulations 8 25 Upper Target Net Cash

# AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER AND REORGANIZATION

THIS AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER AND REORGANIZATION (this "Agreement") is entered into as of September 12, 2017, among INOTEK PHARMACEUTICALS CORPORATION, a Delaware corporation ("Parent"), ROME MERGER SUB, a Cayman Islands exempted company and wholly owned subsidiary of Parent ("Merger Sub"), and ROCKET PHARMACEUTICALS, LTD, a Cayman Islands exempted company (the "Company"). Certain capitalized terms used in this Agreement are defined in <a href="Exhibit A">Exhibit A</a>.

# **RECITALS**

- (A) Parent and the Company intend to merge Merger Sub with and into the Company (the "Merger") in accordance with this Agreement and Cayman Law. Upon consummation of the Merger, Merger Sub will cease to exist, and the Company will become a wholly owned subsidiary of Parent.
- (B) For U.S. federal income tax purposes, Parent, Merger Sub and the Company intend that the Merger will qualify as a "reorganization" within the meaning of Section 368(a) of the Code, that this Agreement will constitute a "plan of reorganization" within the meaning of Treasury Regulation Section 1.368-2(g), and that Parent, Merger Sub and the Company will each be a "party to the reorganization" within the meaning of Section 368(b) of the Code.
- (C) The Board of Directors of Parent (i) has determined that the Merger is advisable and in the best interests of, Parent and its stockholders, (ii) has approved this Agreement, the Merger, the issuance of shares of Parent Common Stock to the shareholders of the Company pursuant to the terms of this Agreement and the other actions contemplated by this Agreement and has deemed this Agreement advisable and (iii) has determined to recommend that the stockholders of Parent vote to approve the issuance of shares of Parent Common Stock to the shareholders of the Company pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, and such other actions as contemplated by this Agreement.
- (D) The Board of Directors of Merger Sub (i) has determined that the Merger is advisable and in the best interests of, Merger Sub and its sole shareholder, (ii) has approved this Agreement, the Merger and the other actions contemplated by this Agreement and has deemed this Agreement advisable and (iii) has determined to recommend the approval and adoption of this Agreement and the approval of the Merger to Parent as the sole shareholder of Merger Sub.
- (E) The Board of Directors of the Company (i) has determined that the Merger is advisable and in the best interests of, the Company and its shareholders, (ii) has approved this Agreement, the Merger and the other actions contemplated by this Agreement and has deemed this Agreement advisable and (iii) has approved and determined to recommend the approval and adoption of this Agreement and the approval of the Merger to the shareholders of the Company.
- (F) In order to induce the Company to cause the Merger to be consummated, certain of Parent's officers, directors and stockholders have executed support agreements in the form attached hereto as <u>Exhibit B</u> and lock-up agreements in the form attached hereto as <u>Exhibit C</u> relating to sales and certain other dispositions of shares of Parent Common Stock or certain other securities after the Closing.

(G) In order to induce Parent and Merger Sub to cause the Merger to be consummated, certain of the Company's officers, directors and shareholders have executed support agreements in the form attached hereto as <u>Exhibit B</u> and lock-up agreements in the form attached hereto as <u>Exhibit C</u> relating to sales and certain other dispositions of shares of Parent Common Stock or certain other securities after the Closing (the "**Lock-up Agreements**").

# AGREEMENT

The Parties, intending to be legally bound, agree as follows:

# ARTICLE I

# **DESCRIPTION OF TRANSACTION**

# Section 1.1 Structure of the Merger.

- (a) Upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement, at the Effective Time (as defined in <u>Section 1.3</u>), Merger Sub shall be merged with and into the Company, and the separate existence of Merger Sub shall cease. The Company will continue as the surviving company in the Merger (the "Surviving Corporation").
- (b) The Parties agree to reasonably cooperate in the consideration and implementation of alternative structures to effect the business combination contemplated by this Agreement as long as any such alternative structure does not (i) impose any material delay on, or condition to, the consummation of the Merger, (ii) cause any condition set forth in <a href="Article VII">Article VII</a> and <a href="Article VII">Article VIII</a> to not be capable of being satisfied (unless duly waived by the Party entitled to the benefits thereof) or (iii) adversely affect any of the Parties or either of the Parties' stockholders or shareholders (as applicable).
- Section 1.2 <u>Effects of the Merger</u>. The Merger shall have the effects set forth in this Agreement and in the applicable provisions of Cayman Law. As a result of the Merger, the Company will become a wholly-owned subsidiary of Parent.

Section 1.3 <u>Closing</u>; <u>Effective Time</u>. Unless this Agreement is earlier terminated pursuant to the provisions of <u>Section 9.1</u> of this Agreement, and subject to the satisfaction or waiver of the conditions set forth in <u>Article VI</u>, <u>Article VII</u> and <u>Article VIII</u> of this Agreement, the consummation of the Merger (the "**Closing**") shall take place at the offices of Goodwin Procter LLP, 100 Northern Avenue, Boston, Massachusetts, as promptly as practicable (but in no event later than the second Business Day following the satisfaction or waiver of the last of the conditions set forth in <u>Article VI</u>, <u>Article VII</u> and <u>Article VIII</u> to be satisfied or waived, other than those conditions that by their nature are to be satisfied at the Closing, but subject to the satisfaction or waiver of each of such conditions), or at such other time, date and place as Parent and the Company may mutually agree in writing, <u>provided</u> that if all the conditions set forth in <u>Article VI</u>, <u>Article VII</u> and <u>Article VIII</u> shall not have been satisfied or waived on such date, then the Closing shall take place on the first subsequent Business Day on which all such conditions shall have been satisfied or waived. The date on which the Closing actually takes place is referred to as the "**Closing Date**." At the Closing, the Parties shall cause the Merger to be consummated by filing the Plan of Merger (together with the documentation set forth on Part 1.3 of the Company Disclosure Schedule, the "**Cayman Merger Documents**") with, and obtaining approval from, the Cayman Registrar of Companies in accordance with Cayman Law.

The Merger shall become effective at the time of the registration of such Plan of Merger by the Cayman Registrar of Companies or at such later time as may be specified in such Plan of Merger as mutually agreed between Parent and the Company (the time as of which the Merger becomes effective being referred to as the "Effective Time").

# Section 1.4 Governing Documents; Directors and Officers. At the Effective Time:

- (a) the memorandum and articles of association of the Surviving Corporation shall be in the form appended to the Plan of Merger;
- (b) the Certificate of Incorporation of Parent shall be the Certificate of Incorporation of Parent immediately prior to the Effective Time, until thereafter amended as provided by the DGCL and such Certificate of Incorporation; provided, however, that at the Effective Time, Parent shall file an amendment to its Certificate of Incorporation to effect the Reverse Stock Split and the Board Declassification; and
  - (c) the directors of Parent shall be as set forth in Section 5.14.

# Section 1.5 Conversion of Shares and Treatment of Options.

- (a) At the Effective Time, by virtue of the Merger and without any further action on the part of Parent, Merger Sub, the Company or any shareholder of the Company:
  - (i) any Company Ordinary Shares or Company Preferred Shares held as treasury shares or held or owned by the Company or, Merger Sub immediately prior to the Effective Time shall automatically be canceled and retired and shall cease to exist, and no consideration shall be delivered in exchange therefor; and
  - (ii) subject to Section 1.5(c), each share of Company Preferred Shares outstanding shall be converted to Company Ordinary Shares, which shall have the right to receive a number of Parent Common Stock equal to the Exchange Ratio and each share of Company Ordinary Shares outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time (excluding shares to be canceled pursuant to Section 1.5(a)(i) and excluding Dissenting Shares) shall be converted solely into the right to receive a number of shares of Parent Common Stock equal to the Exchange Ratio.
- (b) If any shares of Company Ordinary Shares outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time are unvested or are subject to a repurchase option or the risk of forfeiture under any applicable restricted share purchase agreement or other agreement with the Company (other than those shares (if any) which, as a result of the Merger, shall, by the terms of the agreements applicable thereto, vest or for which any such repurchase options or other such restrictions or risks of forfeiture shall lapse), then the shares of Parent Common Stock issued in exchange for such shares of Company Ordinary Shares will to the same extent be unvested and subject to the same repurchase option or risk of forfeiture, and the certificates representing such shares of Parent Common Stock shall accordingly be marked with appropriate legends. The Company shall take all action that may be necessary to ensure that, from and after the Effective Time, Parent is entitled to exercise any such repurchase option or other right set forth in any such restricted stock purchase agreement or other agreement in accordance with its terms.

- (c) No fractional shares of Parent Common Stock shall be issued in connection with the Merger as a result of the conversion provided for in Section 1.5(a)(ii), and no certificates or scrip for any such fractional shares shall be issued. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, all fractional shares of Parent Common Stock that a holder of Company Common Stock converted pursuant to the Merger would otherwise be entitled to receive will be aggregated and then, if a fractional share of Parent Common Stock results from that aggregation, be rounded up to the nearest whole share of Parent Common Stock.
- (d) All Company Options outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time under the Company Stock Option Plans shall be exchanged for options to purchase Parent Common Stock in accordance with <u>Section 5.5(a)</u>.
- (e) Each ordinary share, \$0.01 par value per share, of Merger Sub issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time shall be converted into and exchanged for one validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable ordinary share, \$0.01 par value per share, of the Surviving Corporation.
- (f) If, between the date of this Agreement and the Effective Time, the outstanding shares of Company Share Capital or Parent Common Stock shall have been changed into, or exchanged for, a different number of shares or a different class, by reason of any stock dividend, subdivision, reclassification, recapitalization, split, combination or exchange of shares, the Exchange Ratio shall be correspondingly adjusted to provide the holders of Company Ordinary Shares, Company Preferred Shares and Company Options the same economic effect as contemplated by this Agreement prior to such event.

Section 1.6 <u>Closing of the Company's Transfer Books</u>. At the Effective Time, the stock transfer books of the Company shall be closed with respect to all shares of Company Ordinary Shares and Company Preferred Shares outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time. No further transfer of any such shares of Company Ordinary Shares or Company Preferred Shares shall be made on such stock transfer books after the Effective Time. If, after the Effective Time, a valid certificate previously representing any shares of Company Ordinary Shares or Company Preferred Shares outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time (a "Company Stock Certificate") is presented to the Exchange Agent (as defined in <u>Section 1.7(a)</u>) or to the Surviving Corporation, such Company Stock Certificate shall be canceled and shall be exchanged as provided in <u>Section 1.5</u> and <u>Section 1.7</u>.

# Section 1.7 Exchange and Payment.

- (a) Prior to the Closing Date, Parent and the Company shall agree upon and select a reputable bank, transfer agent or trust company to act as exchange agent in the Merger (the "Exchange Agent"). Prior to the Effective Time, Parent shall deposit, or cause to be deposited, with the Exchange Agent certificates representing the shares of Parent Common Stock issuable pursuant to Section 1.5 in exchange for the outstanding shares of Company Ordinary Shares pursuant to this Section 1.7. The shares of Parent Common Stock and any dividends or distributions received by the Exchange Agent with respect to such shares, are referred to collectively as the "Exchange Fund."
- (b) Promptly, and in any event within three Business Days, after the Effective Time, the Parties shall cause the Exchange Agent to issue and deliver to each holder of uncertificated Company Ordinary Shares represented by book entry ("Book Entry Shares.") that number of shares of Parent Common Stock to which such holder of Book-Entry Shares

shall have become entitled pursuant to the provisions of Section 1.5 and any dividends or other distributions payable pursuant to Section 2.3(d) and (3) any cash in lieu of fractional shares of Parent Common Stock payable pursuant to Section 2.3(f), without such holder being required to deliver a Certificate or an executed letter of transmittal to the Exchange Agent, and such Book-Entry Shares shall then be cancelled, without such holder being required to deliver a certificate or an executed letter of transmittal to the Paying Agent, and such Book-Entry Shares shall then be canceled.

- (c) Notwithstanding anything in the foregoing to the contrary, holders of Book-Entry Shares who are entitled to receive shares of Parent Common Stock under this Article I shall be paid (A) at the time of payment of such Parent Common Stock by the Exchange Agent under Section 1.5(b), the amount of dividends or other distributions with a record date after the Effective Time theretofore paid with respect to such shares of Parent Common Stock and (B) at the appropriate payment date, the amount of dividends or other distributions with a record date after the Effective Time but prior to the time of such payment by the Exchange Agent under Section 1.5(b) and a payment date subsequent to the time of such payment by the Exchange Agent under Section 1.5(b) payable with respect to such whole shares of Parent Common Stock.
- (d) Each of Parent, Merger Sub, the Company, the Surviving Corporation and the Exchange Agent (without duplication) shall be entitled to deduct and withhold, from any consideration payable or otherwise deliverable under this Agreement to any holder of record of any Company Share Capital immediately prior to the Effective Time or any other Person who is entitled to receive merger consideration pursuant to this Article I, such amounts as are required to be withheld or deducted under the Code or any other state, local or foreign Tax Legal Requirement with respect to the making of such payment and shall be entitled to request any reasonably appropriate Tax forms, including Form W-9 (or the appropriate Form W-8, as applicable) from any recipient of merger consideration hereunder. To the extent that amounts are so withheld or deducted and paid over to the appropriate Governmental Authority, such withheld or deducted amounts shall be treated for all purposes of this Agreement as having been paid to the Person(s) to whom such amounts would otherwise have been paid. Prior to making any deduction or withholding pursuant to this Section 1.7(d), the Parent or the Merger Sub shall use reasonable efforts to provide reasonable advance written notice to the Company of the amounts subject to deduction or withholding and a reasonable opportunity to provide forms or other evidence that would reduce or exempt such amounts from such deduction or withholding. The Parties agree to cooperate to minimize the amount of any withholding pursuant to this Section 1.7(d).
- (e) No Party shall be liable to any holder of any Book Entry Shares or to any other Person with respect to any shares of Parent Common Stock (or dividends or distributions with respect thereto) or for any cash amounts delivered to any public official pursuant to any applicable abandoned property law, escheat law or similar Legal Requirement.

# Section 1.8 Appraisal Rights.

(a) Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the contrary, shares of Company Share Capital that are outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time and which are held by shareholders who have indicated by way of written objection (pursuant to section 238(2) of Cayman Law) the desire to dissent with respect to such shares of Company Share Capital (collectively, the "**Dissenting Shares**") shall not be converted into or represent the right to receive the per share amount of the merger consideration described in <u>Section 1.5</u>

attributable to such Dissenting Shares. Such shareholders shall be entitled to receive payment of the appraised value of such shares of Company Share Capital held by them in accordance with Cayman Law, unless and until such shareholders fail to elect to dissent by way of a written notice (pursuant to section 238(5) of Cayman Law) or effectively withdraw or otherwise lose their appraisal rights under Cayman Law. All Dissenting Shares held by shareholders who shall have failed to elect to dissent by way of a written notice (pursuant to section 238(5) of Cayman Law) or who effectively shall have withdrawn or lost their right to appraisal of such shares of Company Share Capital under Cayman Law shall thereupon be deemed to be converted into and to have become exchangeable for, as of the Effective Time, the right to receive the per share amount of the merger consideration attributable to such Dissenting Shares upon their surrender in the manner provided in Section 1.5.

(b) The Company shall give Parent prompt written notice of any demands by dissenting shareholders received by the Company, withdrawals of such demands and any other instruments served on the Company and any material correspondence received by the Company in connection with such demands or in connection with Section 238 of Cayman Law, and the Company shall have the right to direct all negotiations and proceedings with respect to such demands (including settlement offers). In the event that any written objections are served by the dissenting shareholders to the Company pursuant to Section 238(2) of Cayman Law, the Company shall serve written notice of the authorization of the Merger (in form and substance reasonably acceptable to Parent) to such dissenting shareholders pursuant to Section 238(4) of Cayman Law within twenty (20) days of the approval of the Merger by the shareholders of the Company. Except with the prior written consent of Parent (such consent not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed), the Company shall not make any payment with respect to, or offer to settle or settle, any such demands, or agree to do any of the foregoing.

Section 1.9 <u>Further Action</u>. If, at any time after the Effective Time, any further action is determined by the Surviving Corporation to be necessary or desirable to carry out the purposes of this Agreement or to vest the Surviving Corporation with full right, title and possession of and to all rights and property of the Company, then the officers and directors of each of the Surviving Corporation and Parent shall be fully authorized, and shall use their commercially reasonable efforts (in the name of the Company, in the name of Merger Sub and otherwise) to take such action.

Section 1.10 <u>Tax Consequences</u>. For U.S. federal income tax purposes, the Merger is intended to qualify as a "reorganization" within the meaning of Section 368(a) of the Code and the Treasury Regulations promulgated thereunder. The Parties adopt this Agreement as a "plan of reorganization" within the meaning of Treasury Regulations Sections 1.368-2(g) and 1.368-3(a).

#### Section 1.11 Determination of Net Cash.

(a) Not less than ten days prior to the Closing (the "**Determination Date**"), Parent will deliver to the Company a schedule (the "**Net Cash Schedule**") setting forth, in reasonable detail, Parent's good faith, estimated calculation of Net Cash (as determined in accordance with the definition of Net Cash) (the "**Net Cash Calculation**" and the date of delivery of such schedule, the "**Delivery Date**") as of the projected Closing Date, prepared and certified by the Vice President-Finance of Parent. If the Closing does not occur within 15 days from the Delivery Date, then an updated Net Cash Schedule shall be delivered to the Company in accordance with this <u>Section 1.11</u>. Parent shall make available to the Company, as reasonably requested by the Company, the work papers and back-up materials used or useful in preparing the Net Cash Schedule.

- (b) Within five days after the Delivery Date (the last day of such period, the "**Response Date**"), the Company shall have the right to dispute any part of the Net Cash Schedule by delivering a written notice to that effect to Parent (a "**Dispute Notice**"). Any Dispute Notice shall identify in reasonable detail the nature and amounts of any proposed revisions to the Net Cash Calculation and will be accompanied by reasonably detailed materials supporting the basis for such proposed revisions.
- (c) If, on or prior to the Response Date, (i) the Company notifies Parent in writing that it has no objections to the Net Cash Calculation set forth in the Net Cash Schedule or (ii) the Company fails to deliver a Dispute Notice as provided in Section 1.11(b), then the Net Cash Calculation as set forth in the Net Cash Schedule shall be deemed to have been finally determined for purposes of this Agreement and to represent the Net Cash at the Determination Date for purposes of this Agreement.
- (d) If the Company delivers a Dispute Notice on or prior to the Response Date, then Representatives of Parent and the Company shall promptly meet and attempt in good faith to resolve the disputed item(s) and negotiate an agreed-upon determination of Net Cash, which agreed upon Net Cash amount shall be deemed to have been finally determined for purposes of this Agreement and to represent the Net Cash at the Determination Date for purposes of this Agreement.
- (e) If Representatives of Parent and the Company are unable to negotiate an agreed-upon determination of the Net Cash or any component thereof pursuant to Section 1.11(d) within two Business Days after delivery of the Dispute Notice (or such other period as Parent and the Company may mutually agree upon), then any remaining disagreements as to the calculation of Net Cash shall be referred to an independent auditor jointly selected by Parent and the Company. If the parties are unable to select an independent auditor within five days, then either Parent or Company may thereafter request that the Boston, Massachusetts Office of the American Arbitration Association ("AAA") make such selection (either the independent auditor jointly selected by both parties or such independent auditor selected by the AAA, the "Accounting Firm"). The parties shall promptly deliver to the Accounting Firm the work papers and back-up materials used in preparing the Net Cash Schedule and all other items reasonably requested by the Accounting Firm in connection with resolving the disputed items, and shall use commercially reasonable efforts to cause the Accounting Firm to make its determination as promptly as practicable, but in any event, within fifteen days of accepting its selection. The Company and Parent will provide the Accounting Firm a statement of its position as to the amount for each disputed item within five Business Days of the selection of the Accounting Firm. The determination of the Accounting Firm shall be limited to the disagreements submitted to the Accounting Firm. The determination of the amount of Net Cash made by the Accounting Firm shall be made in writing delivered to each of Parent and the Company, shall be final and binding on Parent and the Company (absent manifest error) and shall be deemed to have been finally determined for purposes of this Agreement and to represent the Net Cash at the Determination Date for purposes of this Agreement, and the applicable Exchange Ratio. If at any time Parent and the Company resolve the disputed items, then, notwithstanding the preceding provisions of this Section 1.11(e), the Accounting Firm's involvement promptly will be discontinued and the Net Cash Calculation will be revised, if necessary, to reflect such resolution and thereupon will be final and binding for all purposes under this Agreement, except in the case of intentional or willful misrepresentation or manifest error. The costs and expenses

of the Accounting Firm shall be borne equally by Parent and the Company, and, notwithstanding the foregoing, such portion of the costs and expenses of the Accounting Firm borne by Parent and any fees, costs or expenses incurred by the Parent following the Determination Date in connection with the procedures set forth in this Section 1.11(e) shall be deducted from the final determination of the amount of Net Cash.

# ARTICLE II

#### REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE COMPANY

The Company represents and warrants, as of the date of this Agreement and the Closing Date, to Parent and Merger Sub as follows, except as set forth in the written disclosure schedule delivered by the Company to Parent (the "Company Disclosure Schedule"). The Company Disclosure Schedule shall be arranged in parts and subparts corresponding to the numbered and lettered sections and subsections contained in this <u>Article II</u>. The disclosures in any part or subpart of the Company Disclosure Schedule shall qualify other sections and subsections in this <u>Article II</u> to the extent it is reasonably clear from a reading of the disclosure that such disclosure is applicable to such other sections and subsections. The inclusion of any information in the Company Disclosure Schedule (or any update thereto) shall not be deemed to be an admission or acknowledgment, in and of itself, that such information is required by the terms hereof to be disclosed, is material, has resulted in or would reasonably be expected to result in a Company Material Adverse Effect, or is outside the Ordinary Course of Business.

# Section 2.1 Subsidiaries; Due Organization; Etc.

- (a) The Company has no Subsidiaries, except for the Entities identified in Part 2.1(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule; and neither the Company nor any of the other Entities identified in Part 2.1(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule owns any capital stock or share capital of, or any equity interest of any nature in, any other Entity, other than the Entities identified in Part 2.1(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule. The Company has not agreed nor is obligated to make, nor is bound by any Contract under which it may become obligated to make, any future investment in or capital contribution to any other Entity. The Company has not, at any time, been a general partner of, or has otherwise been liable for any of the debts or other obligations of, any general partnership, limited partnership or other Entity.
- (b) The Company and each Subsidiary of the Company is a company or corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good standing (to the extent such concepts are applicable) under the laws of the jurisdiction of its incorporation and has all necessary power and authority to own, lease, license and use its properties and assets and to conduct its business in the manner in which its business is currently being conducted.
- (c) The Company and each Subsidiary of the Company is qualified to do business as a foreign company or corporation, and is in good standing, under the laws of all jurisdictions where the nature of its business requires such qualification other than in jurisdictions where the failure to be so qualified individually or in the aggregate has not had and would not reasonably be expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect.

Section 2.2 <u>Governing Documents; Charters and Codes of Conduct</u>. The Company has delivered to Parent accurate and complete copies of the memorandum and articles of association, charter, bylaws and other organizational documents, including all currently effective amendments thereto, for the Company and each of its Subsidiaries. Part 2.2 of the Company

Disclosure Schedule lists, and the Company has delivered to Parent accurate and complete copies of: (a) the charters of all committees of the Company's and its Subsidiaries' boards of directors; and (b) any code of conduct or similar policy adopted by the Company, Subsidiaries of the Company, or by their respective boards of directors, or any committees of their respective boards of directors. Neither the Company nor any Subsidiary of the Company has taken any action in breach or violation of any of the provisions of its memorandum and articles of association, charters, bylaws or other organizational documents nor is in breach or violation of any of the material provisions of their respective memorandum and articles of association, charters, bylaws or other organizational documents, except as has not had, and would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Company Material Adverse Effect.

# Section 2.3 Capitalization, Etc.

(a) The authorized share capital of the Company is \$50,000, consisting of (i) 4,000,000 Company Ordinary Shares, par value \$0.01 per share, of which 89,199 shares are issued and outstanding as of the date of this Agreement and (ii) 1,000,000 Company Preferred Shares, par value \$0.01 per share, of which 255,647 have been issued and are outstanding as of the date of this Agreement. Part 2.3(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule sets forth the capitalization of the Company as of the date of this Agreement, including the number of shares of the following: (i) issued and outstanding Company Ordinary Shares; (ii) unvested Company Ordinary Shares and (iii) each series of Company Preferred Shares. The Company does not hold any shares of its share capital as treasury shares. All of the outstanding Company Ordinary Shares and Company Preferred Shares have been duly authorized and validly issued, and are fully paid and non-assessable. None of the outstanding Company Ordinary Shares or Company Preferred Shares is entitled or subject to any preemptive right, right of participation, right of maintenance or any similar right that has not been waived by the relevant shareholder(s) thereof and none of the outstanding Company Ordinary Shares or Company Preferred Shares is subject to any right of first refusal in favor of the Company. Except as contemplated herein, there is no Company Contract relating to the voting or registration of, or restricting any Person from purchasing, selling, pledging or otherwise disposing of (or granting any option or similar right with respect to), any Company Ordinary Shares or Company Preferred Shares. The Company is not under any obligation, nor is it bound by any Contract pursuant to which it may become obligated, to repurchase, redeem or otherwise acquire any outstanding Company Ordinary Shares or other securities. Part 2.3(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule accurately and completely describes all repurchase rights held by the Company with respect to Company Ordinary Shares (including shares issued pursuant to the exercise of share options) and Company Preferred Shares, and specifies, with respect to such repurchase rights, each holder of Company Ordinary Shares or Company Preferred Shares, the date of purchase of such Company Ordinary Shares or Company Preferred Shares, the number of Company Ordinary Shares or Company Preferred Shares subject to such repurchase rights, the purchase price paid by such holder, the vesting schedule under which such repurchase rights lapse, and whether the holder of such Company Ordinary Shares or Company Preferred Shares filed an election under Section 83(b) of the Code with respect to such Company Ordinary Shares or Company Preferred Shares within 30 days of purchase. Each share of Company Preferred Shares is convertible into one share of Company Ordinary Shares (and shall be so converted prior to the Effective Time). The Company has never issued certificates representing any shares of Company Ordinary Shares or Company Preferred Shares and all shares of Company Share Capital are uncertificated.

- (b) Except for the Company share option plans identified in Part 2.3(b) of the Company Disclosure Schedule (the "Company Share Option Plans"), the Company does not have any share option plan or any other plan, program, agreement or arrangement providing for any equity or equity-based compensation for any Person. Part 2.3(b) of the Company Disclosure Schedule sets forth the following information with respect to each Company Option outstanding as of the date of this Agreement: (i) the name of the option holder; (ii) the number Company Ordinary Shares subject to such Company Option; (iii) the exercise price of such Company Option; (iv) the date on which such Company Option was granted; (v) the applicable vesting schedule, including the number of vested and unvested shares; (vi) the date on which such Company Option expires; and (vii) whether such Company Option is an "incentive share option" (as defined in the Code) or a non-qualified share option. The Company has made available to Parent accurate and complete copies of all stock option plans pursuant to which the Company has ever granted share options, and the forms of all share option agreements evidencing such options.
- (c) Except for the outstanding Company Options or as set forth on Part 2.3(d) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, there is no: (i) outstanding subscription, option, call, warrant or right (whether or not currently exercisable) to acquire any shares of the capital stock or share capital or other securities of the Company; (ii) outstanding security, instrument or obligation that is or may become convertible into or exchangeable for any shares of the capital stock or share capital or other securities of the Company; (iii) shareholder rights plan (or similar plan commonly referred to as a "poison pill") or Contract under which the Company is or may become obligated to sell or otherwise issue any share capital or any other securities; or (iv) condition or circumstance that may give rise to or provide a basis for the assertion of a claim by any Person to the effect that such Person is entitled to acquire or receive any shares of share capital or other securities of the Company. There are no outstanding or authorized share appreciation, phantom share, profit participation or other similar rights with respect to the Company.
- (d) All outstanding Company Ordinary Shares, Company Preferred Shares, options, warrants and other securities of the Company have been issued and granted in material compliance with (i) all applicable securities laws and other applicable Legal Requirements and (ii) all requirements set forth in applicable Contracts.

# Section 2.4 Financial Statements.

- (a) Part 2.4(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule includes true and complete copies of (i) the Company's audited consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2016, and the Company's audited statements of operations, cash flow and shareholders' equity for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 and the notes thereto and (ii) the Company's unaudited consolidated balance sheet as of June 30, 2017 (the "Company Most Recent Balance Sheet"), together with the related unaudited statements of operations, cash flow and shareholders' equity for the six-month period then ended, and any notes thereto (collectively, the "Company Financials"). The Company Financials (i) were prepared in accordance with United States general accepted accounting principles ("GAAP") applied on a consistent basis unless otherwise noted therein throughout the periods indicated and (ii) fairly present the financial condition and operating results of the Company as of the dates and for the periods indicated therein.
- (b) The Company and each Subsidiary of the Company maintains internal control over financial reporting that provides reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with GAAP.

- (c) Since the date of the Company's formation (which was on July 14, 2015), the Company has not identified (i) any significant deficiency or material weakness in the system of internal accounting controls utilized by the Company and its Subsidiaries, (ii) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves the Company's management or other employees who have a role in the preparation of financial statements or the internal accounting controls utilized by the Company and its Subsidiaries or (iii) any claim or allegation regarding any of the foregoing.
- Section 2.5 <u>Absence of Changes</u>. Since December 31, 2016, there has not been any Company Material Adverse Effect or any event or development that would, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect. After December 31, 2016 and on or before the date hereof:
- (a) there has not been any material loss, damage or destruction to, or any material interruption in the use of, any of the assets or business of the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company (whether or not covered by insurance);
- (b) neither the Company nor any Subsidiary of the Company has (i) declared, accrued, set aside or paid any dividend or made any other distribution in respect of any shares of capital stock or share capital or (ii) repurchased, redeemed or otherwise reacquired any shares of capital stock or share capital or other securities, other than from former employees, directors and consultants in accordance with agreements providing for the repurchase of shares in connection with any termination of services to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries;
- (c) neither the Company nor any Subsidiary of the Company has sold, issued or granted, or authorized the issuance of: (i) any capital stock or share capital or other security (except for Company Ordinary Shares issued upon the valid exercise of outstanding Company Options); (ii) any option, warrant or right to acquire any capital stock or share capital or any other security (except for Company Options identified in Part 2.3(b) of the Company Disclosure Schedule); or (iii) any instrument convertible into or exchangeable for any capital stock or share capital or other security except for the repurchase or reacquisition of shares pursuant to the Company's rights arising upon an individual's termination as an employee, director or consultant;
- (d) there has been no amendment to the memorandum and articles of association, charters, bylaws or other organizational documents of the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company and neither the Company nor any Subsidiary of the Company has effected or been a party to any merger, consolidation, share exchange, business combination, recapitalization, reclassification of shares, stock or share split, reverse stock or share split or similar transaction;
- (e) neither the Company nor any Subsidiary of the Company has amended or waived any of its rights under, or exercised its discretion to permit the acceleration of vesting under any provision of: (i) any Company Share Option Plan; (ii) any Company Option or any Contract evidencing or relating to any Company Option; (iii) any restricted share purchase agreement; or (iv) any other Contract evidencing or relating to any equity award (whether payable in cash or share);

- (f) neither the Company nor any Subsidiary of the Company has formed any Subsidiary or acquired any equity interest or other interest in any other Entity;
- (g) neither the Company nor any Subsidiary of the Company has: (i) lent money to any Person; (ii) incurred or guaranteed any indebtedness; (iii) issued or sold any debt securities or options, warrants, calls or other rights to acquire any debt securities; (iv) guaranteed any debt securities of others; or (v) made capital expenditures or commitments in excess of \$100,000 individually or \$250,000 in the aggregate;
- (h) neither Company nor any Subsidiary of the Company has, other than in the Ordinary Course of Business: (i) adopted, established or entered into any Company Employee Plan; (ii) caused or permitted any Company Employee Plan to be amended other than as required by law; or (iii) paid or established any bonus or any profit-sharing or similar payment to, or increased the amount of the wages, salary, commissions, benefits or other compensation or remuneration payable to, any of its directors or employees;
  - (i) neither the Company nor any Subsidiary of the Company has changed any of its accounting methods, principles or practices;
- (j) neither the Company nor any Subsidiary of the Company has changed any annual Tax accounting period, entered into any Tax allocation agreement, Tax sharing agreement or Tax indemnity agreement, other than pursuant to customary indemnifications for Taxes contained in credit or other commercial agreements no principal purpose of which relates to Taxes or Tax Returns, entered into any closing agreement with respect to any Tax, settled or compromised any claim, audit or assessment in respect of material Taxes, applied for or entered into any ruling from any Tax authority with respect to Taxes, or consented to any extension or waiver of the statute of limitations period applicable to any material Tax claim or assessment;
  - (k) neither the Company nor any Subsidiary of the Company has commenced or settled any Legal Proceeding;
  - (l) neither the Company nor any Subsidiary of the Company has entered into any material transaction outside the Ordinary Course of Business;
- (m) neither the Company nor any Subsidiary of the Company has acquired any material assets nor sold, leased or otherwise irrevocably disposed of any of its material assets or properties, nor has any Encumbrance been granted with respect to such assets or properties, except for Encumbrances of immaterial assets in the Ordinary Course of Business;
  - (n) there has been no entry into, amendment or termination of any Company Material Contract; and
- (o) neither the Company nor any Subsidiary of the Company has negotiated, agreed or committed to take any of the actions referred to in clauses "(b)" through "(m)" above (other than negotiations between the Parties to enter into this Agreement).

Section 2.6 <u>Title to Assets</u>. The Company and each Subsidiary of the Company owns, and has good and valid title to, or, in the case of leased properties and assets, valid leasehold interests in, all tangible properties or assets and equipment used or held for use in its business or operations or purported to be owned by it. All of said assets are owned by the

Company or a Subsidiary of the Company free and clear of any Encumbrances, except for: (a) any lien for current Taxes not yet due and payable or for Taxes that are being contested in good faith and for which adequate reserves have been made on the Company's audited consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2016; (b) minor liens that have arisen in the Ordinary Course of Business and that do not (individually or in the aggregate) materially detract from the value of the assets subject thereto or materially impair the operations of the Company and its Subsidiaries taken as a whole; and (c) liens described in Part 2.6 of the Company Disclosure Schedule.

Section 2.7 <u>Real Property; Leasehold</u>. Neither the Company nor any Subsidiary of the Company owns any real property or any interest in real property, except for the leaseholds created under the real property leases identified in Part 2.7 of the Company Disclosure Schedule (a) which are in full force and effect, subject to: (i) laws of general application relating to bankruptcy, insolvency and the relief of debtors; and (ii) rules of law governing specific performance, injunctive relief and other equitable remedies, and (b) in respect of which the Company or such applicable Subsidiary is not in default.

# Section 2.8 Intellectual Property.

- (a) To the Company's Knowledge, the Company and its Subsidiaries own, license, sublicense or otherwise possess legally enforceable rights to use all material Intellectual Property used in the business of the Company and its Subsidiaries as currently conducted (in each case excluding generally commercially available, off-the-shelf software programs).
- (b) The execution and delivery of this Agreement by the Company and the Closing will not result in the breach of or loss of rights under, or create on behalf of any third party the right to terminate or modify, (i) any license, sublicense or other agreement relating to any Intellectual Property owned by and material to the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company (the "Company Intellectual Property") that conveys an exclusive license or is otherwise material to the business of the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, as currently conducted or (ii) any license, sublicense or other agreement to which the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company is authorized to use any third party's Intellectual Property on an exclusive basis or that is otherwise material to the business of the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, as currently conducted, excluding generally commercially available, off-the-shelf software programs (the "Company Third Party Intellectual Property"). The execution and delivery of this Agreement by the Company and the Closing will not, as a result of any Company Contract, result in Parent, the Company or its Subsidiaries granting to any third party any rights or licenses to any Intellectual Property or the release or disclosure of any trade secrets that would not have been granted or released absent such execution or consummation.
- (c) Part 2.8(c)(i) of the Company Disclosure Schedule sets forth a complete and accurate list of all material U.S. and foreign issued patents and pending patent applications and registered trademarks, service marks, copyrights and domain names owned or co-owned by the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company. Part 2.8(c)(ii) of the Company Disclosure Schedule sets forth a complete and accurate list of all material U.S. and foreign issued patents and pending patent applications and registered trademarks, service marks, copyrights and domain names material to the business of the Company and its Subsidiaries as currently conducted, licensed to the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company. Subject to the limitations therein, Parts 2.9(j) and (k) of the Company Disclosure Schedule set forth complete and accurate lists of licenses in respect of Company Third Party Intellectual Property and Company Intellectual Property, respectively.

- (d) All items of Intellectual Property set forth in Part 2.8(c)(i) of the Company Disclosure Schedule are subsisting and have not expired or been cancelled, all maintenance and renewal fees necessary to preserve such rights have been paid, and to the Company's Knowledge, all such rights are valid and enforceable. To the Company's Knowledge all items of Intellectual Property set forth in Part 2.8(c)(ii) of the Company Disclosure Schedule are subsisting and have not expired or been cancelled, all maintenance and renewal fees necessary to preserve such rights have been paid, and all such rights are valid and enforceable. To the Company's Knowledge, the Company and its Subsidiaries have implemented commercially reasonable measures to maintain the confidentiality of the Company Intellectual Property of a nature that the Company intends to keep confidential. To the Company's Knowledge, no third party is infringing, violating or misappropriating any of the Company Intellectual Property, except for infringements, violations or misappropriations that, individually or in the aggregate, have not had, and would not be reasonably likely to have, a Company Material Adverse Effect.
- (e) To the Company's Knowledge, the conduct of the business of the Company and its Subsidiaries as currently conducted does not infringe, violate, conflict with or constitute a misappropriation of any Intellectual Property of any third party. Since the date of the Company's formation, neither the Company nor any Subsidiary of the Company has received any written claim or notice alleging any such infringement, violation or misappropriation.
- (f) All former and current employees, consultants and contractors of the Company or its Subsidiaries who contribute or have contributed to the creation of any Company Intellectual Property have executed written instruments that assign to the Company or the relevant Subsidiary all right, title and interest in and to any such Company Intellectual Property, subject to any retained rights therein or encumbrances thereon set forth in any applicable Company Contracts under which such Company Intellectual Property was created.
- (g) The Company's and each of its Subsidiaries' collection, storage, use and dissemination of personally identifiable information is and since its date of formation, has been in compliance in all material respects with all applicable Legal Requirements, including laws relating to privacy, data security and data protection, and all applicable privacy policies and terms of use or other contractual obligations applicable thereto. Since the date of the Company's formation, there have been no written allegations or claims received by the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company from any Governmental Body or any person of a breach of any such laws, policies or obligations. To the Company's Knowledge, since the date of the Company's formation, there have been no material losses or thefts of any such information.
- Section 2.9 <u>Agreements, Contracts and Commitments</u>. Part 2.9 of the Company Disclosure Schedule identifies, except for Company Contracts set forth in Part 2.13 of the Company Disclosure Schedule:
- (a) each Company Contract relating to the retention of, or the performance of services by, any individual consultant or independent contractor, not terminable by the Company or its Subsidiaries on 90 or fewer days' notice without liability;

- (b) each Company Contract relating to any agreement of indemnification or guaranty not entered into in the Ordinary Course of Business other than indemnification agreements between the Company, its Subsidiaries or any of its or their officers or directors;
- (c) each Company Contract containing (i) any covenant limiting the freedom of the Company, its Subsidiaries or the Surviving Corporation to engage in any line of business or compete with any Person or (ii) any exclusivity provisions binding on the Company or its applicable Subsidiary;
- (d) each Company Contract relating to capital expenditures and involving obligations by the Company or its Subsidiaries after the date of this Agreement in excess of \$100,000 and not cancelable without penalty;
  - (e) each Company Contract relating to the disposition or acquisition of material assets or any ownership interest in any Entity;
- (f) each Company Contract relating to the borrowing of money or extension of credit in excess of \$150,000 or creating any material Encumbrances with respect to any assets of the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company or any loans or debt obligations with officers or directors of the Company;
- (g) each Company Contract involving payment or receipt by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries in excess of \$150,000 in the aggregate relating to (i) any distribution agreement or (ii) any agreement involving provision of services or products with respect to any pre-clinical or clinical development activities of the Company;
- (h) each Company Contract involving (i) any dealer, distributor, joint marketing, alliance, joint venture, cooperation, partnership, development or other agreement under which the Company or its Subsidiaries has continuing obligations to develop or market any product, technology or service, or any agreement pursuant to which the Company or its Subsidiaries has continuing obligations to develop any Intellectual Property that will not be owned, in whole or in part, by the Company or such Subsidiary of the Company or (ii) any Contract to license any third party to manufacture or produce any Company product, service or technology or any Contract to sell or commercialize any Company products or service except agreements with sales representatives in the Ordinary Course of Business;
- (i) each Company Contract with any Person, including without limitation any financial advisor, broker, finder, investment banker or other Person, providing advisory services to the Company in connection with the Contemplated Transactions;
- (j) each Company Contract under which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is a licensee of or is otherwise granted by a third party any rights to use any Company Third Party Intellectual Property (other than (i) non-exclusive licenses of commercially available software with an annual license fee of less than \$15,000 for each such agreement and (ii) agreements in which grants of rights to Intellectual Property are incidental and not material to such agreements);
- (k) each Company Contract under which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is a licensor or otherwise grants to a third party any rights to use any Company Intellectual Property (other than agreements in which grants of rights to Intellectual Property are incidental and not material to such agreements); or

(l) any other Company Contract (i) which involves payment or receipt by the Company or its Subsidiaries under any such Contract of \$150,000 or more in the aggregate or obligations after the date of this Agreement in excess of \$150,000 in the aggregate or (ii) that is material to the business or operations of the Company and its Subsidiaries.

The Company has delivered to Parent accurate and complete (except for applicable redactions thereto) copies of all Company Material Contracts (as defined below), including all amendments thereto. There are no Company Material Contracts that are not in written form. Neither the Company nor any Subsidiary of the Company has, nor to the Company's Knowledge, has any other party to a Company Material Contract, breached, violated or defaulted under, or received notice that it has breached, violated or defaulted under, any of the terms or conditions of any of the Contracts to which the Company or its Subsidiaries is a party or by which it is bound of the type described in <a href="clauses (a)">clauses (a)</a> through (l) above or any Company Contract listed in Part 2.13 of the Company Disclosure Schedule (any such Contract, a "Company Material Contract") in such manner as would permit any other party to cancel or terminate any such Company Material Contract, or would permit any other party to seek damages, in each case which has had or would reasonably be expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect. As to the Company and its Subsidiaries, as of the date of this Agreement, each Company Material Contract is valid, binding, enforceable and in full force and effect, subject to: (i) laws of general application relating to bankruptcy, insolvency and the relief of debtors; and (ii) rules of law governing specific performance, injunctive relief and other equitable remedies. The Company has not received any written notice of termination or cancellation under any Company Material Contract.

Section 2.10 <u>Liabilities</u>. Neither the Company nor any Subsidiary of the Company has any liability, indebtedness, obligation, expense, claim, deficiency, guaranty or endorsement of any kind, whether accrued, absolute, contingent, matured, unmatured or other (whether or not required to be reflected in the financial statements in accordance with GAAP) (each a "**Liability**"), individually or in the aggregate, except for: (a) Liabilities identified as such in the "liabilities" column of the Company Most Recent Balance Sheet; (b) normal and recurring current Liabilities that have been incurred by the Company or its Subsidiaries since the date of the Company Most Recent Balance Sheet in the Ordinary Course of Business and which are not individually or in the aggregate material; (c) Liabilities for performance of obligations of the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company under Contracts (other than for breach thereof); and (d) Liabilities described in Part 2.10 of the Company Disclosure Schedule.

# Section 2.11 Compliance; Permits; Restrictions.

- (a) The Company and each Subsidiary of the Company is and, since the date of the Company's formation, has been in compliance with all Legal Requirements applicable to the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company, and, since the date of the Company's formation, has not received any written notice alleging any violation with respect to any Legal Requirements, except as, individually or in the aggregate, has not had, and would not be reasonably likely to have, a Company Material Adverse Effect.
- (b) Each of the current product candidates of the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company (the "Company Products") is being, and at all times has been, developed, tested, manufactured, distributed, labeled and stored, as applicable, in compliance in all material respects with the Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act, the Public Health Service Act, and applicable regulations enforced by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (the "FDA"), including those requirements relating to current good manufacturing practices, good laboratory practices and good clinical practices, as applicable.

- (c) Neither the Company, any Subsidiary of the Company, nor, to the Company's Knowledge, any of their respective directors, officers, employees, agents or distributors has, at any time since the date of the Company's formation, violated in any material respect any provision of the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977 or any comparable foreign law relating to anti-bribery or corruption matters. Since the date of the Company's formation, neither the Company nor any Subsidiary of the Company nor, to the Company's Knowledge, any of their respective directors, officers, employees, agents or distributors has paid or given, offered or promised to pay or give, or authorized or ratified the payment or giving, directly or indirectly, of any monies or anything of value to any national, provincial, municipal or other government official or employee or any political party or agent or candidate for political office or Governmental Body for the direct or indirect purpose of influencing any act or decision of such Person or of the Governmental Body to obtain or retain business, or direct business to any Person or to secure any other improper benefit or advantage that has or would be reasonably likely to result in a material violation of applicable Legal Requirements.
- (d) To the Company's Knowledge, the clinical trials conducted by or on behalf of the Company or its Subsidiaries were, and if still pending, are, being conducted in all material respects in accordance with all applicable clinical protocols, informed consents and applicable requirements of the FDA and equivalent regulatory authorities outside of the United States, including the applicable requirements of good clinical practice and all applicable requirements contained in the Public Health Service Act (including section 402(j)), the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, and applicable FDA regulations set forth at 21 C.F.R. Parts 50 (Protection of Human Subjects), 54 (Financial Disclosure by Clinical Investigators), 56 (Institutional Review Boards) and 312 (Investigational New Drug Application). Neither the Company, its Subsidiaries, nor, to the Company's Knowledge, any entity conducting clinical trials on behalf of the Company or its Subsidiaries, has used any clinical investigator who has been disqualified or who has been the subject of disqualification proceedings pursuant to 21 C.F.R. §314.70 or similar regulations.
- (e) Neither the Company nor any Subsidiary of the Company is subject to any investigation that is pending and of which the Company has been notified in writing or, to the Company's Knowledge, which has been threatened, in each case by (i) the FDA, (ii) the Department of Health and Human Services Office of Inspector General or Department of Justice pursuant to the Federal Healthcare Program Anti-Kickback Statute (42 U.S.C. Section 1320a-7b(b)) or the Federal False Claims Act (31 U.S.C. Section 3729), or (iii) any regulatory authority outside of the U.S. pursuant to any equivalent statute of such jurisdiction.
- (f) Neither the Company, any Subsidiary of the Company, nor, to the Company's Knowledge, any employee of the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company, has been convicted of any crime for which debarment is mandated by 21 U.S.C. § 335a(a) or any similar Legal Requirements or authorized by 21 U.S.C. § 335a(b) or any similar Legal Requirements, nor has the Company, any Subsidiary of the Company or, to the Company's Knowledge, any employee of the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company, been convicted of any crime for which exclusion from participation in Medicare or state health care programs is mandated or authorized under 42 U.S.C. § 1320a-7, 42 C.F.R. part 1001 or any similar Legal Requirements.

# Section 2.12 Tax Matters.

- (a) The Company and each of its Subsidiaries (i) has filed all material Tax Returns required to have been filed by or with respect to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, and all such Tax Returns are true, correct and complete in all material respects and were prepared in substantial compliance with all applicable Legal Requirements; provided, however, that regardless of what may be reported on any such Tax Returns, the Company makes no representation regarding (A) the amount of any net operating losses, Tax credit, or charitable contribution carryovers that are available to it or have been reported by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries for any federal, state or other Tax purposes, or (B) any limitation on use by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries of any other applicable limitations under any Tax laws, (ii) has timely paid all material Taxes required to have been paid, whether or not shown as due on such Tax Returns, (iii) has adequate accruals and reserves, in accordance with GAAP, on the Company's audited consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2016, for all material Taxes payable by the Company and its Subsidiaries for all taxable periods and portions thereof through the date of such financial statements and (iv) has not received notice of any proposed or assessed deficiencies for any Tax from any taxing authority, against the Company or any of its Subsidiaries. Since December 31, 2016, neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has incurred any liability for Taxes other than in the Ordinary Course of Business.
- (b) Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is the subject of any currently ongoing Tax audit or other proceeding with respect to Taxes nor has any Tax audit or other proceeding with respect to Taxes been proposed against any of them in writing. Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has waived any statute of limitations in respect of Taxes or agreed to any extension of time with respect to a Tax assessment or deficiency (other than pursuant to extensions of time to file Tax Returns obtained in the Ordinary Course of Business) in either case that is still outstanding.
- (c) The Company and each of its Subsidiaries has timely withheld and paid all material Taxes required to have been withheld and paid in connection with amounts paid or owing to any employee, independent contractor, creditor, shareholder or other third party.
- (d) There are no Encumbrances for Taxes (other than Taxes not yet due and payable or Taxes that are being contested in good faith and for which adequate reserves have been made on the Company's audited consolidated balance sheet, in accordance with GAAP) on any of the assets of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries.
- (e) Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is a party to or bound by any written Tax allocation, indemnification (including indemnification of Taxes with respect to service-providers) or sharing agreement (other than an agreement with the Company or any of its Subsidiaries and other than customary indemnifications for Taxes contained in credit or other commercial agreements no principal purpose of which relates to Taxes or Tax Returns). Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is or has been a member of an affiliated group (other than a group the common parent of which is the Company) filing a consolidated U.S. federal income Tax Return. Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is liable under Treasury Regulations Section 1.1502-6 (or any similar provision of the Tax laws of any state, local or foreign jurisdiction), or as a transferee or successor, by contract, or otherwise, for any Tax of any Person (other than Taxes of the Company and its Subsidiaries, and other than pursuant to customary indemnifications for Taxes contained in credit or other commercial agreements no principal purpose of which relates to Taxes or Tax Returns).

- (f) The Company has delivered or made available to Parent complete and accurate copies of all U.S. federal income Tax and all other material Tax Returns of the Company and each of its Subsidiaries (and predecessors of each) for all taxable years remaining open under the applicable statute of limitations, and complete and accurate copies of all examination reports and statements of deficiencies assessed against or agreed to by the Company and each of its Subsidiaries (and predecessors of each), with respect to U.S. federal income Tax and all other material Taxes.
- (g) Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries was a "distributing corporation" or "controlled corporation" in a transaction intended to qualify under Section 355 of the Code within the past two years or otherwise as part of a "plan" or "series of related transactions" (within the meaning of Section 355(e) of the Code) that includes the Merger.
- (h) Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries will be required to include any item of income in, or exclude any item of deduction from, taxable income for a taxable period ending after the Closing Date of as a result of any (i) change in method of accounting made prior to the Closing for a taxable period ending on or prior to the Closing Date, including any adjustment pursuant to Section 481 of the Code (or any analogous provision of state, local or foreign law), (ii) use of an improper method of accounting for a taxable period ending on or before the Closing Date, (iii) "closing agreement" as described in Section 7121 of the Code (or any analogous provision of state, local or foreign law) executed on or prior to the Closing Date, (iv) installment sale or open transaction disposition made on or prior to the Closing Date, (v) prepaid amount received on or prior to the Closing Date outside of the Ordinary Course of Business or (vi) election by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries under Section 108(i) of the Code.
- (i) Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has entered into any transaction identified as a "listed transaction" within the meaning of Sections 1.6011-4(b)(2) or 301.6111-2(b)(2) of the Treasury Regulations or any similar provision of state, local, or foreign law.
- (j) Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has taken or agreed to take any action or knows of any fact or circumstance that could reasonably be expected to prevent or impede the Merger from qualifying as a "reorganization" within the meaning of Section 368(a) of the Code.
- (k) Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is a party to any gain recognition agreement under Section 367 of the Code (and any analogous provision of state, local or foreign law) that is currently in effect.
- (l) Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has ever had any permanent establishment or other fixed place of business in, or been a resident of, any country other than in its country of formation. The Company and each of its Subsidiaries are and have at all times been resident for Tax purposes in their country of incorporation or formation and are not and have not at any time been treated as resident in any other country for any Tax purpose (including any arrangement for the avoidance of double Taxation).
- (m) The Company and each of its Subsidiaries are in compliance in all material respects with all applicable transfer pricing laws and regulations, including the execution and maintenance of contemporaneous documentation substantiating the transfer pricing practices and methodology of the Company and its Subsidiaries.

- (n) No written notice of a claim or pending investigation has ever been received by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries from any Taxing authority in any jurisdiction where either the Company or any of its Subsidiaries does not file Tax Returns or pay Taxes asserting that the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is or may be subject to Taxes in that jurisdiction or may have a duty to file Tax Returns in that jurisdiction.
- (o) The Company and each of its Subsidiaries are in compliance with the requirements for any applicable Tax holidays or incentives and none of the Tax holidays or incentives will be jeopardized by the transactions pursuant to this Agreement.
- (p) The Company and each of its Subsidiaries are treated as a "controlled foreign corporation" within the meaning of Section 957(a) of the Code. Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries (i) is a "surrogate foreign corporation" within the meaning of Section 7874(a)(2)(B) of the Code, (ii) is treated as a U.S. corporation under Section 7874(b) of the Code, and (iii) has elected under Code Section 897(i) to be treated as a domestic corporation.

# Section 2.13 Employee and Labor Matters; Benefit Plans.

- (a) The employment of each of the Company and Company Subsidiary employees is terminable by the Company or the applicable Subsidiary of the Company at will and, except as set forth in Part 2.13(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, no employees are subject to any contract with the Company, except with respect to noncompetition, confidentiality and assignment of inventions. The Company has made available to Parent accurate and complete copies of all employee manuals and handbooks, disclosure materials, policy statements and other materials relating to the employment of Company Associates to the extent currently effective and material.
- (b) Part 2.13(b) of the Company Disclosure Schedule contains a complete and accurate list of all of the current employees of the Company describing for each employee the position, whether classified as exempt or non-exempt for wage and hour purposes, date of hire, business location, annual base salary, whether paid on a salary, hourly or commission basis and the actual rates of compensation, bonus potential, status (i.e. active or inactive and if inactive the type of leave and estimated duration), and the total amount of bonus, severance and other amounts to be paid to such employee at the Closing or otherwise in connection with the transactions contemplated herein. Part 2.13(b) of the Company Disclosure Schedule contains a complete and accurate list of all the current material independent contractors, consultants, temporary employees, leased employees or other agents employed or used with respect to the operation of the business of the Company and classified by the Company as other than employees or compensated other than through wages paid by the Company through its payroll department and reported on a form W-4 ("Contingent Workers"), showing for each Contingent Worker such individual's role in the business and fee or compensation arrangements.
- (c) To the Knowledge of the Company, no officer or Key Employee of the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company has threatened or expressed in writing any intention to terminate his or her employment.
- (d) Neither the Company nor any Subsidiary of the Company is a party to, bound by, nor has a duty to bargain under, any collective bargaining agreement or other Contract with a labor organization representing any of its employees, and there are no labor organizations representing, purporting to represent or, to the Knowledge of the Company, seeking to represent any employees of the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company.

- (e) No labor dispute, walk out, strike, hand billing, picketing of any nature, or work stoppage or any other concerted interference with normal operations involving the employees of the Company or any Subsidiary has occurred, is in progress or, to the Knowledge of the Company, has been threatened in the three (3) years prior to the date hereof.
- (f) Part 2.13(f) of the Company Disclosure Schedule lists all material written (and describes all material non-written) employee benefit plans (as defined in Section 3(3) of ERISA, whether or not subject to ERISA) and all bonus, equity-based, incentive, deferred compensation, retention, pension, retirement or supplemental retirement, profit sharing, severance, change in control, golden parachute, vacation, cafeteria, dependent care, medical care, employee assistance program, education or tuition assistance programs and other similar compensation, fringe or employee benefit plans, programs or arrangements, including any employment or executive compensation or severance agreements, with or for the benefit of any present or former employee or director of the Company or any subsidiary which is maintained by, administered or contributed to by, or required to be contributed to by, the Company, or any subsidiary, or under which the Company or any ERISA Affiliate has any current or contingent liability (each, a "Company Employee Plan").
- (g) Each Company Employee Plan that is intended to be qualified under Section 401(a) of the Code has received a favorable determination or approval letter from the Internal Revenue Service with respect to such qualified status, or may rely on an opinion letter issued by the Internal Revenue Service with respect to a prototype plan adopted in accordance with the requirements for such reliance. To the Knowledge of the Company, nothing has occurred that would reasonably be expected to adversely affect the qualified status of any such Company Employee Plan or the exempt status of any related trust.
- (h) Each Company Employee Plan has been maintained in compliance, in all material respects, with its terms and, both as to form and operation, with all applicable Legal Requirements, including without limitation, the Code and ERISA.
- (i) No Company Employee Plan nor any employee benefit plan maintained, contributed to, or required to be contributed to by any ERISA Affiliate or subsidiary of the Company (i) is subject to Title IV or Section 302 of ERISA or Section 412 of the Code, and neither the Company nor any Subsidiary of the Company or ERISA Affiliate has ever maintained, contributed to or partially or completely withdrawn from, or incurred any obligation or liability that has not been paid in full with respect to, any such plan or (ii) is a Multiemployer Plan, and neither the Company nor any Subsidiary of the Company or ERISA Affiliate has ever contributed to or had an obligation to contribute, or incurred any liability with to any Multiemployer Plan. No Company Employee Plan is a Multiple Employer Plan.
- (j) No Company Employee Plan provides for medical or any other non-pension benefits beyond termination of service or retirement, other than pursuant to COBRA or an analogous state law requirement and the Company has never promised to provide such post-termination benefits.
- (k) With respect to Company Options granted pursuant to any Company Share Option Plans, (i) each grant of a Company Option was duly authorized no later than the date on which the grant of such Company Option was by its terms to be effective (the "Grant

**Date**") by all necessary corporate action, including, as applicable, approval by the board of directors of the Company (or a duly constituted and authorized committee thereof) and any required shareholder approval by the necessary number of votes or written consents, and the award agreement governing such grant (if any) was duly executed and delivered by each party thereto, (ii) each Company Option grant was made in accordance with the terms of any Company Share Option Plans and all other applicable Legal Requirements, (iii) the per share exercise price of each Company Option was equal to or greater than the fair market value of a Company Ordinary Shares on the applicable Grant Date determined in a manner consistent with Section 409A of the Code, and (iv) each such Company Option grant was properly accounted for in accordance with GAAP in the financial statements (including the related notes) of the Company.

- (l) Except as set forth on Part 2.13(l) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, neither the negotiation or execution of this Agreement nor the consummation of the Contemplated Transactions will, either alone or in combination with another event, (i) entitle any current or former employee or officer of the Company or any ERISA Affiliate to severance pay, unemployment compensation or any other payment, or (ii) accelerate the time of payment or vesting, or increase the amount of compensation due to any such employee or officer. Neither the Company nor any Subsidiary of the Company is a party to any Contract that has resulted or would reasonably be expected to result, separately or in the aggregate, in the payment of (i) any "excess parachute payment" within the meaning of Section 280G of the Code and (ii) any amount the deduction for which would be disallowed under Section 162(m) of the Code.
- (m) To the Knowledge of the Company, no payment pursuant to any Company Employee Plan or other arrangement to any "service provider" (as such term is defined in Section 409A of the Code and the United States Treasury Regulations and IRS guidance thereunder) to the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company, including the grant, vesting or exercise of any share option, would subject any Person to Tax pursuant to Section 409A(1) of the Code, whether pursuant to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or otherwise.
- (n) The Company and each Subsidiary of the Company is in material compliance with all applicable foreign, federal, state and local laws, rules and regulations respecting employment, employment practices, terms and conditions of employment, worker classification, Tax withholding, prohibited discrimination, equal employment, fair employment practices, meal and rest periods, immigration status, employee safety and health, wages (including overtime wages), compensation, and hours of work, and in each case in all material respects, with respect to employees: (i) has withheld and reported all amounts required by law or by agreement to be withheld and reported with respect to wages, salaries and other payments to employees; (ii) is not liable for any arrears of wages, severance pay or any Taxes or any penalty for failure to comply with any of the foregoing; and (iii) is not liable for any payment to any trust or other fund governed by or maintained by or on behalf of any Governmental Body, with respect to unemployment compensation benefits, social security or other benefits or obligations for employees (other than routine payments to be made in the Ordinary Course of Business). There are no, and within the last three (3) years there have been no formal or informal grievances, complaints or charges with respect to employment or labor matters (including, without limitation, allegations of employment discrimination, retaliation or unfair labor practices) pending or threatened against the Company in any judicial, regulatory or administrative forum, under any private dispute resolution procedure or internally. None of the employment policies or practices of the Company are currently being audited or investigated, or to the knowledge of the Company, subject to imminent audit or investigation by any

governmental authority. Neither the Company nor any Subsidiary is party to a conciliation agreement, consent decree or other agreement or order with any Governmental Body with respect to employment practices. The Company is in compliance with the requirements of the Immigration Reform Control Act of 1986

- (o) There are no pending or threatened claims or actions against the Company, any Subsidiary of the Company, any Company trustee or any trustee of any Subsidiary under any worker's compensation policy or long-term disability policy.
- (p) Part 2.13(p) of the Company Disclosure Schedule lists all liabilities of the Company and its Subsidiaries to any employee that result from the termination by the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company of such employee's employment or provision of services, a change of control of the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company, or a combination thereof. Neither the Company nor any Subsidiary of the Company has any material liability with respect to any misclassification of: (i) any Person as an independent contractor rather than as an employee; (ii) any employee leased from another employer; or (iii) any employee currently or formerly classified as exempt from overtime wages.
- (q) Neither the Company nor any Subsidiary of the Company has taken any action which would constitute a "plant closing" or "mass layoff" within the meaning of the Worker Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act (the "WARN Act") or similar state or local law, issued any notification of a plant closing or mass layoff required by the WARN Act or similar state or local law, or incurred any liability or obligation under the WARN Act or any similar state or local law that remains unsatisfied. No planned terminations prior to the Closing would trigger any notice or other obligations under the WARN Act or similar state or local law.
- (r) Neither the Company nor any Subsidiary of the Company is or has been engaged in any unfair labor practice within the meaning of the National Labor Relations Act. There is no material Legal Proceeding, claim, labor dispute or grievance pending or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened relating to any employment contract, privacy right, labor dispute, wages and hours, leave of absence, plant closing notification, workers' compensation policy, long-term disability policy, harassment, retaliation, immigration, employment statute or regulation, safety or discrimination matter involving any Company Associate, including charges of unfair labor practices or discrimination complaints.
- (s) There is no contract, agreement, plan or arrangement to which Company or any ERISA Affiliate is a party or by which it is bound to compensate any employee for Taxes paid pursuant to Sections 4999 or 409A of the Code.
- Section 2.14 Environmental Matters. The Company and each of its Subsidiaries are in compliance with all applicable Environmental Laws, which compliance includes the possession by the Company of all permits and other Governmental Authorizations required under applicable Environmental Laws and compliance with the terms and conditions thereof, except as has not had, and would not reasonably be expected to have, a Company Material Adverse Effect. Neither the Company nor any Subsidiary of the Company has received since the date of the Company's formation any written notice or other communication (in writing or otherwise), whether from a Governmental Body, citizens group, employee or otherwise, that alleges that the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company is not in compliance with any Environmental Law, and, to the Knowledge of the Company, there are no circumstances that may prevent or interfere with the Company's compliance with any Environmental Law in the future. To the Knowledge of the Company: (a) no current or prior owner of any property leased or controlled

by the Company has received since the date of the Company's formation any written notice or other communication relating to property owned or leased at any time by the Company, whether from a Governmental Body, citizens group, employee or otherwise, that alleges that such current or prior owner or the Company is not in compliance with or violated any Environmental Law relating to such property; and (b) it has no material liability under any Environmental Law.

### Section 2.15 Insurance.

- (a) The Company has made available to Parent accurate and complete copies of all material insurance policies and all material self-insurance programs and arrangements relating to the business, assets, liabilities and operations of the Company and each of its Subsidiaries. Each of such insurance policies is in full force and effect and the Company and each of its Subsidiaries are in material compliance with the terms thereof. Other than customary end of policy notifications from insurance carriers, since the date of the Company's formation, neither the Company nor any Subsidiary of the Company has received any notice or other communication regarding any actual or possible: (i) cancellation or invalidation of any insurance policy; (ii) refusal or denial of any coverage, reservation of rights or rejection of any material claim under any insurance policy; or (iii) material adjustment in the amount of the premiums payable with respect to any insurance policy. There is no pending workers' compensation or other claim under or based upon any insurance policy of the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company. All information provided to insurance carriers (in applications and otherwise) on behalf of the Company and each of its Subsidiaries was, as of the date of such provision, accurate and complete in all material respects. The Company and each of its Subsidiaries have provided timely written notice to the appropriate insurance carrier(s) of each Legal Proceeding pending or threatened in writing against the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company, and no such carrier has issued a denial of coverage or a reservation of rights with respect to any such Legal Proceeding, or informed the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company of its intent to do so.
- (b) The Company has delivered to Parent accurate and complete copies of the existing policies (primary and excess) of directors' and officers' liability insurance maintained by the Company and each of its Subsidiaries as of the date of this Agreement (the "Existing Company D&O Policies"). Part 2.15(b) of the Company Disclosure Schedule accurately sets forth the most recent annual premiums paid by the Company and each of its Subsidiaries with respect to the Existing Company D&O Policies.

# Section 2.16 Legal Proceedings; Orders.

(a) There is no pending Legal Proceeding, and (to the Knowledge of the Company) no Person has threatened in writing to commence any Legal Proceeding: (i) that involves the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company, any Company Associate (in his or her capacity as such) or any of the material assets owned or used by the Company or its Subsidiaries; or (ii) that challenges, or that may have the effect of preventing, delaying, making illegal or otherwise interfering with, the Merger or any of the other Contemplated Transactions. To the Knowledge of the Company, no event has occurred, and no claim, dispute or other condition or circumstance exists, that will, or that would reasonably be expected to, give rise to or serve as a basis for the commencement of any such Legal Proceeding. With regard to any Legal Proceeding set forth on Part 2.16 of the Company Disclosure Schedule, the Company has provided Parent or its counsel all pleadings related to such Legal Proceeding. The Company has complied with the requirements of each applicable insurance policy or policies to obtain coverage with respect to such Legal Proceeding under such insurance policy or policies.

(b) There is no order, writ, injunction, judgment or decree to which the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company, or any of the material assets owned or used by the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company, is subject. To the Knowledge of the Company, no officer or other Key Employee of the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company is subject to any order, writ, injunction, judgment or decree that prohibits such officer or other employee from engaging in or continuing any conduct, activity or practice relating to the business of the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company.

Section 2.17 <u>Authority; Binding Nature of Agreement</u>. The Company and each of its Subsidiaries has all necessary corporate power and authority to enter into and to perform its obligations under this Agreement. The Board of Directors of the Company has: (a) determined that the Merger is in the best commercial interests of the Company; (b) duly authorized and approved by all necessary corporate action, the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the Contemplated Transactions, including the Merger; and (c) recommended the approval of this Agreement by the holders of Company Ordinary Shares and Company Preferred Shares and directed that this Agreement and the Merger be submitted for consideration by the Company's shareholders in connection with the solicitation of the Company Shareholder Approval (as defined below). This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by the Company and, assuming the due authorization, execution and delivery by Parent and Merger Sub, constitutes the legal, valid and binding obligation of the Company, enforceable against the Company in accordance with its terms, subject to: (i) laws of general application relating to bankruptcy, insolvency and the relief of debtors; and (ii) rules of law governing specific performance, injunctive relief and other equitable remedies.

### Section 2.18 Intentionally Omitted.

Section 2.19 <u>Vote Required</u>. The affirmative vote (or action by written consent) (the "**Company Shareholder Approval**") of (a) either (i) the holders of two-thirds of the shares of Company Share Capital outstanding acting at any general meeting or class meeting of the Company or (ii) the holders of all of the shares of Company Share Capital outstanding acting by written consent and (b) the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of each series of Company Preferred Shares (the "**Required Company Stockholder Vote**"), is the only vote or consent of the holders of any class or series of Company Share Capital necessary to adopt or approve this Agreement and approve the Merger and the other Contemplated Transactions and the matters set forth in <u>Section 5.2(a)</u> of this Agreement.

## Section 2.20 Non-Contravention; Consents.

(a) The execution and delivery of this Agreement by the Company does not, and the consummation by the Company of the Contemplated Transactions will not, (i) conflict with, or result in any violation or breach of, any provision of the memorandum and articles of association, charter, bylaws or other organizational document of the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company, (ii) conflict with, or result in any violation or breach of, or constitute (with or without notice or lapse of time, or both) a default (or give rise to a right of termination, cancellation or acceleration of any obligation or loss of any material benefit) under, require a consent or waiver under, constitute a change in control under, require the payment of a material penalty under or result in the imposition of any Encumbrance on the Company's or any of its Subsidiaries' assets under, any of the terms, conditions or provisions of any Contract to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is a party or by which any of them or any of their properties or assets may be bound, or (iii) subject to obtaining the Company Shareholder

Approval and subject to the consents, approvals and authorizations specified in clauses (i) through (v) of Section 2.20(b) having been obtained prior to the Effective Time and all filings and notifications described in Section 2.20(b) having been made, conflict with or violate any Legal Requirement applicable to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or any of its or their properties or assets, except in the case of clauses (ii) and (iii) of this Section 2.20(a) for any such conflicts, violations, breaches, rights of termination, Encumbrances, penalties, defaults, terminations, cancellations, accelerations or losses that have not had, and would not reasonably be expected to result in, a Company Material Adverse Effect. Part 2.20(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule lists all consents, waivers and approvals under any Company license or Contract to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is a party or by which any of them or any of their properties or assets may be bound required to be obtained in connection with the consummation of the Contemplated Transactions, and the absence of such consents, waivers and approvals has not had, and would not reasonably be expected to result in, a Company Material Adverse Effect.

(b) No consent, approval, license, permit, order or authorization of, or registration, declaration, notice or filing with, any Governmental Body is required by or with respect to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries in connection with the execution and delivery of this Agreement by the Company or the consummation by the Company of the Contemplated Transactions, except for (i) the approval of the Board of Directors of the Company to the Contemplated Transactions and the Plan of Merger, (ii) obtaining the Company Stockholder Approval, (iii) the filing of the Plan of Merger (together with the Cayman Merger Documents set forth in Part 1.3 of the Company Disclosure Schedule) with the Cayman Registrar of Companies and appropriate corresponding documents with the appropriate authorities of other states in which the Company is qualified as a foreign corporation to transact business, (iv) any filings required to be made with the SEC in connection with this Agreement and the Contemplated Transactions, (v) such consents, approvals, orders, authorizations, registrations, notices and filings as may be required under applicable state securities laws, the rules and regulations of The NASDAQ Stock Market, the U.S. Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, and Antitrust Laws and (vi) such other consents, licenses, permits, orders, authorizations, filings, approvals and registrations which, if not obtained or made, have not had, and would not reasonably be expected to result in, a Company Material Adverse Effect.

Section 2.21 No Financial Advisor. No broker, finder or investment banker is entitled to any brokerage fee, finder's fee, opinion fee, success fee, transaction fee or other fee or commission in connection with the Merger or any of the other Contemplated Transactions based upon arrangements made by or on behalf of the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company.

Section 2.22 Accredited Investor Status. Prior to the date of this Agreement each holder of Company Ordinary Shares and Company Preferred Shares has previously represented to the Company that he, she or it is an "accredited investor" within the meaning of Regulation D, Rule 501(a), promulgated by the SEC under the Securities Act or is not a "U.S. person" within the meaning of Regulation S, Rule 902, promulgated by the SEC under the Securities Act.

Section 2.23 <u>Disclosure</u>. The information supplied by the Company and each of its Subsidiaries for inclusion in the Proxy Statement (including any Company Public Company Financials) will not, as of the date of the Proxy Statement, (a) contain any statement that is inaccurate or misleading with respect to any material facts or (b) omit to state any material fact necessary in order to make such information, in the light of the circumstances under which such information will be provided, not false or misleading.

#### ARTICLE III

# REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF PARENT AND MERGER SUB

Parent and Merger Sub represent and warrant to the Company, as of the date of this Agreement and the Closing Date, as follows, except as set forth in (x) the Parent SEC Documents filed prior to the date hereof or (y) the written disclosure schedule delivered by Parent to the Company (the "Parent Disclosure Schedule"). The Parent Disclosure Schedule shall be arranged in parts and subparts corresponding to the numbered and lettered sections and subsections contained in this Article III. The disclosures in any part or subpart of the Parent Disclosure Schedule shall qualify other sections and subsections in this Article III to the extent it is reasonably clear from a reading of the disclosure that such disclosure is applicable to such other sections and subsections. The inclusion of any information in the Parent Disclosure Schedule (or any update thereto) shall not be deemed to be an admission or acknowledgment, in and of itself, that such information is required by the terms hereof to be disclosed, is material (including for purposes of federal and state securities laws), has resulted in or would reasonably be expected to result in a Parent Material Adverse Effect, or is outside the Ordinary Course of Business.

### Section 3.1 Subsidiaries; Due Organization; Etc.

- (a) Parent has no Subsidiaries, except for Merger Sub and the Entities identified in Part 3.1(a) of the Parent Disclosure Schedule; and neither Parent nor any Subsidiary of Parent identified in Part 3.1(a) of the Parent Disclosure Schedule owns any capital stock of, or any equity interest of any nature in, any other Entity, other than the Subsidiaries identified in Part 3.1(a) of the Parent Disclosure Schedule. Parent has not agreed nor is obligated to make, nor is bound by any Contract under which it may become obligated to make, any future investment in or capital contribution to any other Entity. Parent has not, at any time, been a general partner of, or has otherwise been liable for any of the debts or other obligations of, any general partnership, limited partnership or other Entity.
- (b) Parent, Merger Sub and each other Subsidiary of Parent is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good standing (to the extent such concepts are applicable) under the laws of the jurisdiction of its incorporation and has all necessary power and authority to own, lease, license and use its properties and assets and to conduct its business in the manner in which its business is currently being conducted.
- (c) Parent, Merger Sub and each other Subsidiary of Parent is qualified to do business as a foreign corporation, and is in good standing, under the laws of all jurisdictions where the nature of its business requires such qualification other than in jurisdictions where the failure to be so qualified individually or in the aggregate has not had and would not reasonably be expected to have a Parent Material Adverse Effect.
- Section 3.2 <u>Governing Documents; Charters and Codes of Conduct</u>. Parent has delivered to the Company accurate and complete copies of the certificate of incorporation, bylaws, memorandum and articles of association and other charter and organizational documents, including all currently effective amendments thereto, for Parent and each of its Subsidiaries. Part 3.2 of the Parent Disclosure Schedule lists, and Parent has delivered to the Company, accurate and complete copies of: (a) the charters of all committees of Parent's and its Subsidiaries' boards of directors; and (b) any code of conduct or similar policy adopted by Parent, Subsidiaries of Parent, or by their respective boards of directors, or any committees of

their respective boards of directors. Neither Parent nor any Subsidiary of Parent has taken any action in breach or violation of any of the provisions of its certificate of incorporation, bylaws, memorandum and articles of association or other charter and organizational documents nor is in breach or violation of any of the material provisions of their respective certificates of incorporation, bylaws, memorandum and articles of association or other charter and organizational documents, except as has not had, and would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Parent Material Adverse Effect.

### Section 3.3 Capitalization, Etc.

- (a) The authorized capital stock of Parent consists of (i) One Hundred Twenty Million (120,000,000) shares of Parent Common Stock, par value \$0.001 per share, of which Twenty Seven Million Ten Thousand Two Hundred Two (27,010,202) shares have been issued and are outstanding as of this Agreement and (ii) Five Million (5,000,000) shares of undesignated Parent Preferred Stock, par value \$0.001 per share of which no shares have been issued and are outstanding. Parent does not hold any shares of its capital stock in its treasury. All of the outstanding shares of Parent Common Stock have been duly authorized and validly issued, and are fully paid and non-assessable. None of the outstanding shares of Parent Common Stock is entitled or subject to any preemptive right, right of participation, right of maintenance or any similar right. None of the outstanding shares of Parent Common Stock is subject to any right of first refusal in favor of Parent. Except as contemplated herein, there is no Parent Contract relating to the voting or registration of, or restricting any Person from purchasing, selling, pledging or otherwise disposing of (or granting any option or similar right with respect to), any shares of Parent Common Stock. Parent is not under any obligation, nor is bound by any Contract pursuant to which it may become obligated, to repurchase, redeem or otherwise acquire any outstanding shares of Parent Common Stock or other securities. Part 3.3(a) of the Parent Disclosure Schedule accurately and completely describes all repurchase rights held by Parent with respect to shares of Parent Common Stock (including shares issued pursuant to the exercise of stock options), and specifies, with respect to such repurchase rights, each holder of Parent Common Stock, the date of purchase of such Parent Common Stock, the number of shares of Parent Common Stock subject to such repurchase rights, the purchase price paid by such holder, the vesting schedule under which such repurchase rights lapse, and whether the holder of such Pare
- (b) Except for the 2004 stock option and incentive plan, the 2014 stock option and incentive plan, as amended and the employee stock purchase plan (collectively, the "**Parent Stock Plans**"), Parent does not have any stock option plan or any other plan, program, agreement or arrangement providing for any equity or equity-based compensation for any Person. Part 3.3(b) of the Parent Disclosure Schedule sets forth the following information with respect to each Parent Option outstanding as of the date of this Agreement: (i) the name of the option holder; (ii) the number of shares of Parent Common Stock subject to such Parent Option; (iii) the exercise price of such Parent Option; (iv) the date on which such Parent Option was granted; (v) the applicable vesting schedule, including the number of vested and unvested shares; (vi) the date on which such Parent Option expires; and (vii) whether such Parent Option is an "incentive stock option" (as defined in the Code) or a non-qualified stock option. Parent has made available to the Company accurate and complete copies of all stock option plans pursuant to which Parent has ever granted stock options, and the forms of all stock option agreements evidencing such options.

- (c) Part 3.3(c) of the Parent Disclosure Schedule sets forth the following information with respect to each Parent RSU outstanding as of the date of this Agreement: (i) the name of the holder of the Parent RSU; (ii) the number of shares of Parent Common Stock subject to such Parent RSU; (iii) the date on which such Parent RSU was granted; and (iv) the applicable vesting schedule. Parent has made available to the Company accurate and complete copies of all equity incentive plans pursuant to which Parent has ever granted restricted stock units, and the forms of all restricted stock unit award agreements evidencing such restricted stock units.
- (d) Part 3.3(d) of the Parent Disclosure Schedule sets forth the following information with respect to each Parent Warrant outstanding as of the date of this Agreement: (i) the name of the warrant holder; (ii) the number of shares of Parent Common Stock subject to such Parent Warrant; (iii) the exercise price of such Parent Warrant; (iv) the date on which such Parent Warrant was granted; and (v) the date on which such Parent Warrant expires. Parent has delivered to the Company accurate and complete copies of all Parent Warrants.
- (e) Except for the outstanding Parent Options, Parent RSUs, Parent Warrants or as set forth on Part 3.3(e) of the Parent Disclosure Schedule, there is no: (i) outstanding subscription, option, call, warrant or right (whether or not currently exercisable) to acquire any shares of the capital stock or other securities of Parent; (ii) outstanding security, instrument or obligation that is or may become convertible into or exchangeable for any shares of the capital stock or other securities of Parent; (iii) stockholder rights plan (or similar plan commonly referred to as a "poison pill") or Contract under which Parent is or may become obligated to sell or otherwise issue any shares of its capital stock or any other securities; or (iv) condition or circumstance that may give rise to or provide a basis for the assertion of a claim by any Person to the effect that such Person is entitled to acquire or receive any shares of capital stock or other securities of Parent. There are no outstanding or authorized stock appreciation, phantom stock, profit participation or other similar rights with respect to Parent.
- (f) All outstanding shares of Parent Common Stock and options, restricted stock units, warrants and other securities of Parent have been issued and granted in material compliance with (i) all applicable securities laws and other applicable Legal Requirements and (ii) all requirements set forth in applicable Contracts.

### Section 3.4 SEC Filings; Financial Statements.

(a) All material documents required to have been filed by Parent with the SEC have been so filed on a timely basis. As of the time it was filed with the SEC (or, if amended or superseded by a filing prior to the date of this Agreement, then on the date of such filing), each of the registration statements, proxy statements, Certifications (as defined below) and other documents filed by Parent with the SEC since January 1, 2014 (the "Parent SEC Documents") complied in all material respects with the applicable requirements of the Securities Act or the Exchange Act (as applicable) and, as of the time they were filed, none of the Parent SEC Documents contained any untrue statement of a material fact or omitted to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary in order to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. The certifications and statements required by (i) Rule 13a-14 under the Exchange Act and (ii) 18 U.S.C. §1350 (Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act) relating to the Parent SEC Documents (collectively, the "Certifications") are accurate and complete in all material respects and comply as to form and content in all material respects with all applicable Legal Requirements.

- (b) Except to the extent updated, amended, restated or corrected by a subsequent Parent SEC Document, as of their respective dates of filing with the SEC, the consolidated financial statements (including any related notes) contained or incorporated by reference in the Parent SEC Documents: (i) complied as to form in all material respects with the published rules and regulations of the SEC applicable thereto; (ii) were prepared in accordance with GAAP (except as may be indicated in the notes to such financial statements or, in the case of unaudited financial statements, as permitted by Form 10-Q of the SEC, and except that the unaudited financial statements may not contain footnotes and are subject to normal and recurring year-end adjustments that are not reasonably expected to be material in amount) applied on a consistent basis unless otherwise noted therein throughout the periods indicated; and (iii) fairly present the consolidated financial position of Parent as of the respective dates thereof and the consolidated results of operations and cash flows of Parent for the periods covered thereby.
- (c) Parent's auditor has at all times since January 1, 2016 been: (i) a registered public accounting firm (as defined in Section 2(a)(12) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act); (ii) to the Knowledge of Parent, "independent" with respect to Parent within the meaning of Regulation S-X under the Exchange Act; and (iii) to the Knowledge of Parent, in compliance with subsections (g) through (l) of Section 10A of the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations promulgated by the SEC and the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board thereunder.
- (d) From January 1, 2016, through the date hereof, Parent has not received any comment letter from the SEC or the staff thereof or any correspondence from The NASDAQ Stock Market or the staff thereof relating to the delisting or maintenance of listing of the Parent Common Stock on the NASDAQ Global Market, other than such documents that can be obtained on the SEC's website at www.sec.gov.
- (e) Parent and each Subsidiary of Parent internal control over financial reporting that provides reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with GAAP.
- (f) Since January 1, 2014, Parent has not identified (i) any significant deficiency or material weakness in the system of internal accounting controls utilized by Parent and its Subsidiaries, (ii) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves Parent's management or other employees who have a role in the preparation of financial statements or the internal accounting controls utilized by Parent and its Subsidiaries or (iii) any claim or allegation regarding any of the foregoing.
- Section 3.5 <u>Absence of Changes</u>. Since December 31, 2016, there has not been any Parent Material Adverse Effect or any event or development that would, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Parent Material Adverse Effect. After December 31, 2016 and on or before the date hereof:
- (a) there has not been any material loss, damage or destruction to, or any material interruption in the use of, any of the assets or business of Parent or any Subsidiary of Parent (whether or not covered by insurance);
- (b) neither Parent nor any of its Subsidiaries has: (i) declared, accrued, set aside or paid any dividend or made any other distribution in respect of any shares of capital stock (other than intercompany transfers or dividends paid or payable to Parent by its

Subsidiaries); or (ii) repurchased, redeemed or otherwise reacquired any shares of capital stock or other securities, other than from former employees, directors and consultants in accordance with agreements providing for the repurchase of shares in connection with any termination of services to Parent or any of its Subsidiaries;

- (c) neither Parent nor any of its Subsidiaries has sold, issued or granted, or authorized the issuance of: (i) any capital stock or other security (except for Parent Common Stock issued upon the valid exercise of outstanding Parent Options and vesting of restricted stock units); (ii) any option, warrant or right to acquire any capital stock or any other security (except for Parent Options identified in Part 3.3(b) of the Parent Disclosure Schedule); or (iii) any instrument convertible into or exchangeable for any capital stock or other security except for the repurchase or reacquisition of shares pursuant to Parent rights arising upon an individual's termination as an employee, director or consultant;
- (d) there has been no amendment to the certificate of incorporation, bylaws, memorandum and articles of association or other charter or organizational documents of Parent or any Subsidiary of Parent nor any Subsidiary of Parent has effected or been a party to any merger, consolidation, share exchange, business combination, recapitalization, reclassification of shares, stock split, reverse stock split or similar transaction;
- (e) neither Parent nor any of its Subsidiaries has amended or waived any of its rights under, or exercised its discretion to permit the acceleration of vesting under any provision of: (i) any of the Parent Stock Plans; (ii) any Parent Option or any Contract evidencing or relating to any Parent Option; (iii) any restricted stock purchase agreement; or (iv) any other Contract evidencing or relating to any equity award (whether payable in cash or stock);
- (f) neither Parent nor any Subsidiary of Parent has formed any Subsidiary other than Merger Sub or acquired any equity interest or other interest in any other Entity;
- (g) neither Parent nor any Subsidiary of Parent has: (i) lent money to any Person; or (ii) incurred or guaranteed any indebtedness; or (iii) issued or sold any debt securities or options, warrants, calls or other rights to acquire any debt securities; (iv) guaranteed any debt securities of others; or (v) made capital expenditures or commitments in excess of \$100,000 individually or \$250,000 in the aggregate;
- (h) neither Parent nor any Subsidiary of Parent has, other than in the Ordinary Course of Business: (i) adopted, established or entered into any Parent Employee Plan; (ii) caused or permitted any Parent Employee Plan to be amended other than as required by law; or (iii) paid or established any bonus or any profit-sharing or similar payment to, or increased the amount of the wages, salary, commissions, benefits or other compensation or remuneration payable to, any of its directors or employees;
  - (i) neither Parent nor any Subsidiary of Parent has changed any of its accounting methods, principles or practices;
- (j) neither Parent nor any Subsidiary of Parent changed any annual Tax accounting period, entered into any Tax allocation agreement, Tax sharing agreement or Tax indemnity agreement, other than pursuant to customary indemnifications for Taxes contained in credit or other commercial agreements no principal purpose of which relates to Taxes or Tax Returns, entered into any closing agreement with respect to any Tax, settled or compromised any claim, audit or assessment in respect of material Taxes, applied for or entered into any ruling from any Tax authority with respect to Taxes, or consented to any extension or waiver of the statute of limitations period applicable to any material Tax claim or assessment;

- (k) neither Parent nor any Subsidiary of Parent has commenced or settled any Legal Proceeding;
- (1) neither Parent nor any Subsidiary of Parent has entered into any material transaction outside the Ordinary Course of Business;
- (m) neither Parent nor any Subsidiary of Parent has acquired any material assets nor sold, leased or otherwise irrevocably disposed of any of its material assets or properties, nor has any Encumbrance been granted with respect to such assets or properties, except for Encumbrances of immaterial assets in the Ordinary Course of Business;
  - (n) there has been no entry into, amendment or termination of any Parent Material Contract; and
- (o) neither Parent nor any Subsidiary of Parent has negotiated, agreed or committed to take any of the actions referred to in clauses "(b)" through "(m)" above (other than negotiations between the Parties to enter into this Agreement).

Section 3.6 <u>Title to Assets</u>. Each of Parent and its Subsidiaries owns, and has good and valid title to, or, in the case of leased properties and assets, valid leasehold interests in, all tangible properties or assets and equipment used or held for use in its business or operations or purported to be owned by it. All of said assets are owned by Parent or a Parent Subsidiary free and clear of any Encumbrances, except for: (a) any lien for current Taxes not yet due and payable or for Taxes that are being contested in good faith and for which adequate reserves have been made on Parent's audited consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2016; (b) minor liens that have arisen in the Ordinary Course of Business and that do not (individually or in the aggregate) materially detract from the value of the assets subject thereto or materially impair the operations of Parent and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole; and (c) liens described in Part 3.6 of the Parent Disclosure Schedule.

Section 3.7 <u>Real Property; Leasehold.</u> Neither Parent nor any Subsidiary of Parent owns any real property or any interest in real property, except for the leaseholds created under the real property leases identified in Part 3.7 of the Parent Disclosure Schedule (a) which are in full force and effect, subject to: (i) laws of general application relating to bankruptcy, insolvency and the relief of debtors; and (ii) rules of law governing specific performance, injunctive relief and other equitable remedies, and (b) in respect of which Parent or such applicable Subsidiary is not in default.

# Section 3.8 Intellectual Property.

(a) To Parent's Knowledge, Parent and its Subsidiaries own, license, sublicense or otherwise possess legally enforceable rights to use all material Intellectual Property used in the business of Parent and its Subsidiaries as currently conducted (in each case excluding generally commercially available, off-the-shelf software programs).

- (b) The execution and delivery of this Agreement by Parent and the Closing will not result in the breach of or loss of rights under, or create on behalf of any third party the right to terminate or modify, (i) any license, sublicense or other agreement relating to any Intellectual Property owned by and material to Parent or any Subsidiary of Parent (the "Parent Intellectual Property") that conveys an exclusive license or is otherwise material to the business of Parent and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, as currently conducted or (ii) any license, sublicense or other agreement to which Parent or any Subsidiary of Parent is a party and pursuant to which Parent or any Subsidiary of Parent is authorized to use any third party's Intellectual Property on an exclusive basis or that is otherwise material to the business of Parent and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, as currently conducted, excluding generally commercially available, off-the-shelf software programs (the "Parent Third Party Intellectual Property"). The execution and delivery of this Agreement by Parent and the Closing will not, as a result of any Parent Contract, result in Parent, the Company or its Subsidiaries granting to any third party any rights or licenses to any Intellectual Property or the release or disclosure of any trade secrets that would not have been granted or released absent such execution or consummation.
- (c) Part 3.8(c)(i) of the Parent Disclosure Schedule sets forth a complete and accurate list of all material U.S. and foreign issued patents and pending patent applications and registered trademarks, service marks, copyrights and domain names owned or co-owned by Parent or any Subsidiary of Parent. Part 3.8(c)(ii) of the Parent Disclosure Schedule sets forth a complete and accurate list of all material U.S. and foreign issued patents and pending patent applications and registered trademarks, service marks, copyrights and domain names material to the business of Parent and its Subsidiaries as currently conducted, licensed to Parent or any Subsidiary of Parent. Subject to the limitations therein, Parts 3.9(j) and (k) of the Parent Disclosure Schedule set forth complete and accurate lists of licenses in respect of Parent Third Party Intellectual Property and Parent Intellectual Property, respectively.
- (d) All items of Intellectual Property set forth in Part 3.8(c)(i) of the Parent Disclosure Schedule are subsisting and have not expired or been cancelled, all maintenance and renewal fees necessary to preserve such rights have been paid, and to Parent's Knowledge, all such rights are valid and enforceable. To Parent's Knowledge all items of Intellectual Property set forth in Part 3.8(c)(ii) of the Parent Disclosure Schedule are subsisting and have not expired or been cancelled, all maintenance and renewal fees necessary to preserve such rights have been paid, and all such rights are valid and enforceable. To Parent's Knowledge, Parent and its Subsidiaries have implemented commercially reasonable measures to maintain the confidentiality of Parent Intellectual Property of a nature that Parent intends to keep confidential. To Parent's Knowledge, no third party is infringing, violating or misappropriating any of Parent Intellectual Property, except for infringements, violations or misappropriations that, individually or in the aggregate, have not had, and would not be reasonably likely to have, a Parent Material Adverse Effect.
- (e) To Parent's Knowledge, the conduct of the business of Parent and its Subsidiaries as currently conducted does not infringe, violate, conflict with or constitute a misappropriation of any Intellectual Property of any third party. Since January 1, 2014, neither Parent nor any Subsidiary of Parent has received any written claim or notice alleging any such infringement, violation or misappropriation.
- (f) All former and current employees, consultants and contractors of Parent or its Subsidiaries who contribute or have contributed to the creation of any Parent Intellectual Property have executed written instruments that assign to Parent or the relevant Subsidiary all right, title and interest in and to any such Parent Intellectual Property, subject to any retained rights therein or encumbrances thereon set forth in any applicable Parent Contracts under which such Parent Intellectual Property was created.

- (g) Parent's and each of its Subsidiaries' collection, storage, use and dissemination of personally identifiable information is and since January 1, 2014, has been in compliance in all material respects with all applicable Legal Requirements, including laws relating to privacy, data security and data protection, and all applicable privacy policies and terms of use or other contractual obligations applicable thereto. Since January 1, 2014, there have been no written allegations or claims received by Parent or any Subsidiary of Parent from any Governmental Body or any person of a breach of any such laws, policies or obligations. To Parent's Knowledge, since January 1, 2014, there have been no material losses or thefts of any such information.
- Section 3.9 <u>Agreements, Contracts and Commitments</u>. Part 3.9 of the Parent Disclosure Schedule identifies, except for Parent Contracts set forth in Part 3.13 of the Parent Disclosure Schedule:
- (a) each Parent Contract relating to the retention of , or the performance of services by, any individual consultant or independent contractor, not terminable by Parent or its Subsidiaries on 90 or fewer days' notice without liability;
- (b) each Parent Contract relating to any agreement of indemnification or guaranty not entered into in the Ordinary Course of Business other than indemnification agreements between Parent and any of its officers or directors;
- (c) each Parent Contract containing (i) any covenant limiting the freedom of Parent, its Subsidiaries or the Surviving Corporation to engage in any line of business or compete with any Person or (ii) any exclusivity provisions binding on Parent or its applicable Subsidiary;
- (d) each Parent Contract relating to capital expenditures and involving obligations by Parent or its Subsidiaries after the date of this Agreement in excess of \$100,000 and not cancelable without penalty;
  - (e) each Parent Contract relating to the disposition or acquisition of material assets or any ownership interest in any Entity;
- (f) each Parent Contract relating to the borrowing of money or extension of credit in excess of \$150,000 or creating any material Encumbrances with respect to any assets of Parent or any Subsidiary of Parent or any loans or debt obligations with officers or directors of Parent;
- (g) each Parent Contract involving payment or receipt by Parent or any of its Subsidiaries in excess of \$150,000 in the aggregate relating to (i) any distribution agreement or (ii) any agreement involving provision of services or products with respect to any pre-clinical or clinical development activities of Parent:
- (h) each Parent Contract involving (i) any dealer, distributor, joint marketing, alliance, joint venture, cooperation, partnership, development or other agreement under which Parent or its Subsidiaries has continuing obligations to develop or market any product, technology or service, or any agreement pursuant to which Parent or its Subsidiaries has continuing obligations to develop any Intellectual Property that will not be owned, in whole or in part, by Parent or such Subsidiary of Parent or (ii) any Contract to license any third party to manufacture or produce any Parent product, service or technology or any Contract to sell or commercialize any Parent products or service except agreements with sales representatives in the Ordinary Course of Business;

- (i) each Parent Contract with any Person, including without limitation any financial advisor, broker, finder, investment banker or other Person, providing advisory services to Parent in connection with the Contemplated Transactions;
- (j) each Parent Contract under which Parent or any of its Subsidiaries is a licensee of or is otherwise granted by a third party any rights to use any Parent Third Party Intellectual Property (other than (i) non-exclusive licenses of commercially available software with an annual license fee of less than \$15,000 for each such agreement and (ii) agreements in which grants of rights to Intellectual Property are incidental and not material to such agreements);
- (k) each Parent Contract under which Parent or any of its Subsidiaries is a licensor or otherwise grants to a third party any rights to use any Parent Intellectual Property (other than agreements in which grants of rights to Intellectual Property are incidental and not material to such agreements); or
- (l) any other Parent Contract (i) which involves payment or receipt by Parent or its Subsidiaries under any such Contract of \$150,000 or more in the aggregate or obligations after the date of this Agreement in excess of \$150,000 in the aggregate or (ii) that is material to the business or operations of Parent and its Subsidiaries.

Parent has delivered or made available to the Company accurate and complete (except for applicable redactions thereto) copies of all Parent Material Contracts (as defined below), including all amendments thereto. There are no Parent Material Contracts that are not in written form. Neither Parent nor any Subsidiary of Parent has, nor to Parent's Knowledge, has any other party to a Parent Material Contract, breached, violated or defaulted under, or received notice that it has breached, violated or defaulted under, any of the terms or conditions of any of the Contracts to which Parent or its Subsidiaries is a party or by which it is bound of the type described in <a href="clauses (a)">clauses (a)</a> through (l) above or any Parent Contract listed in Part 3.13 of the Parent Disclosure Schedule (any such Contract, a "Parent Material Contract") in such manner as would permit any other party to cancel or terminate any such Parent Material Contract, or would permit any other party to seek damages, in each case which has had or would reasonably be expected to have a Parent Material Adverse Effect. As to Parent and its Subsidiaries, as of the date of this Agreement, each Parent Material Contract is valid, binding, enforceable and in full force and effect, subject to: (i) laws of general application relating to bankruptcy, insolvency and the relief of debtors; and (ii) rules of law governing specific performance, injunctive relief and other equitable remedies. Parent has not received any written notice of termination or cancellation under any Parent Material Contract.

Section 3.10 <u>Liabilities</u>. Neither Parent nor any Subsidiary of Parent has any Liability, individually or in the aggregate, except for: (a) Liabilities identified as such in the "liabilities" column of Parent's unaudited consolidated balance sheet at June 30, 2017; (b) normal and recurring current Liabilities that have been incurred by Parent since the date of Parent's unaudited consolidated balance sheet at June 30, 2017 in the Ordinary Course of Business that are not individually or in the aggregate material; (c) Liabilities for performance of obligations of Parent or any Subsidiary of Parent under Contracts (other than for breach thereof); and (d) Liabilities described in Part 3.10 of the Parent Disclosure Schedule.

### Section 3.11 Compliance; Permits; Restrictions.

- (a) Parent and each Subsidiary of Parent is and, since January 1, 2012, has been in compliance with all Legal Requirements applicable to Parent or any Subsidiary of Parent, and, since January 1, 2012, has not received any written notice alleging any violation with respect to any Legal Requirements, except as, individually or in the aggregate, has not had, and would not reasonably be expected to have, a Parent Material Adverse Effect.
- (b) Each of the current product candidates of Parent or any Subsidiary of Parent (the "**Parent Products**") is being, and at all times has been, developed, tested, manufactured, distributed, labeled and stored, as applicable, in compliance in all material respects with the Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act, the Public Health Service Act, and applicable regulations enforced by the FDA, including those requirements relating to current good manufacturing practices, good laboratory practices and good clinical practices, as applicable.
- (c) Neither Parent, any Subsidiary of Parent, nor, to Parent's Knowledge, any of their respective directors, officers, employees, agents or distributors has, at any time since January 1, 2012, violated in any material respect any provision of the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977 or any comparable foreign law relating to anti-bribery or corruption matters. Since January 1, 2012, neither Parent nor any Subsidiary of Parent nor, to Parent's Knowledge, any of their respective directors, officers, employees, agents or distributors has paid or given, offered or promised to pay or give, or authorized or ratified the payment or giving, directly or indirectly, of any monies or anything of value to any national, provincial, municipal or other government official or employee or any political party or agent or candidate for political office or Governmental Body for the direct or indirect purpose of influencing any act or decision of such Person or of the Governmental Body to obtain or retain business, or direct business to any Person or to secure any other improper benefit or advantage that has or would be reasonably likely to result in a material violation of applicable Legal Requirements.
- (d) To Parent's Knowledge, the clinical trials conducted by or on behalf of Parent or its Subsidiaries were, and if still pending, are, being conducted in all material respects in accordance with all applicable clinical protocols, informed consents and applicable requirements of the FDA and equivalent regulatory authorities outside the United States, including the applicable requirements of good clinical practice and all applicable requirements contained in the Public Health Service Act (including section 402(j)), the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, and applicable FDA regulations set forth at 21 C.F.R. Parts 50 (Protection of Human Subjects), 54 (Financial Disclosure by Clinical Investigators), 56 (Institutional Review Boards) and 312 (Investigational New Drug Application). Neither Parent, its Subsidiaries, nor, to Parent's Knowledge, any entity conducting clinical trials on behalf of Parent or its Subsidiaries, has used any clinical investigator who has been disqualified or who has been the subject of disqualification proceedings pursuant to 21 C.F.R. §314.70 or similar regulations.
- (e) Neither Parent nor any Subsidiary of Parent is subject to any investigation that is pending and of which Parent has been notified in writing or, to Parent's Knowledge, which has been threatened, in each case by (i) the FDA, (ii) the Department of Health and Human Services Office of Inspector General or Department of Justice pursuant to the Federal Healthcare Program Anti-Kickback Statute (42 U.S.C. Section 1320a-7b(b)) or the Federal False Claims Act (31 U.S.C. Section 3729) or (iii) any regulatory authority outside of the U.S. pursuant to any equivalent statute of such jurisdiction.

(f) Neither Parent, any Subsidiary of Parent, nor, to Parent's Knowledge, any employee of Parent or any Subsidiary of Parent, has been convicted of any crime for which debarment is mandated by 21 U.S.C. § 335a(a) or any similar Legal Requirements or authorized by 21 U.S.C. Section 335a(b) or any similar Legal Requirements, nor has Parent, any Subsidiary of Parent or, to Parent's Knowledge, any employee of Parent or any Subsidiary of Parent, been convicted of any crime for which exclusion from participation in Medicare or state health care programs is mandated or authorized under 42 U.S.C. § 1320a-7, 42 C.F.R. part 1001 or any similar Legal Requirements.

# Section 3.12 Tax Matters.

- (a) Parent and each of its Subsidiaries (i) has filed all material Tax Returns required to have been filed by or with respect to Parent or any of its Subsidiaries, and all such Tax Returns are true, correct and complete in all material respects and were prepared in substantial compliance with all applicable Legal Requirements; provided, however, that regardless of what may be reported on any such Tax Returns, neither Parent nor Merger Sub makes any representation regarding (A) the amount of any net operating losses, Tax credit, or charitable contribution carryovers that are available to it or have been reported by Parent or any of its Subsidiaries for any federal, state or other Tax purposes, or (B) any limitation on use by Parent or any of its Subsidiaries of any net operating losses, Tax credit, or charitable contribution carryovers that might apply either before or after the Effective Time under Code Section 382 or any other applicable limitations under any Tax laws, (ii) has timely paid all material Taxes required to have been paid, whether or not shown as due on such Tax Returns, (iii) has adequate accruals and reserves, in accordance with GAAP, on Parent's audited consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2016, for all material Taxes payable by Parent and its Subsidiaries for all taxable periods and portions thereof through the date of such financial statements and (iv) has not received notice of any proposed or assessed deficiencies for any Tax from any taxing authority, against Parent or any of its Subsidiaries. Since December 31, 2016, neither Parent nor any of its Subsidiaries has incurred any liability for Taxes other than in the Ordinary Course of Business.
- (b) Neither Parent nor any of its Subsidiaries is the subject of any currently ongoing Tax audit or other proceeding with respect to Taxes nor has any Tax audit or other proceeding with respect to Taxes been proposed against any of them in writing. Neither Parent nor any of its Subsidiaries has waived any statute of limitations in respect of Taxes or agreed to any extension of time with respect to a Tax assessment or deficiency (other than pursuant to extensions of time to file Tax Returns obtained in the Ordinary Course of Business) in either case that is still outstanding.
- (c) Parent and each of its Subsidiaries has timely withheld and paid all material Taxes required to have been withheld and paid in connection with amounts paid or owing to any employee, independent contractor, creditor, stockholder or other third party.
- (d) There are no Encumbrances for Taxes (other than Taxes not yet due and payable or Taxes that are being contested in good faith and for which adequate reserves have been made on Parent's audited consolidated balance sheet, in accordance with GAAP) on any of the assets of Parent or any of its Subsidiaries.
- (e) Neither Parent nor any of its Subsidiaries is a party to or bound by any written Tax allocation, indemnification (including indemnification of Taxes with respect to service-providers) or sharing agreement (other than an agreement with Parent or any of its

Subsidiaries and other than customary indemnifications for Taxes contained in credit or other commercial agreements no principal purpose of which relates to Taxes or Tax Returns). Neither Parent nor any of its Subsidiaries is or has been a member of an affiliated group (other than a group the common parent of which is Parent) filing a consolidated U.S. federal income Tax Return. Neither Parent nor any of its Subsidiaries is liable under Treasury Regulations Section 1.1502-6 (or any similar provision of the Tax laws of any state, local or foreign jurisdiction), or as a transferee or successor, by contract, or otherwise, for any Tax of any Person (other than Taxes or Parent and its Subsidiaries and other than pursuant to customary indemnifications for Taxes contained in credit or other commercial agreements no principal purpose of which relates to Taxes or Tax Returns).

- (f) Parent has delivered or made available to the Company complete and accurate copies of all U.S. federal income Tax and all other material Tax Returns of Parent and each of its Subsidiaries (and predecessors of each) for all taxable years remaining open under the applicable statute of limitations, and complete and accurate copies of all examination reports and statements of deficiencies assessed against or agreed to by Parent and each of its Subsidiaries (and predecessors of each), with respect to U.S. federal income Tax and all other material Taxes.
- (g) Neither Parent nor any of its Subsidiaries was a "distributing corporation" or "controlled corporation" in a transaction intended to qualify under Section 355 of the Code within the past two years or otherwise as part of a "plan" or "series of related transactions" (within the meaning of Section 355(e) of the Code) that includes the Merger.
- (h) Neither Parent nor any of its Subsidiaries will be required to include any item of income in, or exclude any item of deduction from, taxable income for a taxable period ending after the Closing Date of as a result of any: (i) change in method of accounting made prior to the Closing for a taxable period ending on or prior to the Closing Date, including any adjustment pursuant to Section 481 of the Code (or any analogous provision of state, local or foreign law), (ii) use of an improper method of accounting a taxable period ending on or before the Closing Date, (iii) "closing agreement" as described in Section 7121 of the Code (or any analogous provision of state, local or foreign law) executed on or prior to the Closing Date, (iv) installment sale or open transaction disposition made on or prior to the Closing Date, (v) prepaid amount received on or prior to the Closing Date outside of the Ordinary Course of Business or (vi) election by Parent or any of its Subsidiaries under Section 108(i) of the Code.
- (i) Neither Parent nor any of its Subsidiaries has entered into any transaction identified as a "listed transaction" within the meaning of Sections 1.6011-4(b)(2) or 301.6111-2(b)(2) of the Treasury Regulations, or any similar provision of state, local, or foreign law.
- (j) Neither Parent nor any of its Subsidiaries has taken or agreed to take any action or knows of any fact or circumstance that could reasonably be expected to prevent or impede the Merger from qualifying as a "reorganization" within the meaning of Section 368(a) of the Code.
- (k) Neither Parent nor any of its Subsidiaries is a party to any gain recognition agreement under Section 367 of the Code (and any analogous provision of state, local or foreign law) that is currently in effect.

- (l) Neither Parent nor any of its Subsidiaries has ever had any permanent establishment or other fixed place of business in, or been a resident of, any country other than in its country of formation. Parent and each of its Subsidiaries are and have at all times been resident for Tax purposes in their country of incorporation or formation and are not and have not at any time been treated as resident in any other country for any Tax purpose (including any arrangement for the avoidance of double Taxation).
- (m) Parent and each of its Subsidiaries are in compliance in all material respects with all applicable transfer pricing laws and regulations, including the execution and maintenance of contemporaneous documentation substantiating the transfer pricing practices and methodology of the Company and its Subsidiaries.
- (n) No written notice of a claim or pending investigation has ever been received by Parent or any of its Subsidiaries from any Taxing authority in any jurisdiction where either Parent or any of its Subsidiaries does not file Tax Returns or pay Taxes asserting that Parent or any of its Subsidiaries is or may be subject to Taxes in that jurisdiction or may have a duty to file Tax Returns in that jurisdiction.
- (o) Parent and each of its Subsidiaries are in compliance with the requirements for any applicable Tax holidays or incentives and none of the Tax holidays or incentives will be jeopardized by the transactions pursuant to this Agreement.

### Section 3.13 Employee and Labor Matters; Benefit Plans.

- (a) The employment of each of Parent and Subsidiary of Parent employees is terminable by Parent or the applicable Subsidiary of Parent at will and, except as set forth in Part 3.13(a) of the Parent Disclosure Schedule, no employees are subject to any contract with the Company, except with respect to noncompetition, confidentiality and assignment of inventions. Parent has made available to the Company accurate and complete copies of all employee manuals and handbooks, disclosure materials, policy statements and other materials relating to the employment of Parent Associates to the extent currently effective and material.
- (b) Part 3.13(b) of the Parent Disclosure Schedule contains a complete and accurate list of all of the current employees of Parent describing for each employee the position, whether classified as exempt or non-exempt for wage and hour purposes, date of hire, business location, annual base salary, whether paid on a salary, hourly or commission basis and the actual rates of compensation, bonus potential, status (i.e. active or inactive and if inactive the type of leave and estimated duration), and the total amount of bonus, severance and other amounts to be paid to such employee at the Closing or otherwise in connection with the transactions contemplated herein. Part 3.13(b) of the Parent Disclosure Schedule contains a complete and accurate list of all the current material independent contractors, consultants, temporary employees, leased employees or other agents employed or used with respect to the operation of the business of Parent and classified by Parent as other than employees or compensated other than through wages paid by the Parent through its payroll department and reported on a form W-4 ("Contingent Workers"), showing for each Contingent Worker such individual's role in the business and fee or compensation arrangements.
- (c) To the Knowledge of Parent, no officer or Key Employee of Parent or any Subsidiary of Parent has threatened or expressed in writing any intention to terminate his or her employment.
- (d) Neither Parent nor any Subsidiary of Parent is a party to, bound by, nor has a duty to bargain under, any collective bargaining agreement or other Contract with a labor organization representing any of its employees, and there are no labor organizations representing, purporting to represent or, to the Knowledge of Parent, seeking to represent any employees of Parent or any Subsidiary of Parent.

- (e) No labor dispute, walk out, strike, hand billing, picketing of any nature, or work stoppage or any other concerted interference with normal operations involving the employees of Parent or Subsidiary of the Parent has occurred, is in progress or, to the Knowledge of Parent, has been threatened in the three (3) years prior to the date hereof.
- (f) Part 3.13(f) of the Parent Disclosure Schedule lists all material written (and describes all material non-written) employee benefit plans (as defined in Section 3(3) of ERISA, whether or not subject to ERISA) and all bonus, equity-based, incentive, deferred compensation, retention, pension, retirement or supplemental retirement, profit sharing, severance, change in control, golden parachute, vacation, cafeteria, dependent care, medical care, employee assistance program, education or tuition assistance programs and other similar compensation, fringe or employee benefit plans, programs or arrangements, including any employment or executive compensation or severance agreements, with or for the benefit of any present or former employee or director of Parent or any Subsidiary which is maintained by, administered or contributed to by, or required to be contributed to by, Parent, or any ERISA Affiliate, or under which Parent or any Subsidiary has any current or contingent liability (each, a "Parent Employee Plan").
- (g) Each Parent Employee Plan that is intended to be qualified under Section 401(a) of the Code has received a favorable determination or approval letter from the Internal Revenue Service with respect to such qualified status, or may rely on an opinion letter issued by the Internal Revenue Service with respect to a prototype plan adopted in accordance with the requirements of such reliance. To the Knowledge of Parent, nothing has occurred that would reasonably be expected to adversely affect the qualified status of any such Parent Employee Plan or the exempt status of any related trust.
- (h) Each Parent Employee Plan has been maintained in compliance, in all material respects, with its terms and, both as to form and operation, with all applicable Legal Requirements, including without limitation, the Code and ERISA.
- (i) No Parent Employee Plan nor any employee benefit plan maintained, contributed to, or required to be contributed to by an ERISA Affiliate or Subsidiary of Parent (i) is subject to Title IV or Section 302 of ERISA or Section 412 of the Code, and neither Parent nor any Subsidiary of Parent or ERISA Affiliates has ever maintained, contributed to or partially or completely withdrawn from, or incurred any obligation or liability that has not been paid in full with respect to, any such plan or (ii) is a Multiemployer Plan, and neither Parent nor any Subsidiary of Parent or ERISA Affiliates has ever contributed to or had an obligation to contribute, or incurred any liability with respect to any Multiemployer Plan. No Parent Employee Plan is a Multiple Employer Plan.
- (j) No Parent Employee Plan provides for medical or any other non-pension benefits beyond termination of service or retirement, other than pursuant to COBRA or an analogous state law requirement and Parent has never promised to provide such post-termination benefits.

- (k) With respect to Parent Options granted pursuant to the Parent Stock Plans, (i) each grant of a Parent Option was duly authorized no later than the Grant Date by all necessary corporate action, including, as applicable, approval by the board of directors of Parent (or a duly constituted and authorized committee thereof) and any required stockholder approval by the necessary number of votes or written consents, and the award agreement governing such grant (if any) was duly executed and delivered by each party thereto, (ii) each Parent Option grant was made in accordance with the terms of the Parent Stock Plans and all other applicable Legal Requirements, including the rules of the NASDAQ Global Market and any other exchange on which Parent securities are traded, (iii) the per share exercise price of each Parent Option was equal to the fair market value of a share of Parent Common Stock on the applicable Grant Date and i) each such Parent Option grant was properly accounted for in accordance with GAAP in the financial statements (including the related notes) of Parent and disclosed in Parent filings with the SEC in accordance with the Exchange Act and all other applicable Legal Requirements.
- (l) Except as set forth on Part 3.13(l) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, neither the negotiation or execution of this Agreement nor the consummation of the Contemplated Transactions will, either alone or in combination with another event, (i) entitle any current or former employee or officer of Parent or any ERISA Affiliate to severance pay, unemployment compensation or any other payment, or (ii) accelerate the time of payment or vesting, or increase the amount of compensation due to any such employee or officer. Neither Parent nor any Subsidiary of Parent is a party to any Contract that has resulted or would reasonably be expected to result, separately or in the aggregate, in the payment of (i) any "excess parachute payment" within the meaning of Section 280G of the Code and (ii) any amount the deduction for which would be disallowed under Section 162(m) of the Code.
- (m) To the Knowledge of Parent, no payment pursuant to any Parent Employee Plan or other arrangement to any "service provider" (as such term is defined in Section 409A of the Code and the United States Treasury Regulations and IRS guidance thereunder) to Parent or any Subsidiary of Parent, including the grant, vesting or exercise of any stock option, would subject any Person to Tax pursuant to Section 409A(1) of the Code, whether pursuant to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or otherwise.
- (n) Parent and each Subsidiary of Parent is in material compliance with all applicable foreign, federal, state and local laws, rules and regulations respecting employment, employment practices, terms and conditions of employment, worker classification, Tax withholding, prohibited discrimination, equal employment, fair employment practices, meal and rest periods, immigration status, employee safety and health, wages (including overtime wages), compensation, and hours of work, and in each case in all material respects, with respect to employees: (i) has withheld and reported all amounts required by law or by agreement to be withheld and reported with respect to wages, salaries and other payments to employees; (ii) is not liable for any arrears of wages, severance pay or any Taxes or any penalty for failure to comply with any of the foregoing; and (iii) is not liable for any payment to any trust or other fund governed by or maintained by or on behalf of any Governmental Body, with respect to unemployment compensation benefits, social security or other benefits or obligations for employees (other than routine payments to be made in the Ordinary Course of Business). There are no, and within the last three (3) years there have been no formal or informal grievances, complaints or charges with respect to employment or labor matters (including, without limitation, allegations of employment discrimination, retaliation or unfair labor practices) pending or threatened against Parent in any judicial, regulatory or administrative forum, under any private dispute resolution procedure or internally. None of the employment policies or practices of Parent are currently being audited or investigated, or to the knowledge of Parent, subject to imminent audit or investigation by any governmental authority. Neither Parent nor any Subsidiary is party to a conciliation agreement, consent decree or other agreement or order with any Governmental Body with respect to employment practices. Parent is in compliance with the requirements of t

- (o) There are no pending or threatened claims or actions against Parent, any Subsidiary of Parent, any Parent trustee or any trustee of any Subsidiary under any worker's compensation policy or long-term disability policy.
- (p) Part 3.13(p) of the Parent Disclosure Schedule lists all liabilities of Parent and its Subsidiaries to any employee that result from the termination by Parent or any Subsidiary of Parent of such employee's employment or provision of services, a change of control of Parent or any Subsidiary of Parent, or a combination thereof. Neither Parent nor any Subsidiary of Parent has any material liability with respect to any misclassification of: (i) any Person as an independent contractor rather than as an employee; (ii) any employee leased from another employer; or (iii) any employee currently or formerly classified as exempt from overtime wages.
- (q) Neither Parent nor any Subsidiary of Parent has taken any action which would constitute a "plant closing" or "mass layoff" within the meaning of the WARN Act or similar state or local law, issued any notification of a plant closing or mass layoff required by the WARN Act or similar state or local law, or incurred any liability or obligation under the WARN Act or any similar state or local law that remains unsatisfied. No planned terminations prior to the Closing would trigger any notice or other obligations under the WARN Act or similar state or local law.
- (r) Neither Parent nor its Subsidiaries has been engaged in any unfair labor practice within the meaning of the National Labor Relations Act. There is no material Legal Proceeding, claim, labor dispute or grievance pending or, to the Knowledge of Parent, threatened relating to any employment contract, privacy right, labor dispute, wages and hours, leave of absence, plant closing notification, workers' compensation policy, long-term disability policy, harassment, retaliation, immigration, employment statute or regulation, safety or discrimination matter involving any Parent Associate, including charges of unfair labor practices or discrimination complaints.
- (s) There is no contract, agreement, plan or arrangement to which Parent or any ERISA Affiliate is a party or by which it is bound to compensate any employee for Taxes paid pursuant to Sections 4999 or 409A of the Code.

Section 3.14 Environmental Matters. Parent and each Subsidiary of Parent is in compliance with all applicable Environmental Laws, which compliance includes the possession by Parent of all permits and other Governmental Authorizations required under applicable Environmental Laws and compliance with the terms and conditions thereof, except as has not had, and would not reasonably be expected to have, a Parent Material Adverse Effect. Neither Parent nor any Subsidiary of Parent has received since January 1, 2014 any written notice or other communication (in writing or otherwise), whether from a Governmental Body, citizens group, employee or otherwise, that alleges that Parent or any Subsidiary of Parent is not in compliance with any Environmental Law, and, to the Knowledge of Parent, there are no circumstances that may prevent or interfere with Parent's compliance with any Environmental Law in the future. To the Knowledge of Parent: (a) no current or prior owner of any property leased or controlled by Parent has received since January 1, 2014 any written notice or other communication relating to property owned or leased at any time by Parent, whether from a Governmental Body, citizens group, employee or otherwise, that alleges that such current or prior owner or Parent is not in compliance with or violated any Environmental Law relating to such property; and (b) it has no material liability under any Environmental Law.

### Section 3.15 Insurance.

- (a) Parent has made available to the Company accurate and complete copies of all material insurance policies and all material self-insurance programs and arrangements relating to the business, assets, liabilities and operations of Parent and each Subsidiary of Parent. Each of such insurance policies is in full force and effect and Parent and each Subsidiary of Parent are in material compliance with the terms thereof. Other than customary end of policy notifications from insurance carriers, since January 1, 2014, neither Parent nor any Subsidiary of Parent has received any notice or other communication regarding any actual or possible: (i) cancellation or invalidation of any insurance policy; (ii) refusal or denial of any coverage, reservation of rights or rejection of any material claim under any insurance policy; or (iii) material adjustment in the amount of the premiums payable with respect to any insurance policy. There is no pending workers' compensation or other claim under or based upon any insurance policy of Parent or any Subsidiary of Parent. All information provided to insurance carriers (in applications and otherwise) on behalf of Parent and each of its Subsidiaries was, as of the date of such provision, accurate and complete in all material respects. Parent and each of its Subsidiaries has provided timely written notice to the appropriate insurance carrier(s) of each Legal Proceeding pending or threatened in writing against Parent or any Subsidiary of Parent, and no such carrier has issued a denial of coverage or a reservation of rights with respect to any such Legal Proceeding, or informed Parent or any Subsidiary of Parent of its intent to do so.
- (b) Parent has made available to the Company accurate and complete copies of the existing policies (primary and excess) of directors' and officers' liability insurance maintained by Parent and each of its Subsidiaries as of the date of this Agreement (the "Existing Parent D&O Policies").

  Part 3.15(b) of the Parent Disclosure Schedule accurately sets forth the most recent annual premiums paid by Parent with respect to the Existing Parent D&O Policies.
- Section 3.16 <u>Transactions with Affiliates</u>. Since the date of Parent's last proxy statement filed in 2017 with the SEC, no event has occurred that would be required to be reported by Parent pursuant to Item 404 of Regulation S-K promulgated by the SEC.

## Section 3.17 Legal Proceedings; Orders.

(a) There is no pending Legal Proceeding, and (to the Knowledge of Parent) no Person has threatened in writing to commence any Legal Proceeding: (i) that involves Parent or any Parent Associate (in his or her capacity as such) or any of the material assets owned or used by Parent; or (ii) that challenges, or that may have the effect of preventing, delaying, making illegal or otherwise interfering with, the Merger or any of the other Contemplated Transactions. To the Knowledge of Parent, no event has occurred, and no claim, dispute or other condition or circumstance exists, that will, or that would reasonably be expected to, give rise to or serve as a basis for the commencement of any such Legal Proceeding. With regard to any Legal Proceeding set forth on Part 3.17 of the Parent Disclosure Schedule, Parent has provided the Company or its counsel all pleadings related to such Legal Proceeding. Parent has complied with the requirements of each applicable insurance policy or policies to obtain coverage with respect to such Legal Proceeding under such insurance policy or policies.

(b) There is no order, writ, injunction, judgment or decree to which Parent or any Subsidiary of Parent, or any of the assets owned or used by Parent or any Subsidiary of Parent, is subject. To the Knowledge of Parent, no officer or other Key Employee of Parent or any Subsidiary of Parent is subject to any order, writ, injunction, judgment or decree that prohibits such officer or other employee from engaging in or continuing any conduct, activity or practice relating to the business of Parent or any Subsidiary of Parent or to any material assets owned or used by Parent or any Subsidiary of Parent.

Section 3.18 <u>Authority; Binding Nature of Agreement.</u> Parent and each of its Subsidiaries has all necessary corporate power and authority to enter into and to perform its obligations under this Agreement. Each of the Boards of Directors of Parent and Merger Sub has: (a) determined that the Merger is fair to, advisable and in the best interests of such Party and its stockholders; (b) duly authorized and approved by all necessary corporate action, the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the Contemplated Transactions, including the Merger; and (c) in the case of Parent, recommended the adoption and approval of this Agreement by the holders of Parent Common Stock and directed that this Agreement and the issuance of shares of Parent Common Stock in the Merger be submitted for consideration by Parent's stockholders at the Parent Stockholders' Meeting (as defined in <u>Section 5.3</u>). This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by Parent and Merger Sub, and assuming the due authorization, execution and delivery by the Company constitutes the legal, valid and binding obligation of Parent or Merger Sub (as applicable), enforceable against each of Parent and Merger Sub in accordance with its terms, subject to: (i) laws of general application relating to bankruptcy, insolvency and the relief of debtors; and (ii) rules of law governing specific performance, injunctive relief and other equitable remedies.

Section 3.19 <u>Inapplicability of Anti-takeover Statutes</u>. The Boards of Directors of Parent and Merger Sub have taken and will take all actions necessary to ensure that the restrictions applicable to business combinations contained in Section 203 of the DGCL (or any other similar provision under Cayman Law) are, and will be, inapplicable to the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and to the consummation of the Merger and the other Contemplated Transactions. No other state or foreign takeover statute or similar state or foreign Legal Requirement applies or purports to apply to the Merger, this Agreement or any of the other Contemplated Transactions.

Section 3.20 <u>Vote Required</u>. The affirmative vote (the "**Parent Stockholder Approval**") of the holders of a majority of the shares of Parent Common Stock outstanding is the only vote of the holders of any class or series of Parent's capital stock necessary to approve the issuance of Parent Common Stock in the Merger (the "**Required Parent Stockholder Vote**").

### Section 3.21 Non-Contravention; Consents.

(a) The execution and delivery of this Agreement by Parent does not, and the consummation by Parent of the Contemplated Transactions will not, (i) conflict with, or result in any violation or breach of, any provision of the certificate of incorporation or bylaws of Parent or of the memorandum and articles of association, charter, bylaws, or other organizational document of any Subsidiary of Parent, (ii) conflict with, or result in any violation or breach of, or constitute (with or without notice or lapse of time, or both) a default (or give rise to a right of termination, cancellation or acceleration of any obligation or loss of any material benefit) under, require a consent or waiver under, constitute a change in control under, require the payment of a material penalty under or result in the imposition of any Encumbrances on Parent's or any of

its Subsidiaries' assets under, any of the terms, conditions or provisions of any Contract to which Parent or any of its Subsidiaries is a party or by which any of them or any of their properties or assets may be bound, or (iii) subject to obtaining Parent Stockholder Approval and subject to the consents, approvals and authorizations specified in clauses (i) through (v) of Section 3.21(b) having been obtained prior to the Effective Time and all filings and notifications described in Section 3.21(b) having been made, conflict with or violate any Legal Requirement applicable to Parent or any of its Subsidiaries or any of its or their properties or assets, except in the case of clauses (ii) and (iii) of this Section 3.21(a) for any such conflicts, violations, breaches, rights of termination, Encumbrances, penalties, defaults, terminations, cancellations, accelerations or losses that have not had, and would not reasonably be expected to result in, a Parent Material Adverse Effect. Part 3.21(a) of the Parent Disclosure Schedule lists all consents, waivers and approvals under any Parent license or Contract to which Parent or any of its Subsidiaries is a party or by which any of them or any of their properties or assets may be bound required to be obtained in connection with the consummation of the Contemplated Transactions, the absence of which has not had, and would not reasonably be expected to result in, a Parent Material Adverse Effect.

(b) No consent, approval, license, permit, order or authorization of, or registration, declaration, notice or filing with, any Governmental Body is required by or with respect to Parent or any of its Subsidiaries in connection with the execution and delivery of this Agreement by Parent or the consummation by Parent of the Contemplated Transactions, except for (i) obtaining the Parent Stockholder Approval, (ii) the filing of the Certificate of Merger with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware and appropriate corresponding documents with the appropriate authorities of other states in which Parent is qualified as a foreign corporation to transact business, (iii) any filings required to be made with the SEC in connection with this Agreement and the Contemplated Transactions, (iv) such consents, approvals, orders, authorizations, registrations, declarations, notices and filings as may be required under applicable state securities laws, the rules and regulations of The NASDAQ Stock Market, the U.S. Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, and Antitrust Laws and (v) such other consents, licenses, permits, orders, authorizations, filings, approvals and registrations which, if not obtained or made, have not had, and would not reasonably be expected to result in, a Parent Material Adverse Effect.

Section 3.22 <u>No Financial Advisor</u>. No broker, finder or investment banker is entitled to any brokerage fee, finder's fee, opinion fee, success fee, transaction fee or other fee or commission in connection with the Merger or any of the other Contemplated Transactions based upon arrangements made by or on behalf of Parent or any Subsidiary of Parent.

Section 3.23 <u>Disclosure</u>. The information supplied by Parent and each of its Subsidiaries for inclusion in the Proxy Statement (including the consolidated financial statements of Parent contained therein or incorporated by reference to the Parent SEC Documents) will not, as of the date of the Proxy Statement, (a) contain any statement that is inaccurate or misleading with respect to any material facts or (b) omit to state any material fact necessary in order to make such information, in the light of the circumstances under which such information will be provided, not false or misleading.

Section 3.24 <u>Valid Issuance</u>. The Parent Common Stock to be issued in the Merger, when issued in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement, will have been duly authorized and will be validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable. The Parent Common Stock that, effective upon Closing, will be issuable upon exercise of Company Options and/or Company Warrants assumed in the Contemplated Transactions, pursuant to <u>Section 5.5</u> of this Agreement, will have been duly authorized and reserved for issuance.

### ARTICLE IV

### **CERTAIN COVENANTS OF THE PARTIES**

Section 4.1 Access and Investigation. Subject to the terms of the Confidentiality Agreement, which the Parties agree will continue in full force following the date of this Agreement, during the period commencing on the date of this Agreement and ending at the earlier of the termination of this Agreement pursuant to Article IX and the Effective Time (the "Pre-Closing Period"), upon reasonable notice each Party shall, and shall use commercially reasonable efforts to cause such Party's Representatives to: (a) provide the other Party and such other Party's Representatives with reasonable access during normal business hours to such Party's Representatives, personnel and assets and to all existing books, records, Tax Returns, work papers and other documents and information relating to such Party and its Subsidiaries; (b) provide the other Party and such other Party's Representatives with such copies of the existing books, records, Tax Returns, work papers, product data, and other documents and information relating to such Party and its Subsidiaries, and with such additional financial, operating and other data and information regarding such Party and its Subsidiaries as the other Party may reasonably request; and (c) permit the other Party's officers and other employees to meet, upon reasonable notice and during normal business hours, with the chief financial officer and other officers and managers of such Party responsible for such Party's financial statements and the internal controls of such Party to discuss such matters as the other Party may deem necessary or appropriate in order to enable the other Party to satisfy its obligations under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and the rules and regulations relating thereto. Without limiting the generality of any of the foregoing, during the Pre-Closing Period, each Party shall promptly make available to the other Party copies of:

- (i) any written materials or communications sent by or on behalf of a Party to its stockholders;
- (ii) any notice, report or other document filed with or otherwise furnished, submitted or sent to any Governmental Body on behalf of a Party in connection with the Merger or any of the Contemplated Transactions;
- (iii) any material non-privileged notice, document or other communication sent by or on behalf of, or sent to, a Party relating to any pending or threatened Legal Proceeding involving or affecting such Party; and
  - (iv) any material notice, report or other document received by a Party from any Governmental Body.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, any Party may restrict the foregoing access to the extent that any Legal Requirement applicable to such Party requires such Party to restrict or prohibit access to any such properties or information or as may be necessary to preserve the attorney-client privilege under any circumstances in which such privilege may be jeopardized by such disclosure or access.

### Section 4.2 Operation of Parent's Business.

- (a) Except as set forth on Part 4.2 of the Parent Disclosure Schedule, during the Pre-Closing Period: (i) Parent shall conduct its business and operations: (A) in the Ordinary Course of Business; and (B) in compliance with all applicable Legal Requirements and the requirements of all Contracts that constitute Parent Material Contracts; and (ii) Parent shall promptly notify the Company of: (A) any written notice or other written communication from any Person alleging that the Consent of such Person is or may be required in connection with any of the Contemplated Transactions; (B) any Legal Proceeding against, relating to, involving or otherwise affecting Parent or any Subsidiary of Parent that is commenced, or, to the Knowledge of Parent, threatened in writing against, Parent, any Subsidiary of Parent or (to the Knowledge of Parent) any director, officer or Key Employee of Parent or any Subsidiary of Parent after the date of the Merger Agreement; and (C) any written notice or other written communication from any Person alleging that any payment or other obligation is or will be owed to such party at any time before or after the date of this Agreement, except for invoices or other communications related to Contracts or dealings in the Ordinary Course of Business.
- (b) During the Pre-Closing Period, Parent shall promptly notify the Company in writing, by delivering an updated Parent Disclosure Schedule, of: (i) the discovery by Parent of any event, condition, fact or circumstance that occurred, arose or existed on or prior to the date of this Agreement and that caused or constitutes a material inaccuracy in any representation or warranty made by Parent in this Agreement; (ii) any event, condition, fact or circumstance that occurs, arises or exists after the date of this Agreement and that would cause or constitute a material inaccuracy in any representation or warranty made by Parent in this Agreement if: (A) such representation or warranty had been made as of the time of the occurrence, existence or discovery of such event, condition, fact or circumstance; or (B) such event, condition, fact or circumstance had occurred, arisen or existed on or prior to the date of this Agreement; (iii) any material breach of any covenant or obligation of Parent; and (iv) any event, condition, fact or circumstance that could reasonably be expected to make the timely satisfaction of any of the conditions set forth in Article VI, Article VII and Article VIII impossible or materially less likely. No notification given to the Company pursuant to this Section 4.2(b) shall change, limit or otherwise affect any of the representations, warranties, covenants or obligations of Parent contained in this Agreement or the Parent Disclosure Schedule for purposes of Section 8.1.

### Section 4.3 Operation of the Company's Business.

(a) Except as set forth on Part 4.3 of the Company Disclosure Schedule, during the Pre-Closing Period: (i) the Company and each Subsidiary of the Company shall conduct its business and operations: (A) in the Ordinary Course of Business; and (B) in compliance with all applicable Legal Requirements and the requirements of all Contracts that constitute Company Material Contracts; and (ii) the Company shall promptly notify Parent of: (A) any written notice or other written communication from any Person alleging that the Consent of such Person is or may be required in connection with any of the Contemplated Transactions; and (B) any Legal Proceeding against, relating to, involving or otherwise affecting the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company that is commenced, or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened in writing against, the Company, any Subsidiary of the Company or (to the Knowledge of the Company) any director, officer or Key Employee of the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company.

(b) During the Pre-Closing Period, the Company shall promptly notify Parent in writing, by delivery of an updated Company Disclosure Schedule, of: (i) the discovery by the Company of any event, condition, fact or circumstance that occurred, arose or existed on or prior to the date of this Agreement and that caused or constitutes a material inaccuracy in any representation or warranty made by the Company in this Agreement; (ii) any event, condition, fact or circumstance that occurs, arises or exists after the date of this Agreement and that would cause or constitute a material inaccuracy in any representation or warranty made by the Company in this Agreement if: (A) such representation or warranty had been made as of the time of the occurrence, existence or discovery of such event, condition, fact or circumstance; or (B) such event, condition, fact or circumstance had occurred, arisen or existed on or prior to the date of this Agreement; (iii) any material breach of any covenant or obligation of the Company; and (iv) any event, condition, fact or circumstance that could reasonably be expected to make the timely satisfaction of any of the conditions set forth in Article VI, Article VII and Article VIII impossible or materially less likely. No notification given to Parent pursuant to this Section 4.3(b) shall change, limit or otherwise affect any of the representations, warranties, covenants or obligations of the Company contained in this Agreement or the Company Disclosure Schedule for purposes of Section 7.1.

### Section 4.4 Negative Obligations.

- (a) Except (i) as expressly contemplated or permitted by this Agreement, (ii) as set forth in Part 4.4(a) of the Parent Disclosure Schedule, (iii) as required by applicable Legal Requirements or (iv) with the prior written consent of the Company (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld), at all times during the Pre-Closing Period, Parent shall not, nor shall it cause or permit any Subsidiary of Parent to, do any of the following:
  - (i) declare, accrue, set aside or pay any dividend or make any other distribution in respect of any shares of capital stock; or repurchase, redeem or otherwise reacquire any shares of capital stock or other securities (except for shares of Parent Common Stock from terminated employees of Parent or its Subsidiaries, and provided that such repurchase is at the lower of the current fair value or the original cost basis for such shares);
  - (ii) other than as contemplated by the Contemplated Transactions, sell, issue, grant, authorize the issuance of, or make any commitments to sell, issue, grant or authorize the issuance of: (A) any capital stock or other security (except for shares of Parent Common Stock issued upon the valid exercise of outstanding Parent Options and vesting of restricted stock units, each of which shall be subject to the adjustments contemplated in the definition of "Fully-Diluted Basis"); (B) any option, warrant or right to acquire any capital stock or any other security (other than as permitted by clause (A) above); or (C) any instrument convertible into or exchangeable for any capital stock or other security (other than as permitted by clause (A) above);
  - (iii) amend the certificate of incorporation, bylaws, memorandum and articles of association or other charter or organizational documents of Parent or any Subsidiary of Parent, or effect or be a party to any merger, consolidation, share exchange, business combination, recapitalization, reclassification of shares, stock split, reverse stock split or similar transaction except as related to the Contemplated Transactions;
    - (iv) form any new Subsidiary or acquire any equity interest or other interest in any other Entity;

- (v) lend money to any Person; incur or guarantee any indebtedness for borrowed money; issue or sell any debt securities or options, warrants, calls or other rights to acquire any debt securities; guarantee any debt securities of others; or make capital expenditures or commitments in excess of \$100,000 individually or \$250,000 in the aggregate, other than in the Ordinary Course of Business;
- (vi) (A) adopt, establish or enter into any Parent Employee Plan; (B) cause or permit any Parent Employee Plan to be amended other than as required by law or in order to make amendments for the purposes of Section 409A of the Code, subject to prior review and approval (with such approval not to be unreasonably withheld) by the Company; (C) pay or establish any bonus or any profit-sharing or similar payment to, or increase the amount of the wages, salary, commissions, benefits or other compensation or remuneration payable to, any of its directors or employees; (D) accelerate the vesting of any compensation or benefit; (E) hire or promote any employee; or (F) grant any severance, retention, termination or similar payments or benefits to any individual;
  - (vii) enter into any material transaction outside the Ordinary Course of Business;
- (viii) acquire any material asset, sell, lease other otherwise irrevocably dispose of any of its material assets or properties or grant any Encumbrance with respect to such assets or properties;
- (ix) make any changes in accounting methods, principles or practices, except insofar as may have been required by the SEC or a change in GAAP or, except as so required, change any assumption underlying, or method of calculating, any bad debt, contingency or other reserve;
- (x) change any annual Tax accounting period; enter into any Tax allocation agreement, Tax sharing agreement or Tax indemnity agreement; other than pursuant to customary indemnifications for Taxes contained in credit or other commercial agreements no principal purpose of which relates to Taxes or Tax Returns enter into any closing agreement with respect to any Tax; settle or compromise any claim, audit or assessment in respect of material Taxes; apply for or enter into any ruling from any Tax authority with respect to Taxes; or consent to any extension or waiver of the statute of limitations period applicable to any material Tax claim or assessment; or
  - (xi) enter into, amend or terminate any Parent Material Contract;
  - (xii) initiate, compromise or settle any Legal Proceeding;
  - (xiii) fail to pay accounts payable and other obligations in the Ordinary Course of Business; or
- (xiv) agree to take, take or permit any Subsidiary of Parent to take or agree to take, any of the actions specified in clauses (i) through (x) of this Section 4.4(a).

- (b) Except (i) as expressly contemplated or permitted by this Agreement, (ii) as set forth in Part 4.4(b) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, (iii) as required by applicable Legal Requirements or (iv) with the prior written consent of Parent (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld), at all times during the Pre-Closing Period, the Company shall not, nor shall it cause or permit any Subsidiary of the Company to, do any of the following:
  - (i) declare, accrue, set aside or pay any dividend or make any other distribution in respect of any shares of capital stock or share capital; or repurchase, redeem or otherwise reacquire any shares of capital stock or share capital or other securities (except for shares of Company Ordinary Shares from terminated employees of the Company or its Subsidiaries, and provided that such repurchase is at the lower of the current fair value or the original cost basis for such shares);
  - (ii) amend the memorandum and articles of association, charter, bylaws or other organizational documents of the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company, or effect or be a party to any merger, consolidation, share exchange, business combination, recapitalization, reclassification of shares, stock or share split, reverse stock or share split or similar transaction, except as related to the Contemplated Transactions;
  - (iii) other than as contemplated by the Contemplated Transactions, sell, issue, grant, authorize the issuance of, or make any commitments to sell, issue, grant or authorize the issuance of: (A) any capital stock or share capital or other security (except for Company Ordinary Shares issued upon the valid exercise of outstanding Company Options and vesting of restricted share units, each of which shall be subject to the adjustments contemplated in the definition of "Fully-Diluted Basis"); (B) any option, warrant or right to acquire any capital stock or share capital or any other security (other than as permitted by clause (A) above); or (C) any instrument convertible into or exchangeable for any capital stock or share capital or other security (other than as permitted by clause (A) above);
    - (iv) form any Subsidiary or acquire any equity interest or other interest in any other Entity;
  - (v) lend money to any Person; incur or guarantee any indebtedness for borrowed money; issue or sell any debt securities or options, warrants, calls or other rights to acquire any debt securities; guarantee any debt securities of others; or make capital expenditures or commitments (excluding any such expenditures or commitments to the extent set forth in the Company's fiscal 2017 or fiscal 2018 operating budget) in excess of \$100,000 individually or \$250,000 in the aggregate, other than in the Ordinary Course of Business;;
  - (vi) (A) adopt, establish or enter into any Company Employee Plan; (B) cause or permit any Company Employee Plan to be amended other than as required by law or in order to make amendments for the purposes of Section 409A of the Code, subject to prior review and approval (with such approval not to be unreasonably withheld) by Parent; (C) pay or establish any bonus or any profit-sharing or similar payment to, or increase the amount of the wages, salary, commissions, benefits or other compensation or remuneration payable to, any of its directors, officers or employees; (D) accelerate the vesting of any compensation or benefit; (E) hire or promote any employee; or (F) grant any severance, retention, termination or similar payments or benefits to any individual;

- (vii) enter into any material transaction outside the Ordinary Course of Business;
- (viii) acquire any material asset, sell, lease or otherwise irrevocably dispose of any of its material assets or properties or grant any Encumbrance with respect to such assets or properties;
- (ix) make any changes in accounting methods, principles or practices, except insofar as may have been required by the SEC or a change in GAAP or, except as so required, change any assumption underlying, or method of calculating, any bad debt, contingency or other reserve;
- (x) change any annual Tax accounting period; enter into any Tax allocation agreement, Tax sharing agreement or Tax indemnity agreement; enter into any closing agreement with respect to any Tax; settle or compromise any claim, audit or assessment in respect of material Taxes; apply for or enter into any ruling from any Tax authority with respect to Taxes;; or consent to any extension or waiver of the statute of limitations period applicable to any material Tax claim or assessment;
  - (xi) enter into, amend or terminate any Company Material Contract;
  - (xii) initiate, compromise or settle any Legal Proceeding;
  - (xiii) fail to pay accounts payable and other obligations in the Ordinary Course of Business; or
- (xiv) agree to take, take or permit any Subsidiary of the Company to take or agree to take, any of the actions specified in clauses (i) through (x) of this Section 4.4(b).

### Section 4.5 Mutual Non-Solicitation.

- (a) No Solicitation by the Company.
- (i) Unless and until this Agreement is terminated in accordance with the provisions of Article IX, without the prior written consent of Parent, none of the Company, any of its Subsidiaries or any Representative of any of the Company or its Subsidiaries shall directly or indirectly (A) initiate, solicit, seek or knowingly encourage or support any inquiries, proposals or offers that constitute or may reasonably be expected to lead to, a Company Acquisition Proposal (as defined below), (B) engage or participate in, or knowingly facilitate, any discussions or negotiations regarding, or furnish any nonpublic information to any Person in connection with, any inquiries, proposals or offers that constitute, or may reasonably be expected to lead to, a Company Acquisition Proposal, or (C) enter into any letter of intent, agreement in principle or other similar type of agreement relating to a Company Acquisition Proposal, or enter into any agreement or agreement in principle requiring the Company to abandon, terminate or fail to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby or resolve, propose or agree to do any of the foregoing.

- (iii) For purposes of this Agreement, "Company Acquisition Proposal" means any proposal, indication of interest or offer for (i) a merger (including a reverse merger), tender offer, recapitalization, reorganization, liquidation, dissolution, business combination, share exchange, arrangement or consolidation, or any similar transaction involving Company or its Subsidiaries, (ii) a sale, lease, exchange, mortgage, pledge, transfer or other acquisition of fifteen percent (15%) or more of the assets of the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, in one or a series of related transactions, or (iii) a purchase, tender offer or other acquisition (including by way of merger, consolidation, share exchange, arrangement, consolidation or otherwise) of beneficial ownership (the term "beneficial ownership" for purposes of this Agreement having the meaning assigned thereto in Section 13(d) of the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations thereunder) of securities representing fifteen percent (15%) or more of the voting power of the Company (including securities of the Company currently beneficially owned by such Person); provided, however, that the term "Company Acquisition Proposal" shall not include the Merger or the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement; and (iii) Except as otherwise provided in Section 4.5(a)(iv), neither the Board of Directors of the Company nor any committee of the Board of Directors of the Company shall fail to make, withhold, withdraw, amend, change or publicly propose to withhold, withdraw, amend or change in a manner adverse to Parent, the Company Board Recommendation, knowingly make any public statement inconsistent with such recommendation, fail to recommend against acceptance of a tender offer within ten (10) Business Days after commencement, propose publicly to approve, adopt or recommend any Company Acquisition Proposal, or make any public statement inconsistent with its recommendation.
- (iv) Nothing in this <u>Section 4.5</u> shall prohibit the Board of Directors of the Company from making any disclosure to the shareholders of the Company, if, in the good faith judgment of the Board of Directors of the Company, after consultation with its outside legal counsel, such disclosure would be required to comply with its fiduciary duties under applicable Legal Requirements.

# (b) No Solicitation by Parent.

(i) Unless and until this Agreement is terminated in accordance with the provisions of Article IX, without the prior written consent of Company, none of Parent, its Subsidiaries or any Representative of Parent or any of its Subsidiaries shall directly or indirectly (A) initiate, solicit, seek or knowingly encourage or support any inquiries, proposals or offers that constitute or may reasonably be expected to lead to, a Parent Acquisition Proposal (as defined below), (B) engage or participate in, or knowingly facilitate, any discussions or negotiations regarding, or furnish any nonpublic information to any Person in connection with, any inquiries, proposals or offers that constitute, or may reasonably be expected to lead to, a Parent Acquisition Proposal, or (C) enter into any letter of intent, agreement in principle or other similar type of agreement relating to a Parent Acquisition Proposal, or enter into any agreement or agreement in principle requiring Parent to abandon, terminate or fail to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby or resolve, propose or agree to do any of the foregoing; provided, however, that prior to the approval of the Merger and issuance of the Parent Common Stock by Parent's stockholders at the Parent Stockholders' Meeting, Parent may take the following actions in response to an unsolicited bona fide written Parent Acquisition Proposal received after the date hereof that the Board of Directors of Parent has determined, in good faith, after consultation with its outside counsel and independent financial advisors, constitutes, or would reasonably be expected to lead to, a Parent Superior Offer: (1) furnish nonpublic information regarding

Parent to the third party making the Parent Acquisition Proposal (a "Parent Qualified Bidder"); and (2) engage in discussions or negotiations with the Parent Qualified Bidder and its representatives with respect to such Parent Acquisition Proposal; provided that (w) Parent receives from the Parent Qualified Bidder an executed confidentiality agreement the terms of which are not less restrictive to such Person than those contained in the Confidentiality Agreement, and containing additional provisions that expressly permit Parent to comply with the terms of this Section 4.5 (a copy of such confidentiality agreement shall promptly, and in any event within twenty-four (24) hours, be provided to the Company for informational purposes only), (x) Parent contemporaneously supplies to the Company any such nonpublic information or access to any such nonpublic information to the extent it has not been previously provided or made available to the Company, (y) Parent has not breached this Section 4.5, and (z) the Board of Directors of Parent determines in good faith, after consultation with its outside legal counsel, that taking such actions would be required to comply with the fiduciary duties of the Board of Directors of Parent under applicable Legal Requirements.

(ii) For purposes of this Agreement,

A. "Parent Acquisition Proposal" means any proposal, indication of interest or offer for (i) a merger (including a reverse merger), tender offer, recapitalization, reorganization, liquidation, dissolution, business combination, share exchange, arrangement or consolidation, or any similar transaction involving Parent or its Subsidiaries, (ii) a sale, lease, exchange, mortgage, pledge, transfer or other acquisition of fifteen percent (15%) or more of the assets of Parent and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, in one or a series of related transactions, or (iii) a purchase, tender offer or other acquisition (including by way of merger, consolidation, share exchange, arrangement, consolidation or otherwise) of beneficial ownership (the term "beneficial ownership" for purposes of this Agreement having the meaning assigned thereto in Section 13(d) of the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations thereunder) of securities representing fifteen percent (15%) or more of the voting power of Parent (including securities of Parent currently beneficially owned by such Person); provided, however, that the term "Parent Acquisition Proposal" shall not include the Merger or the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement; and

B. "Parent Superior Offer" shall mean an unsolicited bona fide Parent Acquisition Proposal (with all references to "fifteen percent (15%)" in the definition of Parent Acquisition Proposal being treated as references to "one hundred (100%)" for these purposes) made by a third party that the Board of Directors of Parent determines in good faith, after consultation with its outside legal counsel and financial advisor, and after taking into account all financial, legal, regulatory, and other aspects of such Parent Acquisition Proposal (including the financing terms and the ability of such third party to finance such Parent Acquisition Proposal), (1) is more favorable from a financial point of view to Parent's stockholders than as provided hereunder (including any changes to the terms of this Agreement proposed by the Company in response to such Parent Superior Offer pursuant to and in accordance with Section 4.5(b)(v) or otherwise), (2) is not subject to any financing condition (and if financing is required, such financing is then fully committed to the third party), (3) is reasonably capable of being completed on the terms proposed without unreasonable delay and (4) includes termination rights exercisable by Parent on terms no less favorable to Parent than the terms set forth in this Agreement, all from a third party capable of performing such terms.

- (iii) Except as otherwise provided in Section 4.5(b)(iv), neither the Board of Directors of Parent nor any committee of the Board of Directors of Parent shall fail to make, withhold, withdraw, amend, change or publicly propose to withhold, withdraw, amend or change in a manner adverse to the Company, the Parent Board Recommendation, knowingly make any public statement inconsistent with such recommendation, fail to recommend against acceptance of a tender offer within ten (10) Business Days after commencement, propose publicly to approve, adopt or recommend any Parent Acquisition Proposal, or make any public statement inconsistent with its recommendation (any action described in this sentence being referred to as a "Parent Change of Recommendation").
- (iv) Notwithstanding the foregoing, if at any time prior to the approval of the Merger and issuance of the Parent Common Stock by Parent's stockholders at the Parent Stockholders' Meeting, Parent receives a Parent Acquisition Proposal that the Board of Directors of Parent concludes in good faith, after consultation with its outside legal counsel and financial advisors, constitutes a Parent Superior Offer, and the Board of Directors of Parent determines in good faith (after consultation with outside legal counsel) that such Parent Change of Recommendation or entry into such definitive agreement would be required to comply with the fiduciary duties of the Board of Directors of Parent under applicable Legal Requirements, the Board of Directors of Parent may (i) effect a Parent Change of Recommendation, and/or (ii) enter into a definitive agreement with respect to such Parent Superior Offer and terminate this Agreement; provided, however that Parent shall not terminate this Agreement pursuant to the foregoing clause (ii), and any purported termination pursuant to the foregoing clause (ii) shall be void and of no force or effect, unless Parent has complied with this Section 4.5 and in advance of or concurrently with such termination Parent pays the fee set forth in Section 9.3; provided further, however, that such actions in the foregoing clauses (i) and (ii) may only be taken at a time that is after (A) the fifth (5th) Business Day following the Company's receipt of written notice from Parent that the Board of Directors of Parent and/or a committee thereof is prepared to take such action (which notice will specify the material terms of the applicable Parent Acquisition Proposal), and (B) at the end of such period, the Board of Directors of Parent and/or a committee thereof determines in good faith, after taking into account all amendments or revisions irrevocably committed to by the Company and after consultation with Parent's outside legal counsel and financial advisors, that such Parent Acquisition Proposal remains a Parent Superior Offer. During any such five (5) Business Day period, the Company shall be entitled to deliver to Parent one or more counterproposals to such Parent Acquisition Proposal, to which Parent shall negotiate in good faith.
- (v) Nothing in this <u>Section 4.5</u> shall prohibit Parent from complying with Rule 14e-2 or Rule 14d-9 promulgated under the Exchange Act with regard to a Parent Acquisition Proposal, respectively, or from the Board of Directors of Parent making any disclosure to Parent's stockholders if, in the good faith judgment of the Board of Directors of Parent, after consultation with its outside legal counsel, that taking such action or making such disclosure would be required to comply with its fiduciary duties under applicable Legal Requirements.
- (c) Both the Company and Parent shall notify the other no later than twenty-four (24) hours after receipt of any inquiries, discussions, negotiations, proposals or expressions of interest with respect to a Company Acquisition Proposal or Parent Acquisition Proposal, respectively, and any such notice shall be made orally and in writing and shall indicate in reasonable detail the terms and conditions of such proposal, inquiry or contact, including price, and the identity of the offeror. Both the Company and Parent shall keep the other informed, on a current basis, of the status and material developments (including any changes to the terms) of such Company Acquisition Proposal or Parent Acquisition Proposal, respectively.

(d) The Company and Parent shall, and shall cause each of their respective Subsidiaries and their respective Representatives to, immediately cease and cause to be terminated any and all existing activities, discussions or negotiations with any Person conducted heretofore with respect to, or that may reasonably be expected to lead to, a Company Acquisition Proposal or Parent Acquisition Proposal.

### ARTICLE V

### ADDITIONAL AGREEMENTS OF THE PARTIES

### Section 5.1 Proxy Statement.

- (a) As promptly as practicable after the date of this Agreement, and in any event no later than ten Business Days after the Company shall have delivered the Company Public Company Financials to Parent, Parent shall prepare and cause to be filed with the SEC the Proxy Statement. Parent shall use commercially reasonable efforts to cause the Proxy Statement to comply with the applicable rules and regulations promulgated by the SEC and to respond promptly to any comments of the SEC or its staff. Parent shall use commercially reasonable efforts to cause the Proxy Statement to be mailed to Parent's stockholders as promptly as practicable after the Proxy Statement has been filed with the SEC and either (i) the SEC has indicated that it does not intend to review the Proxy Statement or that its review of the Proxy Statement has been completed or (ii) at least ten calendar days shall have passed since the Proxy Statement was filed with the SEC without receiving any correspondence from the SEC commenting upon, or indicating that it intends to review, the Proxy Statement. Each Party shall promptly furnish to the other Party all information concerning such Party, its Subsidiaries and its stockholders that may be required or reasonably requested in connection with any action contemplated by this Section 5.1. If any event relating to the Company occurs, or if the Company becomes aware of any information, that should be disclosed in an amendment or supplement to the Proxy Statement, then the Company shall promptly inform Parent thereof and shall cooperate fully with Parent in filing such amendment or supplement with the SEC and, if appropriate, in mailing such amendment or supplement to the SEC in connection with the Proxy Statement and all of its own legal, accounting, proxy solicitation, printing and mailing costs and other amounts related thereto.
- (b) Prior to the Effective Time, Parent shall use commercially reasonable efforts to ensure that the issuance of the Parent Common Stock in the Merger will be exempt from registration pursuant to Section 4(2) of the Securities Act and from registration or qualification requirements under applicable state securities laws.

### Section 5.2 Company Shareholder Approval.

(a) The Company shall take all action necessary in accordance with all applicable Legal Requirements and the Company memorandum and articles of association, charter, bylaws and other organizational documents to call, give notice of, convene and hold a meeting of the Company Shareholders to consider and vote on proposals to adopt and approve this Agreement, the Merger and the other Contemplated Transactions (the "Company Stockholder Meeting") sufficient to obtain the Company Shareholder Approval by 11:59 P.M. New York time on September 22, 2017.

- (b) The Company agrees that (i) the Company's Board of Directors shall recommend that the holders of Company Ordinary Shares and Company Preferred Shares take action by written consent or vote to approve the Merger and shall use commercially reasonable efforts to solicit such approval within the timeframe set forth in Section 5.2(a) above, (ii) the statement of information provided to the holders of Company Ordinary Shares and Company Preferred Shares shall include a statement to the effect that the Board of Directors of the Company recommends that the Company's shareholders take action by written consent to approve the Merger (the recommendation of the Company's Board of Directors that the Company's shareholders approve the Merger being referred to as the "Company Board Recommendation"); and (iii) the Company Board Recommendation shall not be withdrawn or modified in a manner adverse to Parent, and no resolution by the Board of Directors of the Company or any committee thereof to withdraw or modify the Company Board Recommendation in a manner adverse to Parent shall be adopted or proposed.
- (c) The Company's obligations under <u>Section 5.2(a)</u> and <u>Section 5.2(b)</u> shall not be limited or otherwise affected by the commencement, disclosure, announcement or submission of any Company Acquisition Proposal, or by any withdrawal or modification of the Company Board Recommendation.

### Section 5.3 Parent Stockholders' Meeting.

- (a) Parent shall take all action necessary under applicable Legal Requirements to call, give notice of and hold a meeting of the holders of Parent Common Stock to vote on the issuance of Parent Common Stock in the Merger (such meeting, the "Parent Stockholders' Meeting"). The Parent Stockholders' Meeting shall be held as promptly as practicable after the Proxy Statement is filed with the SEC and either (i) the SEC has indicated either that it does not intend to review the Proxy Statement or that its review of the Proxy Statement has been completed, or (ii) at least ten calendar days shall have passed since the Proxy Statement was filed with the SEC without receiving any correspondence from the SEC commenting upon or indicating that it intends to review the Proxy Statement. Parent shall use reasonable best efforts to ensure that all proxies solicited in connection with the Parent Stockholders' Meeting are solicited in compliance with all applicable Legal Requirements.
- (b) Parent agrees that, subject to Section 5.3(c): (i) Parent's Board of Directors shall recommend that the holders of Parent Common Stock vote to approve the issuance of Parent Common Stock in the Merger and shall use commercially reasonable efforts to solicit such approval within the timeframe set forth in Section 5.3(a) above, (ii) the Proxy Statement shall include a statement to the effect that the Board of Directors of Parent recommends that Parent's stockholders vote to approve the issuance of Parent Common Stock in the Merger (the recommendation of Parent's Board of Directors that Parent's stockholders vote to approve the issuance of Parent Common Stock in the Merger being referred to as the "Parent Board Recommendation"); and (iii) the Parent Board Recommendation shall not be withdrawn or modified in a manner adverse to the Company, and no resolution by the Board of Directors of Parent or any committee thereof to withdraw or modify the Parent Board Recommendation in a manner adverse to the Company shall be adopted or proposed.

- (c) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in Section 5.3(b), at any time prior to the approval of the issuance of Parent Common Stock in the Merger by the stockholders of Parent by the Required Parent Stockholder Vote, Parent's Board of Directors may withhold, amend, withdraw or modify the Parent Board Recommendation in a manner adverse to the Company if, but only if Parent's Board of Directors determines in good faith, based on such matters as it deems relevant following consultation with its outside legal counsel and financial advisors, that the failure to withhold, amend, withdraw or modify such recommendation would be inconsistent with its fiduciary duties under applicable Legal Requirements.
- (d) Parent's obligation to call, give notice of and hold the Parent Stockholders' Meeting in accordance with Section 5.3(a) or solicit the Parent Stockholder Approval in accordance with Section 5.3(b) shall not be limited or otherwise affected by any withdrawal or modification of the Parent Board Recommendation.
- (e) Nothing contained in this Agreement shall prohibit Parent or its Board of Directors from complying with Rules 14d-9 and 14e-2(a) promulgated under the Exchange Act; <u>provided however</u>, that any disclosure made by Parent or its Board of Directors pursuant to Rules 14d-9 and 14e-2(a) shall be limited to a statement that Parent is unable to take a position with respect to the bidder's tender offer unless Parent's Board of Directors determines in good faith, after consultation with its outside legal counsel, that such statement would result in a breach of its fiduciary duties under applicable Legal Requirements. Parent shall not withdraw or modify in a manner adverse to the Company the Parent Board Recommendation unless specifically permitted pursuant to the terms of <u>Section 5.3(c)</u>.

Section 5.4 Regulatory Approvals. Each Party shall use reasonable best efforts to file or otherwise submit, as soon as practicable after the date of this Agreement, all applications, notices, reports and other documents reasonably required to be filed by such Party with, or otherwise submitted by such Party to, any Governmental Body with respect to the Merger and the other Contemplated Transactions, and to submit promptly any additional information requested by any such Governmental Body. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Parties shall, as promptly as practicable but in no event later than ten Business Days from the date of this Agreement, prepare and file any required Notification and Report Forms required under the Hart Scott Rodino Act of 1976, as amended ("HSR Act"), and shall promptly file within 20 days of the date of this Agreement any other notification or other document required to be filed in connection with the Merger under any applicable foreign Legal Requirement relating to antitrust or competition matters. The Company and Parent shall use reasonable best efforts to respond as promptly as is practicable to respond in compliance with: (i) any inquiries or requests received from the Federal Trade Commission or the Department of Justice for information or documentation; and (ii) any inquiries or requests received from any state attorney general. foreign antitrust or competition authority or other Governmental Body in connection with antitrust or competition matters relating to the Contemplated Transactions (together, "Antitrust Proceedings"). The Parties shall also consult and cooperate with one another, and consider in good faith the views of one another, in connection with, and provide to the other parties in advance, any analyses, appearances, presentations, memoranda, briefs, arguments, opinions and proposals made or submitted by or on behalf of any Party in connection with proceedings under or relating to any Antitrust Proceedings. Without limiting the foregoing, the Parties agree to (i) give each other reasonable advance notice of all meetings with any Governmental Bodies relating to any Antitrust Proceedings, (ii) give each other an opportunity to participate in each of such meetings, (iii) to the extent practicable, give each other reasonable advance notice of all substantive oral communications with any Governmental Body relating to any Antitrust Proceeding, (iv) if any Governmental Body initiates a substantive oral communication regarding any Antitrust Proceedings, promptly notify the other party of the substance of such

communication, (v) provide each other with a reasonable advance opportunity to review and comment upon all written communications (including any analyses, presentations, memoranda, briefs, arguments, opinions and proposals) with a Governmental Body regarding any Antitrust Proceeding and (vi) provide each other with copies of all written communications to or from any Governmental Body relating to any Antitrust Proceedings. Any such disclosures or provision of copies by one party to the other may be made on an outside counsel basis if appropriate. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, each of the Company and Parent agrees, and shall cause each of its Subsidiaries, subject to Section 5.7(b), to use reasonable best efforts to obtain any consents, clearances or approvals required under or in connection with the HSR Act, the Federal Trade Commission Act and any other federal, state or foreign law, regulation or decree designed to prohibit, restrict or regulate actions for the purpose or effect of monopolization or restraint of trade or the significant impediment of effective competition (collectively "Antitrust Laws"), to enable all waiting periods under applicable Antitrust Laws to expire, and to avoid or eliminate each and every impediment under applicable Antitrust Laws asserted by any Governmental Body, in each case, to cause the Contemplated Transactions to be consummated as soon as reasonably practicable. The Company, on the one hand, and Parent on the other hand, shall each pay 50% of all filing fees under the HSR Act and other applicable Antitrust Laws.

### Section 5.5 Company Options.

(a) At the Effective Time, each Company Option that is outstanding and unexercised immediately prior to the Effective Time, whether or not vested, shall be converted into and become an option to purchase Parent Common Stock, and Parent shall assume the Company Share Option Plans and each such Company Option in accordance with its terms (as in effect as of the date of this Agreement). All rights with respect to Company Ordinary Shares under Company Options assumed by Parent shall thereupon be converted into rights with respect to Parent Common Stock. Accordingly, from and after the Effective Time: (i) each Company Option assumed by Parent may be exercised solely for shares of Parent Common Stock; (ii) the number of shares of Parent Common Stock subject to each Company Option assumed by Parent shall be determined by multiplying (A) the number of Company Ordinary Shares that were subject to such Company Option, as in effect immediately prior to the Effective Time by (B) the Exchange Ratio and rounding the resulting number down to the nearest whole number of shares of Parent Common Stock; (iii) the per share exercise price for the Parent Common Stock issuable upon exercise of each Company Option assumed by Parent shall be determined by dividing (A) the per share exercise price of Company Ordinary Shares subject to such Company Option, as in effect immediately prior to the Effective Time, by (B) the Exchange Ratio and rounding the resulting exercise price up to the nearest whole cent; and (iv) any restriction on the exercise of any Company Option assumed by Parent shall continue in full force and effect and the term, exercisability, vesting schedule and other provisions of such Company Option shall otherwise remain unchanged; provided, however, that: (A) to the extent provided under the terms of a Company Option, such Company Option assumed by Parent in accordance with this Section 5.5(a) shall, in accordance with its terms, be subject to further adjustment as appropriate to reflect any stock split, division or subdivision of shares, stock dividend, reverse stock split, consolidation of shares, reclassification, recapitalization or other similar transaction with respect to Parent Common Stock subsequent to the Effective Time; and (B) Parent's Board of Directors or a committee thereof shall succeed to the authority and responsibility of Company's Board of Directors or any committee thereof with respect to each Company Option assumed by Parent. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Section 5.5(a), the conversion of each Company Option (regardless of whether such option qualifies as an "incentive stock option" within the meaning of Section 422 of the Code) into an option to purchase shares of Parent Common Stock shall be made in a manner consistent with Treasury Regulation Section 1.424-1, such that the conversion of a Company Option shall not constitute a "modification" of such Company Option for purposes of Section 409A or Section 424 of the Code.

- (b) Parent shall file with the SEC, promptly following the Effective Time, a registration statement on Form S-8, if available for use by Parent, relating to the shares of Parent Common Stock issuable with respect to Company Options assumed by Parent in accordance with Section 5.5(a).
- (c) Prior to the Effective Time, the Company shall take all actions that may be necessary (under the Company Share Option Plans and otherwise) to effectuate the provisions of this <u>Section 5.5</u> and to ensure that, from and after the Effective Time, holders of Company Options have no rights with respect thereto other than those specifically provided in this <u>Section 5.5</u>.

### Section 5.6 Indemnification of Officers and Directors.

- (a) From the Effective Time through the sixth anniversary of the date on which the Effective Time occurs, each of Parent and the Surviving Corporation shall, jointly and severally, indemnify and hold harmless each person who is now, or has been at any time prior to the date hereof, or who becomes prior to the Effective Time, a director or officer of Parent or the Company (the "D&O Indemnified Parties"), against all claims, losses, liabilities, damages, judgments, fines and reasonable fees, costs and expenses, including attorneys' fees and disbursements, incurred in connection with any claim, action, suit, proceeding or investigation, whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative, arising out of or pertaining to the fact that the D&O Indemnified Party is or was a director or officer of Parent or the Company, whether asserted or claimed prior to, at or after the Effective Time, relating to acts or omissions taken prior to the Effective Time to the fullest extent permitted under the DGCL or Cayman Law for directors or officers of Delaware corporations or Cayman Island companies, as applicable. Each D&O Indemnified Party will be entitled to advancement of expenses incurred in the defense of any such claim, action, suit, proceeding or investigation from each of Parent and the Surviving Corporation, jointly and severally, upon receipt by Parent or the Surviving Corporation from the D&O Indemnified Party of a request therefor; provided that any person to whom expenses are advanced provides an undertaking, to the extent then required by the DGCL or Cayman Law to repay such advances if it is ultimately determined that such person is not entitled to indemnification.
- (b) The certificate of incorporation and bylaws of each of Parent and the memorandum and articles of association Surviving Corporation shall contain, and Parent shall cause the memorandum and articles of association of the Surviving Corporation to so contain, provisions no less favorable with respect to indemnification, advancement of expenses and exculpation of present and former directors and officers of each of Parent and the Company than are presently set forth in the certificate of incorporation and bylaws (or equivalent organizational documents) of Parent and the memorandum and articles of association of Company, as applicable, which provisions shall not be amended, modified or repealed for a period of six years from the Effective Time in a manner that would adversely affect the rights thereunder of individuals who, at or prior to the Effective Time, were officers or directors of Parent or the Company.

- (c) Each of Parent and the Company shall purchase an insurance policy, with an effective date as of the Closing, which maintains in effect for six years from the Closing the current directors' and officers' liability insurance policies maintained by Parent and the Company (provided that each of Parent and the Company may substitute therefor policies of at least the same coverage containing terms and conditions that are not less favorable in any material respect); provided, however, that in no event shall Parent and the Company be required to expend pursuant to this Section 5.6(c) more than an amount equal to 200% of the respective current annual premiums paid by Parent and the Company for such insurance.
- (d) Parent shall maintain directors' and officers' liability insurance policies, with an effective date as of the Closing, on commercially available terms and conditions and with coverage limits customary for U.S. public companies similarly situated to Parent.
- (e) Parent shall pay all expenses, including reasonable attorneys' fees, that may be incurred by the persons referred to in this <u>Section 5.6</u> in connection with their enforcement of their rights provided in this <u>Section 5.6</u> but if and only if and to the extent that such persons are successful on the merits of such enforcement action.
- (f) The provisions of this <u>Section 5.6</u> are intended to be in addition to the rights otherwise available to the D&O Indemnified Parties by law, charter, statute, bylaw or agreement, and shall operate for the benefit of, and shall be enforceable by, each of the D&O Indemnified Parties, their heirs and their representatives.
- (g) In the event Parent or the Surviving Corporation or any of their respective successors or assigns (i) consolidates with or merges into any other person and shall not be the continuing or surviving corporation or entity of such consolidation or merger, or (ii) transfers all or substantially all of its properties and assets to any Person, then, and in each such case, proper provision shall be made so that the successors and assigns of Parent or the Surviving Corporation, as the case may be, shall succeed to the obligations set forth in this <u>Section 5.6</u>. Parent shall cause the Surviving Corporation to perform all of the obligations of the Surviving Corporation under this <u>Section 5.6</u>.

### Section 5.7 Additional Agreements.

- (a) Subject to Section 5.7(b), the Parties shall use reasonable best efforts to cause to be taken all actions necessary to consummate the Merger and make effective the other Contemplated Transactions. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, but subject to Section 5.7(b), each Party to this Agreement: (i) shall make all filings and other submissions (if any) and give all notices (if any) required to be made and given by such Party in connection with the Merger and the other Contemplated Transactions; (ii) shall use reasonable best efforts to obtain each Consent (if any) reasonably required to be obtained (pursuant to any applicable Legal Requirement or Contract, or otherwise) by such Party in connection with the Merger or any of the other Contemplated Transactions or for such Contract to remain in full force and effect; (iii) shall use reasonable best efforts to lift any injunction prohibiting, or any other legal bar to, the Merger or any of the other Contemplated Transactions; and (iv) shall use reasonable best efforts to satisfy the conditions precedent to the consummation of the Closing.
- (b) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, each of Company and Parent shall be obligated under this Agreement to use their reasonable best efforts: (i) to divest, dispose of or transfer or cause any of its Subsidiaries to dispose of or transfer any assets; (ii) to discontinue or cause any of its Subsidiaries to discontinue offering

any product or service; (iii) to hold separate or cause any of its Subsidiaries to hold separate any assets or operations (either before or after the Closing Date); (iv) to make or cause any of its Subsidiaries to proffer and make any undertaking or other commitment (to any Governmental Body or otherwise) regarding its future operations; or (v) to contest any Legal Proceeding or any order, writ, injunction or decree relating to the Merger or any of the other Contemplated Transactions, provided, however, that (y) such actions are necessary to consummate the Contemplated Transactions, and (z) no such action, either individually or in the aggregate, would be reasonably expected to result in a material adverse impact on any Party's expected benefits from the Contemplated Transactions.

Section 5.8 <u>Disclosure</u>. Without limiting any of either Party's obligations under the Confidentiality Agreement, each Party shall not, and shall not permit any of its Subsidiaries or any Representative of such Party to, issue any press release or make any disclosure (to any customers or employees of such Party, to the public or otherwise) regarding the Merger or any of the other Contemplated Transactions unless: (a) the other Party shall have approved such press release or disclosure in writing; or (b) such Party shall have determined in good faith, upon the advice of outside legal counsel, that such disclosure is required by applicable Legal Requirements and, to the extent practicable, before such press release or disclosure is issued or made, such Party advises the other Party of, and consults with the other Party regarding, the text of such press release or disclosure; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that each of the Company and Parent may make any public statement in response to specific questions by the press, analysts, investors or those attending industry conferences or financial analyst conference calls, so long as any such statements are consistent with previous press releases, public disclosures or public statements made by the Company or Parent in compliance with this <u>Section 5.8</u>.

Section 5.9 <u>Listing</u>. Parent shall use its reasonable best efforts to maintain its existing listing on the NASDAQ Global Market (or, alternatively, the NASDAQ Capital Market) and to cause the shares of Parent Common Stock being issued in the Merger, including the shares of Parent Common Stock issuable in connection with the assumption of Company Options, to be approved for listing (subject to notice of issuance) on the NASDAQ Global Market (or the NASDAQ Capital Market) at or prior to the Effective Time (the "NASDAQ Listing Application").

### Section 5.10 Tax Matters.

- (a) Parent, Merger Sub and the Company shall use their respective commercially reasonable efforts to cause the Merger to qualify, and agree not to, and not to permit or cause any affiliate or any subsidiary to, take any actions or cause any action to be taken that would reasonably be expected to prevent the Merger from qualifying, as a "reorganization" under Section 368(a) of the Code.
- (b) Parent, Merger Sub and the Company shall treat, and shall not take any Tax reporting position inconsistent with the treatment of, the Merger as a "reorganization" within the meaning of Section 368(a) of the Code for U.S. federal, state and other relevant Tax purposes, unless otherwise required pursuant to a "determination" within the meaning of Section 1313(a) of the Code.
- (c) The Parties shall cooperate and use their commercially reasonable efforts in order for the Company to obtain the opinion of Mayer Brown LLP, in form and substance reasonably acceptable to the Company, dated as of the Closing (the "Mayer Brown Tax Opinion"), and Parent to obtain the opinion of Goodwin Procter LLP, in form and substance

reasonably acceptable to Parent, dated as of the Closing (the "Goodwin Tax Opinion") to the effect that, on the basis of the facts, representations and assumptions set forth or referred to in such opinions, for U.S. federal income tax purposes, the Merger will constitute a reorganization within the meaning of Section 368(a) of the Code. The issuance of each of the Goodwin Tax Opinion and the Mayer Brown Tax Opinion shall be conditioned upon the receipt by each counsel of customary representation letters from each of Parent and Merger Sub, on the one hand, and the Company, on the other hand, in each case, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to such counsel. Each such representation letter shall be dated on or before the date of such opinion and shall not have been withdrawn or modified in any material respect.

Section 5.11 <u>Transaction Litigation</u>. Parent shall as promptly as reasonably practicable notify the Company in writing of, and shall give the Company the opportunity to participate in the defense and settlement of, any Transaction Litigation. Without otherwise limiting the D&O Indemnified Parties' rights with regard to the right to counsel, following the Effective Time, the D&O Indemnified Parties shall be entitled to continue to retain Goodwin or such other counsel selected by such D&O Indemnified Parties prior to the Effective Time to defend any Transaction Litigation.

Section 5.12 <u>Parent Employee Plans</u>. Each of the Company and Parent acknowledge that the transaction contemplated hereby shall constitute a "change in control" for purposes of each Parent Employee Plan that uses such term or a similar term. Prior to the Effective Time, Parent shall take all actions that may be necessary (under the Parent Employee Plans and otherwise) to effectuate the provisions of this Section 5.12 and to ensure that, without any action on the part of the holders thereof, each outstanding Parent Option and Restricted Stock Award shall become fully vested effective as the Effective Time.

Section 5.13 Other Proposals. If agreed upon by both Parent and the Company, Parent shall submit to Parent's stockholders at the Parent Stockholders' Meeting an amendment to Parent's certificate of incorporation to authorize the Board of Directors of Parent to effect a Reverse Stock Split. Parent shall submit to Parent's stockholders at the Parent Stockholders' Meeting an amendment to Parent's certificate of incorporation to provide for the term of office for each director to expire at each of Parent's subsequent annual meetings of stockholders (the "Board Declassification)".

Section 5.14 <u>Board of Directors and Officers of Parent</u>. Subject to any Legal Requirement, at and immediately after the Effective Time, initial directors to serve on the board of directors of Parent shall consist of up to seven individuals, two of whom shall be designated by Parent (and mutually agreeable to the Company) and the other five of whom shall be designated by the Company (until each of their respective successors are duly elected or appointed and qualified or their earlier death, resignation or removal). Prior to the Effective Time, Parent shall deliver to the Company the resignations of all members of the Parent board of directors and all officers of Parent who, following the Effective Time, will not continue to serve on the board of directors or as officers of Parent, as applicable.

Section 5.15 <u>Parent Convertible Notes</u>. Parent and the Company shall take all actions necessary to ensure that the Merger shall not constitute a "Fundamental Change" or "Make Whole Fundamental Change", each as defined in the indentures governing the Parent Convertible Notes.

Section 5.16 <u>Private Placement</u>. The Company shall use commercially reasonable efforts to take such actions and cause the holders of Company Share Capital to provide all documentation, including investor questionnaires, reasonably requested by Parent to allow Parent to issue the Parent Common Stock to such holders in a manner that satisfies the requirements of Rule 506 of Regulation D under the Securities Act or Rule 902 of Regulation S, including certifications to Parent: that either (a) (i) such holder is and will be, as of the Effective Time, an "accredited investor" (as such term is defined in Rule 501 of Regulation D under the Securities Act) and as to the basis on which such holder is an accredited investor; or (ii) such holder is not and will not be, as of the Effective Time, an "accredited investor", in which case such holder either alone or with such holder's purchaser representative has such knowledge and experience in financial and business matters that such holder is capable of evaluating the merits and risks of the Parent Common Stock; and (iii) that the Parent Common Stock is being acquired for such holder's account for investment only and not with a view towards, or with any intention of, a distribution or resale thereof for at least a period of six (6) months following the Closing or (b) such holder is not a "U.S. person" within the meaning of Regulation S, Rule 902, promulgated by the SEC under the Securities Act.

Section 5.17 <u>Cooperation</u>. Each Party shall cooperate reasonably with the other Party and shall provide the other Party with such assistance as may be reasonably requested for the purpose of facilitating the performance by each Party of their obligations under this Agreement and to enable the combined entity to continue to meet its obligations following the Closing.

### ARTICLE VI

### CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO OBLIGATIONS OF EACH PARTY

The obligations of each Party to effect the Merger and otherwise consummate the transactions to be consummated at the Closing are subject to the satisfaction or, to the extent permitted by applicable Legal Requirements, the written waiver by each of the Parties, at or prior to the Closing, of each of the following conditions:

Section 6.1 No Restraints. No temporary restraining order, preliminary or permanent injunction or other order preventing the consummation of the Merger shall have been issued by any court of competent jurisdiction or other Governmental Body and remain in effect, and there shall not be any Legal Requirement which has the effect of making the consummation of the Merger illegal.

Section 6.2 <u>Stockholder Approval</u>. This Agreement, the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement shall have been duly adopted and approved by the Required Company Shareholder Vote, and the issuance of the Parent Common Stock in the Merger shall have been duly approved by the Required Parent Stockholder Vote.

Section 6.3 <u>Regulatory M</u>atters. Any waiting period applicable to the consummation of the Merger under the HSR Act shall have expired or been terminated.

Section 6.4 NASDAQ Notification. The NASDAQ Listing Application shall have been approved.

#### ARTICLE VII

# ADDITIONAL CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO OBLIGATIONS OF PARENT AND MERGER SUB

The obligations of Parent and Merger Sub to effect the Merger and otherwise consummate the transactions to be consummated at the Closing are subject to the satisfaction or the written waiver by Parent, at or prior to the Closing, of each of the following conditions:

Section 7.1 <u>Accuracy of Representations</u>. The representations and warranties of the Company contained in this Agreement shall have been true and correct as of the date of this Agreement and shall be true and correct on and as of the Closing Date with the same force and effect as if made on the Closing Date except (a) individually or in the aggregate, where the failure to be true and correct has not had, and would not reasonably be expected to have, a Company Material Adverse Effect or (b) for those representations and warranties which address matters only as of a particular date (which representations shall have been true and correct, subject to the qualifications as set forth in the preceding <u>clause (a)</u>, as of such particular date) (it being understood that, for purposes of determining the accuracy of such representations and warranties, any update of or modification to the Company Disclosure Schedule made or purported to have been made after the date of this Agreement shall be disregarded); provided, however, that the representations and warranties made by the Company in <u>Section 2.1(a)</u>, <u>Section 2.1(b)</u>, <u>Section 2.17</u>, <u>Section 2.19</u> and <u>Section 2.21</u> shall not be subject to the qualification in the preceding clause (a); provided further, that the representations and warranties set forth in <u>Section 2.3(a)</u> shall be true and correct except for such inaccuracies as are in the aggregate de minimis.

- Section 7.2 <u>Performance of Covenants</u>. Each of the covenants and obligations in this Agreement that the Company is required to comply with or to perform at or prior to the Closing shall have been complied with and performed by the Company in all material respects.
- Section 7.3 <u>Consents</u>. Any Governmental Authorization or other Consent required to be obtained by the Company under any applicable antitrust or competition law or regulation or other Legal Requirement shall have been obtained and shall remain in full force and effect.
- Section 7.4 No Company Material Adverse Effect. Since the date of this Agreement, there shall not have occurred any Company Material Adverse Effect that is continuing.
- Section 7.5 <u>Officer Certificate</u>. Parent shall have received a certificate executed by the Chief Executive Officer of the Company confirming that the conditions set forth in <u>Section 7.1</u>, <u>Section 7.2</u> and <u>Section 7.4</u> have been duly satisfied.

### ARTICLE VIII

### ADDITIONAL CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO OBLIGATIONS OF THE COMPANY

The obligations of the Company to effect the Merger and otherwise consummate the transactions to be consummated at the Closing are subject to the satisfaction or the written wavier by the Company, at or prior to the Closing, of each of the following conditions:

Section 8.1 <u>Accuracy of Representations</u>. The representations and warranties of Parent and Merger Sub contained in this Agreement shall have been true and correct as of the date of this Agreement and shall be true and correct on and as of the Closing Date with the same force and effect as if made on the Closing Date except (a) individually, or in the aggregate, where the failure to be true and correct has not had, and would not reasonably be expected to have, a Parent Material Adverse Effect, or (b) for those representations and warranties which address matters only as of a particular date (which representations shall have

been true and correct, subject to the qualifications as set forth in the preceding <u>clause (a)</u>, as of such particular date) (it being understood that, for purposes of determining the accuracy of such representations and warranties, any update of or modification to the Parent Disclosure Schedule made or purported to have been made after the date of this Agreement shall be disregarded); provided, however, that the representations and warranties made by Parent in <u>Section 3.1(a)</u>, <u>Section 3.18</u>, <u>Section 3.20</u> and <u>Section 3.22</u> shall not be subject to the qualification in the preceding clause (a); provided further, that the representations and warranties set forth in <u>Section 3.3(a)</u> shall be true and correct except for such inaccuracies as are in the aggregate de minimis.

- Section 8.2 <u>Performance of Covenants</u>. All of the covenants and obligations in this Agreement that Parent or Merger Sub is required to comply with or to perform at or prior to the Closing shall have been complied with and performed in all material respects.
- Section 8.3 <u>Consents</u>. Any Governmental Authorization or other Consent required to be obtained by Parent under any applicable antitrust or competition law or regulation or other Legal Requirement shall have been obtained and shall remain in full force and effect.
- Section 8.4 No Parent Material Adverse Effect. Since the date of this Agreement, there shall not have occurred any Parent Material Adverse Effect that is continuing.
- Section 8.5 <u>Officer Certificate</u>. The Company shall have received the following documents a certificate executed by the Chief Executive Officer of Parent confirming that the conditions set forth in <u>Section 8.1</u> and <u>Section 8.2</u> have been duly satisfied.

### ARTICLE IX

### **TERMINATION**

- Section 9.1 <u>Termination</u>. This Agreement may be terminated prior to the Effective Time (whether before or after adoption of this Agreement by the Company's shareholders and whether before or after approval of the Merger and issuance of Parent Common Stock in the Merger by Parent's stockholders, unless otherwise specified below):
  - (a) by mutual written consent of Parent and the Company duly authorized by the Boards of Directors of Parent and the Company;
- (b) by either Parent or the Company if the Merger shall not have been consummated by March 15, 2018; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that the right to terminate this Agreement under this <u>Section 9.1(b)</u> shall not be available to any Party whose action or failure to act has been a principal cause of the failure of the Merger to occur on or before such date and such action or failure to act constitutes a breach of this Agreement;
- (c) by either Parent or the Company if a court of competent jurisdiction or other Governmental Authority shall have issued a final and non-appealable order, decree or ruling, or shall have taken any other action, having the effect of permanently restraining, enjoining or otherwise prohibiting the Merger;
  - (d) by Parent if the Company Shareholder Approval shall not have been obtained by 11:59 P.M. New York time on September 22, 2017;

(e) by either Parent or the Company if (i) the Parent Stockholders' Meeting (including any adjournments and postponements thereof) shall have been held and completed and Parent's stockholders shall have taken a final vote on the Merger, the Contemplated Transactions and the issuance of shares of Parent Common Stock in the Merger and (ii) the Merger, such transactions or any of the issuance of Parent Common Stock in the Merger shall not have been approved at the Parent Stockholders' Meeting (and shall not have been approved at any adjournment or postponement thereof) by the Parent Stockholder Approval; provided, however, that the right to terminate this Agreement under this Section 9.1(e) shall not be available to Parent where the failure to obtain the Parent Stockholder Approval shall have been caused by the action or failure to act of Parent and such action or failure to act constitutes a material breach by Parent of this Agreement;

(f) by the Company (at any time prior to the approval of the issuance of Parent Common Stock in the Merger by the Parent Stockholder Approval) if a Parent Change of Recommendation shall have occurred or Parent fails to include the Parent Board Recommendation in the Proxy Statement;

(g) by the Company, upon a breach of any representation, warranty, covenant or agreement on the part of Parent or Merger Sub set forth in this Agreement, or if any representation or warranty of Parent or Merger Sub shall have become inaccurate, in either case such that the conditions set forth in Section 8.1 and Section 8.2 would not be satisfied as of the time of such breach or as of the time such representation or warranty shall have become inaccurate, provided that if such inaccuracy in Parent's or Merger Sub's representations and warranties or breach by Parent or Merger Sub is curable by Parent or Merger Sub, then this Agreement shall not terminate pursuant to this Section 9.1(g) as a result of such particular breach or inaccuracy until the earlier of (i) the expiration of a 30 day period commencing upon delivery of written notice from Parent or Merger Sub to the Company of such breach or inaccuracy and (ii) Parent or Merger Sub (as applicable) ceasing to exercise commercially reasonable efforts to cure such breach (it being understood that this Agreement shall not terminate pursuant to this Section 9.1(g) as a result of such particular breach or inaccuracy if such breach by Parent or Merger Sub is cured prior to such termination becoming effective);

(h) by Parent, upon a breach of any representation, warranty, covenant or agreement on the part of the Company set forth in this Agreement, or if any representation or warranty of the Company shall have become inaccurate, in either case such that the conditions set forth in Section 7.1. or Section 7.2 would not be satisfied as of the time of such breach or as of the time such representation or warranty shall have become inaccurate, provided that if such inaccuracy in the Company's representations and warranties or breach by the Company is curable by the Company then this Agreement shall not terminate pursuant to this Section 9.1(h) as a result of such particular breach or inaccuracy until the earlier of (i) the expiration of a 30 day period commencing upon delivery of written notice from the Company to Parent of such breach or inaccuracy and (ii) the Company ceasing to exercise commercially reasonable efforts to cure such breach (it being understood that this Agreement shall not terminate pursuant to this Section 9.1(h) as a result of such particular breach or inaccuracy if such breach by the Company is cured prior to such termination becoming effective);

(i) by the Company, at any time prior to the receipt of the Company Shareholder Approval, in connection with the Company entering into a definitive agreement to effect a Company Superior Offer; or

(j) by Parent, at any time prior to the receipt of the Parent Stockholder Approval, in connection with Parent entering into a definitive agreement to effect a Parent Superior Offer.

Section 9.2 <u>Effect of Termination</u>. In the event of the termination of this Agreement as provided in <u>Section 9.1</u>, this Agreement shall be of no further force or effect; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that (i) the last sentence of <u>Section 5.1(a)</u>, this <u>Section 9.2</u>, <u>Section 9.3</u>, and <u>Article X</u> shall survive the termination of this Agreement and shall remain in full force and effect, and (ii) the termination of this Agreement shall not relieve any Party from any liability for any material breach of any representation, warranty, covenant, obligation or other provision contained in this Agreement or for fraud.

### Section 9.3 Expenses; Termination Fees.

- (a) Except as otherwise set forth in this Agreement, all fees and expenses incurred in connection with this Agreement and the Contemplated Transactions shall be paid by the Party incurring such expenses, whether or not the Merger is consummated.
- (b) Parent shall pay to the Company, within ten (10) Business Days after termination of the Agreement, a nonrefundable fee in an amount equal to \$2,000,000 (the "**Termination Fee**") in the event of the termination of this Agreement:
  - (i) by Parent pursuant to Section 9.1(j);
  - (ii) by the Company pursuant to Section 9.1(f); or
  - (iii) by Parent or the Company, as applicable, pursuant to Section 9.1(b) or Section 9.1(e) and, in the case of termination pursuant to Section 9.1(b), prior to the termination of this Agreement, or in the case of termination pursuant to Section 9.1(e), prior to the Parent Stockholders' Meeting, any person publicly makes a Parent Acquisition Proposal or amends a Parent Acquisition Proposal made prior to the date of this Agreement and, within 12 months after such termination, Parent enters into a definitive agreement to consummate, or consummates, any Parent Acquisition Proposal (regardless of whether made before or after the termination of this Agreement); provided that for purposes of this Section 9.3(b)(iii), the references to 15% in the definition of Parent Acquisition Proposal shall be deemed to be 50%.
- (c) The Company shall pay to Parent, within ten (10) Business Days after termination of the Agreement, the Termination Fee in the event of the termination of this Agreement by Parent pursuant to Section 9.1(d).
- (d) In the event this agreement is terminated by the Company pursuant to <u>Section 9.1(e)</u>, then Parent shall pay, or cause to be paid, to the Company out-of-pocket fees and expenses, incurred by or on behalf of the person entitled to payment, in connection with the preparation, negotiation, execution and performance of this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby in an amount not to exceed \$500,000 (the "Expense Reimbursement Amount") promptly, and in any event not more than two business days following such termination; <u>provided</u> that the payment by Parent of the Expense Reimbursement Amount pursuant to this <u>Section 9.3(d)</u> shall be credited against any Termination Fee payable by Parent hereunder.

(e) If either Party fails to pay when due any amount payable by such Party under this Section 9.3 or then (i) such Party shall reimburse the other Party for reasonable costs and expenses (including reasonable fees and disbursements of counsel) incurred in connection with the collection of such overdue amount and the enforcement by the other Party of its rights under this Section 9.3, and (ii) such Party shall pay to the other Party interest on such overdue amount (for the period commencing as of the date such overdue amount was originally required to be paid and ending on the date such overdue amount is actually paid to the other Party in full) at a rate per annum equal to the "prime rate" (as announced by Bank of America or any successor thereto) in effect on the date such overdue amount was originally required to be paid.

### ARTICLE X

### MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

Section 10.1 Non-Survival of Representations and Warranties. The representations and warranties of the Company, Merger Sub and Parent contained in this Agreement or any certificate or instrument delivered pursuant to this Agreement shall terminate at the Effective Time, and only the covenants that by their terms survive the Effective Time and this Article X shall survive the Effective Time. Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing shall limit any Party from making any claims in respect of fraud.

Section 10.2 <u>Amendment</u>. This Agreement may be amended with the approval of the respective Boards of Directors of the Company, Merger Sub and Parent at any time (whether before or after the adoption and approval of this Agreement by the Company's shareholders or before or after the approval of the issuance of shares of Parent Common Stock in the Merger); <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that after any such adoption and approval of this Agreement by a Party's stockholders or shareholders, no amendment shall be made which by law requires further approval of the stockholders or shareholders of such Party without the further approval of such stockholders. This Agreement may not be amended except by an instrument in writing signed on behalf of each of the Company and Parent.

### Section 10.3 Waiver.

- (a) No failure on the part of any Party to exercise any power, right, privilege or remedy under this Agreement, and no delay on the part of any Party in exercising any power, right, privilege or remedy under this Agreement, shall operate as a waiver of such power, right, privilege or remedy; and no single or partial exercise of any such power, right, privilege or remedy shall preclude any other or further exercise thereof or of any other power, right, privilege or remedy.
- (b) No Party shall be deemed to have waived any claim arising out of this Agreement, or any power, right, privilege or remedy under this Agreement, unless the waiver of such claim, power, right, privilege or remedy is expressly set forth in a written instrument duly executed and delivered on behalf of such Party; and any such waiver shall not be applicable or have any effect except in the specific instance in which it is given.

Section 10.4 Entire Agreement; Counterparts; Exchanges by Facsimile. This Agreement and the other agreements referred to in this Agreement constitute the entire agreement and supersede all prior agreements and understandings, both written and oral, among or between any of the Parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and thereof;

provided, however, that the Confidentiality Agreement shall not be superseded and shall remain in full force and effect in accordance with its terms. This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original and all of which shall constitute one and the same instrument. The exchange of a fully executed Agreement (in counterparts or otherwise) by all Parties by facsimile or electronic transmission via ".pdf" shall be sufficient to bind the Parties to the terms and conditions of this Agreement.

Section 10.5 <u>Applicable Law; Jurisdiction</u>. This Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of Delaware, regardless of the laws that might otherwise govern under applicable principles of conflicts of laws, except as otherwise required by Cayman Law. In any action or proceeding between any of the Parties arising out of or relating to this Agreement or any of the Contemplated Transactions: (a) each of the Parties irrevocably and unconditionally consents and submits to the exclusive jurisdiction and venue of the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware, or, to the extent such court does not have subject matter jurisdiction, the Superior Court of the State of Delaware or the United States District Court for the District of Delaware; (b) agrees that all claims in respect of such action or proceeding shall be heard and determined exclusively in accordance with clause (a) of this Section 10.5; (c) waives any objection to laying venue in any such action or proceeding in such courts; (d) waives any objection that such courts are an inconvenient forum or do not have jurisdiction over any Party; (e) agrees that service of process upon such Party in any such action or proceeding shall be effective if notice is given in accordance with Section 10.7; and (f) each of the Parties irrevocably waives the right to trial by jury.

Section 10.6 <u>Assignability</u>. This Agreement shall be binding upon, and shall be enforceable by and inure solely to the benefit of, the Parties and their respective successors and assigns; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that neither this Agreement nor any of a Party's rights or obligations hereunder may be assigned or delegated by such Party without the prior written consent of the other Party, and any attempted assignment or delegation of this Agreement or any of such rights or obligations by such Party without the other Party's prior written consent shall be void and of no effect. Nothing in this Agreement, express or implied, is intended to or shall confer upon any Person (other than: (a) the Parties; and (b) the D&O Indemnified Parties to the extent of their respective rights pursuant to <u>Section 5.6</u>) any right, benefit or remedy of any nature whatsoever under or by reason of this Agreement.

Section 10.7 Notices. Any notice or other communication required or permitted to be delivered to any Party under this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be deemed properly delivered, given and received when delivered by hand, by registered mail, by courier or express delivery service or by email (via PDF attachment) to the address or email address set forth beneath the name of such Party below (or to such other address or facsimile telephone number as such Party shall have specified in a written notice given to the other Parties):

if to Parent or Merger Sub:

c/o Inotek Pharmaceuticals Corporation 91 Hartwell Avenue Lexington, MA 02421 Telephone No.: (781) 676-2100 Attention: David Southwell Dale Ritter

Email: DPSouthwell@inotekpharma.com DRitter@inotekpharma.com

with a copy to (which shall not constitute notice):

Goodwin Procter LLP 100 Northern Avenue Boston, MA 02210

Telephone No.: (617) 570-1055 Attention: Mitchell Bloom Edwin O'Connor

Andrew Goodman
Email: MBloom@goodwinlaw.com
EOConnor@goodwinlaw.com
AGoodman@goodwinlaw.com

### if to the Company:

Rocket Pharmaceuticals, Ltd. 430 East 29th Street Suite 1040 New York, NY 10016 Telephone: (646) 440-9100

Email: gs@rocketpharma.com

Attention: Gaurav Shah, Chief Executive Officer

with a copy to (which shall not constitute notice):

Gibson, Dunn & Crutcher, LLP 555 Mission Street, Suite 3000 San Francisco, California 94105 Telephone: (415) 393-8200 Attention: Ryan A. Murr Email: RMurr@gibsondunn.com

Section 10.8 <u>Cooperation</u>. Each Party agrees to cooperate fully with the other Party and to execute and deliver such further documents, certificates, agreements and instruments and to take such other actions as may be reasonably requested by the other Party to evidence or reflect the Contemplated Transactions and to carry out the intent and purposes of this Agreement.

Section 10.9 Severability. Any term or provision of this Agreement that is invalid or unenforceable in any situation in any jurisdiction shall not affect the validity or enforceability of the remaining terms and provisions of this Agreement or the validity or enforceability of the offending term or provision in any other situation or in any other jurisdiction. If a final judgment of a court of competent jurisdiction declares that any term or provision of this Agreement is invalid or unenforceable, the Parties agree that the court making such determination shall have the power to limit such term or provision, to delete specific words or phrases or to replace such term or provision with a term or provision that is valid and enforceable and that comes closest to expressing the intention of the invalid or unenforceable term or provision, and this Agreement shall be valid and enforceable as so modified. In the event such court does not exercise the power granted to it in the prior sentence, the Parties agree to replace such invalid or unenforceable term or provision with a valid and enforceable term or provision that will achieve, to the extent possible, the economic, business and other purposes of such invalid or unenforceable term or provision.

Section 10.10 Other Remedies; Specific Performance. Except as otherwise provided herein, any and all remedies herein expressly conferred upon a Party will be deemed cumulative with and not exclusive of any other remedy conferred hereby, or by law or equity upon such Party, and the exercise by a Party of any one remedy will not preclude the exercise of any other remedy. The Parties agree that irreparable damage would occur in the event that any of the provisions of this Agreement were not performed in accordance with their specific terms or were otherwise breached. It is accordingly agreed that the Parties shall be entitled to seek an injunction or injunctions to prevent breaches of this Agreement and to enforce specifically the terms and provisions hereof in any court of the United States or any state having jurisdiction, this being the addition to any other remedy to which they are entitled at law or in equity.

### Section 10.11 Construction.

- (a) For purposes of this Agreement, whenever the context requires: the singular number shall include the plural, and vice versa; the masculine gender shall include the feminine and neuter genders; the feminine gender shall include the masculine and neuter genders; and the neuter gender shall include masculine and feminine genders.
- (b) The Parties agree that they have been represented by counsel during the negotiation, preparation and execution of this Agreement and, therefore, waive the application of any applicable Legal Requirement, holding or rule of construction providing that ambiguities in an agreement or other document will be construed against the Party drafting such agreement or document.
- (c) As used in this Agreement, the words "include" and "including," and variations thereof, shall not be deemed to be terms of limitation, but rather shall be deemed to be followed by the words "without limitation."
  - (d) The use of the word "or" shall not be exclusive.
- (e) Except as otherwise indicated, all references in this Agreement to "Sections," "Exhibits" and "Schedules" are intended to refer to Sections of this Agreement and Exhibits and Schedules to this Agreement, respectively.
- (f) The phrases "provided to," "furnished to," "made available" and phrases of similar import when used herein, unless the context otherwise requires, means that a copy of the information or material referred to has been provided to the Party to which such information or material is to be provided in the virtual data room set up by the providing Party in connection with this Agreement prior to the date hereof.
- (g) References to any specific Governmental Authority or Governmental Body means and includes any successor Governmental Authority or Governmental Body to the one cited.

- (h) References to any legislation or to any provision of any legislation shall include any modification, amendment, re-enactment thereof, any legislative provision substituted therefor and all rules, regulations and statutory instruments issued or related to such legislation.
- (i) The bold-faced headings contained in this Agreement are for convenience of reference only, shall not be deemed to be a part of this Agreement and shall not be referred to in connection with the construction or interpretation of this Agreement.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have caused this Agreement to be executed as of the date first above written.

# INOTEK PHARMACEUTICALS CORPORATION

By: /s/ David P. Southwell

Name: David P. Southwell

Title: President and Chief Executive Officer

### ROME MERGER SUB

By: /s/ David P. Southwell

Name: David P. Southwell

Title: President

# ROCKET PHARMACEUTICALS, LTD.

/s/ Gaurav Shah

Name: Gaurav Shah
Title: Chief Executive Officer

[SIGNATURE PAGE TO AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER AND REORGANIZATION]

By:

### **EXHIBIT A**

### **CERTAIN DEFINITIONS**

For purposes of the Agreement (including this Exhibit A):

- "Adjusted Aggregate Valuation" shall mean the sum of (a) the Company Stipulated Valuation, minus (b) the difference between the Adjusted Lower Target Net Cash and Lower Target Net Cash (if any), plus (c) the difference between the Adjusted Upper Target Net Cash and the Upper Target Net Cash (if any) plus (d) the Parent Stipulated Valuation.
  - "Adjusted Lower Target Net Cash" shall mean any amount that is less than the Lower Target Net Cash.
- "Adjusted Parent Valuation" shall mean the sum of (a) the Parent Stipulated Valuation, minus (b) the difference between the Adjusted Lower Target Net Cash and the Lower Target Net Cash (if any) plus (c) the difference between the Adjusted Upper Target Net Cash and the Upper Target Net Cash (if any).
  - "Adjusted Upper Target Net Cash" shall mean the amount, if any, that Net Cash is greater than the Upper Target Net Cash.
- "Business Day" shall mean any day other than Saturday, Sunday or any day on which banks in the State of New York are authorized or obligated to be closed.
  - "Cayman Law" shall mean the Companies Law (as revised) of the Cayman Islands.
- "COBRA" shall mean the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985, as set forth in Section 4980B of the Code and Part 6 of Title I of ERISA.
  - "Code" shall mean the Internal Revenue Code of 1986.
  - "Company Associate" shall mean any current or former employee, independent contractor, officer or director of the Company or any ERISA Affiliate.
  - "Company Share Capital" shall mean the Company Ordinary Shares and the Company Preferred Shares.
- "Company Contract" shall mean any Contract: (a) to which the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company is a party; (b) by which the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company or any Company IP Rights or any other asset of the Company is or may become bound or under which the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company has, or may become subject to, any obligation; or (c) under which the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company has or may acquire any right or interest.
- "Company IP Rights" shall mean all Intellectual Property relating to the Company's product candidates which is owned, licensed, or controlled by the Company or its Subsidiaries that is necessary or used in the Company's business as presently conducted.

"Company Material Adverse Effect" shall mean any Effect that, considered together with all other Effects that had occurred prior to the date of determination of the occurrence of the Company Material Adverse Effect, is or could reasonably be expected to be materially adverse to, or has or could reasonably be expected to have or result in a material adverse effect on: (a) the business, financial condition, assets or operations of the Company and its Subsidiaries taken as a whole; or (b) the ability of the Company to consummate the Merger or any of the other Contemplated Transactions or to perform any of its covenants or obligations under the Agreement in all material respects; provided, however, with respect to the foregoing clause (a) only that none of the following shall be deemed either alone or in combination with any of the following to constitute a Company Material Adverse Effect: (A) any adverse effect that results from general economic, business, financial or market conditions (provided that such adverse effect does not affect the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, in a disproportionate manner as compared to the Company's industry peers); (B) any adverse effect that results from conditions in any of the industries or industry sectors in which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries operates (provided that such adverse effect does not affect the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, in a disproportionate manner as compared to the Company's industry peers); (C) any adverse effect resulting from any act of terrorism, war, national or international calamity or any other similar event (provided that such adverse effect does not affect the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, in a disproportionate manner as compared to the Company's industry peers); (D) any adverse effect resulting from any change (after the date hereof) in any applicable Legal Requirement of any Governmental Body (provided that such adverse effect does not affect the Company in a disproportionate manner as compared to the Company's industry peers or as compared to Parent); (E) any changes (after the date hereof) in GAAP; (F) any adverse effect resulting from any action taken by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries with Parent's prior written consent or the taking of any action expressly required by this Agreement; (G) any decision or action, or inaction, by the FDA or other comparable foreign Governmental Body, with respect to any product candidate of the Company and (H) any Effect resulting from the announcement or pendency of the Merger (including any litigation or any loss of or adverse change in the relationship of the Company and its Subsidiaries with their respective employees, investors, contractors, lenders, customers, partners, suppliers, vendors or other third parties related thereto).

"Company Options" shall mean compensatory options to purchase Company Ordinary Shares issued by the Company.

"Company Ordinary Shares" shall mean the Ordinary Shares, \$0.01 par value per share, of the Company.

"Company Ownership Factor" shall mean a percentage equal to 100% minus the Parent Ownership Factor.

"Company Preferred Shares" shall mean collectively the Series A Preferred Shares and Series B Preferred Shares, \$0.01 par value per share, of the Company.

"Company Public Company Financials" shall mean (a) the Company's audited balance sheet at December 31, 2016 and the Company's audited statements of operations, cash flows and shareholders' equity for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 and (b) any other financial statements of the Company as may be required to be included in the Proxy Statement, in each of clauses (a) and (b) in a form that satisfies all applicable requirements for including in the Proxy Statement.

"Company Stipulated Valuation" shall mean \$200,000,000.

- "Confidentiality Agreement" shall mean the Confidentiality Agreement dated July 26, 2017 between the Company and Parent.
- "Consent" shall mean any approval, consent, ratification, permission, waiver or authorization (including any Governmental Authorization).
- "Contemplated Transactions" shall mean the Merger and the other transactions and actions contemplated by this Agreement.
- "Contract" shall, with respect to any Person, mean any written, oral or other agreement, contract, subcontract, lease (whether real or personal property), mortgage, understanding, arrangement, instrument, note, option, warranty, purchase order, license, sublicense, insurance policy, benefit plan or legally binding commitment or undertaking of any nature to which such Person is a party or by which such Person or any of its assets are bound or affected under applicable Legal Requirements.
  - "**DGCL**" shall mean the Delaware General Corporation Law.
  - "Effect" shall mean any effect, states of fact, change, event, circumstance or development.
- "Encumbrance" shall mean any lien, pledge, hypothecation, charge, mortgage, security interest, encumbrance, claim, infringement, interference, option, right of first refusal, preemptive right, community property interest or restriction of any nature (including any restriction on the voting of any security, any restriction on the transfer of any security or other asset, any restriction on the receipt of any income derived from any asset, any restriction on the use of any asset and any restriction on the possession, exercise or transfer of any other attribute of ownership of any asset).
- "Entity" shall mean any corporation (including any non-profit corporation), partnership (including any general partnership, limited partnership or limited liability partnership), joint venture, estate, trust, company (including any company limited by shares, limited liability company or joint stock company), firm, society or other enterprise, association, organization or entity, and each of its successors.
- "Environmental Law" shall mean any federal, state, local or foreign Legal Requirement relating to pollution or protection of human health or the environment (including ambient air, surface water, ground water, land surface or subsurface strata), including any law or regulation relating to emissions, discharges, releases or threatened releases of Hazardous Materials, or otherwise relating to the manufacture, processing, distribution, use, treatment, storage, disposal, transport or handling of Hazardous Materials.
  - "ERISA" shall mean the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974.
- "ERISA Affiliate" with respect to a Person shall mean any trade or business, whether or not incorporated, that together with such Person would be deemed a "single employee" within the meaning of Section 4001(b) of ERISA.

"Exchange Act" shall mean the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

**"Exchange Ratio"** shall be equal to the quotient obtained *by dividing* (a) the product of (i) the Company Ownership Factor multiplied by (ii) the quotient of (x) the total number of outstanding shares of Parent Common Stock on a Fully-Diluted Basis divided by (y) the Parent Ownership Factor; *by* (b) the total number of outstanding Company Ordinary Shares on a Fully-Diluted Basis.

"Fully-Diluted Basis" shall mean after giving effect to (a) all outstanding shares of debt or equity securities that are convertible into or exchangeable for shares of a particular class or series of capital stock and (b) all outstanding options, warrants and other rights to acquire shares of a particular class or series of capital stock, whether directly or indirectly, and all outstanding options, warrants and rights to acquire other securities convertible into or exchangeable for shares of such class or series of capital stock, but excluding any reserved but unissued stock options as of the Effective Time.

"Governmental Authority" shall mean any foreign or domestic court or tribunal, governmental, quasi-governmental or regulatory body, administrative agency or bureau, commission or instrumentality or authority or any stock market or stock exchange or other body exercising similar powers or authority.

"Governmental Authorization" shall mean any: (a) permit, license, certificate, franchise, permission, variance, exceptions, orders, clearance, registration, qualification or authorization issued, granted, given or otherwise made available by or under the authority of any Governmental Body or pursuant to any Legal Requirement; or (b) right under any Contract with any Governmental Body.

"Governmental Body" shall mean any: (a) nation, state, commonwealth, province, territory, county, municipality, district or other jurisdiction of any nature; (b) federal, state, local, municipal, foreign or other government; (c) Governmental Authority of any nature (including any governmental division, department, agency, commission, instrumentality, official, ministry, fund, foundation, center, organization, unit, body or Entity and any court or other tribunal, and for the avoidance of doubt, any taxing authority); or (d) self-regulatory organization (including The NASDAQ Stock Market).

"Hazardous Materials" shall mean any pollutant, chemical, substance and any toxic, infectious, carcinogenic, reactive, corrosive, ignitable or flammable chemical, or chemical compound, or hazardous substance, material or waste, whether solid, liquid or gas, that is subject to regulation, control or remediation under any Environmental Law, including without limitation, crude oil or any fraction thereof, and petroleum products or by-products.

"Intellectual Property" shall mean (a) patents, trademarks, service marks, trade names, domain names, copyrights, designs and trade secrets, (b) applications for and registrations of such patents, trademarks, service marks, trade names, domain names, copyrights and designs, (c) processes, formulae, methods, schematics, technology, know-how, computer software programs and applications and (d) other tangible or intangible proprietary or confidential information and materials.

"IRS" shall mean the United States Internal Revenue Service, or any successor thereto.

"**Key Employee**" shall mean, with respect to the Company or Parent, an executive officer or any employee that reports directly to the Board of Directors or Chief Executive Officer.

"Knowledge" shall mean, with respect to an individual, that such individual is actually aware of the relevant fact or such individual would reasonably be expected to know such fact in the ordinary course of the performance of the individual's employee or professional responsibility. Any Person that is an Entity shall have Knowledge if any executive officer of such Person as of the date such knowledge is imputed has Knowledge of such fact or other matter.

"Legal Proceeding" shall mean any action, suit, litigation, arbitration, proceeding (including any civil, criminal, administrative, investigative or appellate proceeding), hearing, inquiry, audit, examination or investigation commenced, brought, conducted or heard by or before, or otherwise involving, any court or other Governmental Body or any arbitrator or arbitration panel.

"Legal Requirement" shall mean any federal, state, foreign, material local or municipal or other law, statute, constitution, principle of common law, resolution, ordinance, code, edict, decree, rule, regulation, ruling or requirement issued, enacted, adopted, promulgated, implemented or otherwise put into effect by or under the authority of any Governmental Body (including, for the avoidance of doubt, under the authority of The NASDAQ Stock Market or the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority).

"Lower Target Net Cash" shall mean \$40,500,000.

- "Net Cash" shall mean, as of any particular time, (x) Parent's cash and cash equivalents and accounts receivables (in each case determined in accordance with GAAP) minus (y) the aggregate of the following obligations and liabilities of Parent, calculated without duplication:
  - (i) All current liabilities of Parent (including accounts payable, accrued expenses, accrued interest and other current liabilities) as determined in accordance with GAAP (but excluding any amounts of rent owed following the Closing Date);
  - (ii) All severance payments, deferred compensation, accrued vacation and paid-time-off, retention bonuses or any other payments made or required to be made, owed or owing at or following the Closing to any employees of Parent (including the employer portion of any payroll taxes relating thereto);
  - (iii) All indebtedness of Parent for borrowed money or in respect of capitalized leases or the purchase of assets of Parent (including accrued interest thereon through the Determination Date);
  - (iv) All closing or transactional costs in connection with the Contemplated Transactions, any alternative transaction or the process of selling Parent (including in connection with any stockholder litigation relating to this Agreement or any of the Contemplated Transactions), including amounts payable to financial advisors (including investment banks) or attorneys that are paid, incurred or expected to be incurred, payable or subject to reimbursement by Parent;
  - (v) Those accrued expenses not already contemplated by clauses (i) through (iv) above, resulting from any incurred but yet unbilled professional fees, clinical costs, preclinical costs or operational costs pertaining to goods or services previously provided to Parent as of the Determination Date as determined in accordance with GAAP;

- (vi) The amount of any remaining deductible or retention amounts under the Existing Parent D&O Policies <u>less</u> \$437,500 (provided that if the amount of any remaining deductible or retention amounts under the Existing Parent D&O Policies is less than \$437,500, such amount shall equal \$0 for purposes of determining Net Cash);
  - (vii) The aggregate costs for obtaining the D&O tail insurance policy under Section 5.6(c).
- "Multiemployer Plan" shall mean a "multiemployer plan," as defined in Section 3(37) or 4001(a)(3) of ERISA.
- "Multiple Employer Plan" shall mean a "multiple employer plan" within the meaning of Section 413(c) of the Code or Section 3(40) of ERISA.
- "Ordinary Course of Business" shall mean, (a) in the case of the Company such actions taken in the ordinary course of its normal operations and consistent with its past practices, and, (ii) in the case of Parent and each of its Subsidiaries,(x) during the period prior to the date of this Agreement, such actions taken in the ordinary course of its normal operations and consistent with its past practices and (y) during the period following the date of this Agreement, such actions taken consistent with the operating plans and financial model delivered to the Company.
  - "Parent Associate" shall mean any current or former employee, independent contractor, officer or director of Parent or any ERISA Affiliate.
  - "Parent Common Stock" shall mean the Common Stock, \$0.001 par value per share, of Parent.
- "Parent Contract" shall mean any Contract: (a) to which Parent or any Subsidiary of Parent is a party; (b) by which Parent or any Subsidiary of Parent or any Parent IP Rights or any other asset of Parent is or may become bound or under which Parent or any Subsidiary of Parent has, or may become subject to, any obligation; or (c) under which Parent or any Subsidiary of Parent has or may acquire any right or interest.
- "Parent Convertible Notes" shall mean the 5.75% Convertible Senior Notes due 2021 issued pursuant to that certain Base Indenture, dated as of August 5, 2016 and that First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of August 5, 2016, by and between Parent and Wilmington Trust, National Association.
- "Parent IP Rights" shall mean all Intellectual Property relating to Parent's product candidates which is owned, licensed, or controlled by Parent or its Subsidiaries that is necessary or used in the Parent business as presently conducted.
- "Parent Material Adverse Effect" shall mean any Effect that, considered together with all other Effects that had occurred prior to the date of determination of the occurrence of the Parent Material Adverse Effect, is or could reasonably be expected to be or to become materially adverse to, or has or could reasonably be expected to have or result in a material adverse effect on: (a) the business, financial condition, assets or operations of Parent and its Subsidiaries taken as a whole; or (b) the ability of Parent to consummate the Merger or any of the other Contemplated Transactions or to perform any of its covenants or obligations under the Agreement in all material respects; provided, however, with respect to the foregoing clause (a)

only, that none of the following shall be deemed either alone or in combination with any of the following to constitute a Parent Material Adverse Effect: (A) any adverse effect that results from general economic, business, financial or market conditions (provided that such adverse effect does not affect Parent and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, in a disproportionate manner as compared to Parent's industry peers); (B) any adverse effect that results from conditions in any of the industries or industry sectors in which Parent or any of its Subsidiaries operates (provided that such adverse effect does not affect Parent and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, in a disproportionate manner as compared to Parent's industry peers); (C) any adverse effect resulting from any act of terrorism, war, national or international calamity or any other similar event (provided that such adverse effect does not affect Parent and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, in a disproportionate manner as compared to Parent's industry peers); (D) any adverse effect resulting from any change (after the date hereof) in any applicable Legal Requirement of any Governmental Body (provided that such adverse effect does not affect Parent in a disproportionate manner as compared to Parent's industry peers or as compared to the Company); (E) any changes (after the date hereof) in GAAP; (F) any adverse effect resulting from any action taken by Parent or any of its Subsidiaries with the Company's prior written consent or the taking of any action expressly required by this Agreement; (G) any decision or action, or inaction, by the FDA or other comparable foreign Governmental Body, with respect to any product candidate of Parent; (H) any changes in the listing status of the Parent Common Stock on the NASDAO Global Market or a determination by The NASDAQ Stock Market that such listing status of Parent may change; (I) any Effect resulting from the announcement or pendency of the Merger (including any litigation or any loss of or adverse change in the relationship of Parent and its Subsidiaries with their respective employees, investors, contractors, lenders, customers, partners, suppliers, vendors or other third parties related thereto); and (J) a decline in Parent's stock price, in and of itself (it being understood that any cause of any such decline may be deemed to constitute, in and of itself, a Parent Material Adverse Effect and may be taken into consideration when determining whether a Parent Material Adverse Effect has occurred).

"Parent Options" shall mean compensatory options to purchase shares of Parent Common Stock issued by Parent.

"Parent Ownership Factor" shall mean nineteen percent (19%); provided however that if Parent's Net Cash as of the Determination Date is less than the Lower Target Net Cash or greater than the Upper Target Net Cash, "Parent Ownership Factor" shall mean the percentage quotient obtained *by dividing* (a) (i) the Adjusted Parent Valuation by (ii) the Adjusted Aggregate Valuation.

"Parent Preferred Stock" shall mean the Preferred Stock, \$0.001 par value per share, of Parent.

"Parent RSU" shall mean compensatory restricted stock units payable when vested in shares of Parent Common Stock issued by Parent.

"Parent Stipulated Valuation" shall mean \$47,000,000.

"Parent Warrants" shall mean warrants to purchase shares of Parent Common Stock or Parent Preferred Stock issued by Parent.

"Party" or "Parties" shall mean the Company, Merger Sub and Parent.

"Person" shall mean any individual, Entity or Governmental Body.

"Plan of Merger" shall mean the plan of merger to be filed by the Company, in substantially the form agreed to by Parent and the Company, with the Cayman Registrar of Companies in connection with the Closing.

"Proxy Statement" shall mean the Proxy Statement to be sent to Parent's stockholders in connection with the Parent Stockholders' Meeting.

"Representatives" shall mean directors, officers, other employees, agents, attorneys, accountants, advisors and representatives.

"Reverse Stock Split" shall mean a reverse split of all outstanding shares of Parent Common Stock whereby each outstanding share of Parent Common Stock would be combined, converted and changed into and become a fractional number of fully paid and non-assessable shares of Parent Common Stock to be determined by Parent and the Company, but which in any event will be between the range of one-for-two and one-for-ten.

"Sarbanes-Oxley Act" shall mean the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

"SEC" shall mean the United States Securities and Exchange Commission.

"Securities Act" shall mean the Securities Act of 1933.

"Shareholder" shall mean each shareholder of the Company, and "Shareholders" shall mean all shareholders of the Company, in each case as determined immediately prior to the Effective Time.

An entity shall be deemed to be a "**Subsidiary**" of another Person if such Person directly or indirectly owns or purports to own, beneficially or of record, (a) an amount of voting securities of other interests in such entity that is sufficient to enable such Person to elect at least a majority of the members of such entity's board of directors or other governing body or (b) at least 50% of the outstanding equity, voting, beneficial or financial interests in such Entity.

"Tax" shall mean any federal, state, local, foreign or other tax imposed by a Governmental Body, including any income tax, franchise tax, capital gains tax, gross receipts tax, value-added tax, surtax, estimated tax, unemployment tax, national health insurance tax, excise tax, ad valorem tax, transfer tax, stamp tax, sales tax, use tax, property tax, business tax, withholding tax, payroll tax, customs duty, alternative or add-on minimum or any other duty, levy, assessment, fee or other charge in the nature of a tax, and including any fine, penalty, addition to tax or interest, whether disputed or not.

"Tax Return" shall mean any return (including any information return), report, statement, declaration, estimate, schedule, notice, notification, form, election, certificate or other document or information, and any amendment or supplement to any of the foregoing, filed with or submitted to, or required to be filed with or submitted to, any Governmental Body in connection with the determination, assessment, collection or payment of any Tax or in connection with the administration, implementation or enforcement of or compliance with any Legal Requirement relating to any Tax.

"Transaction Litigation" shall mean any claim or Legal Proceeding (including any class action or derivative litigation) asserted or commenced by, on behalf of or in the name of, against or otherwise involving Parent, the Board of Directors of Parent, any committee thereof and/or any of Parent's directors or officers relating directly or indirectly to this Agreement, the Merger or any of the Contemplated Transaction (including any such claim or Legal Proceeding based on allegations that Parent's entry into this Agreement or the terms and conditions of this Agreement or any related transaction constituted a breach of the fiduciary duties of any member of the Board of Directors of Parent, any member of the board of directors of any of Parent's Subsidiaries or any officer of Parent or any of its Subsidiaries).

"Treasury Regulations" shall mean the United States Treasury regulations promulgated under the Code.

"Upper Target Net Cash" shall mean \$43,500,000.

# EXHIBIT B

# FORMS OF SUPPORT AGREEMENTS

### INOTEK PHARMACEUTICALS CORPORATION

#### VOTING AGREEMENT

**THIS VOTING AGREEMENT** ("<u>Agreement</u>"), dated as of September 12, 2017, is made by and among Inotek Pharmaceuticals Corporation, a Delaware corporation ("<u>Parent</u>"), Rocket Pharmaceuticals, Ltd., a Cayman Islands exempted company (the "<u>Company</u>"), and the undersigned holders (each a "<u>Stockholder</u>") of shares of capital stock (the "<u>Shares</u>") of Parent.

**WHEREAS**, Parent, Rome Merger Sub, a Cayman Islands exempted company and a wholly owned subsidiary of Parent ("<u>Merger Sub</u>"), and the Company, have entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger and Reorganization, dated of even date herewith (the "<u>Merger Agreement</u>"), providing for the merger of Merger Sub with and into the Company (the "<u>Merger</u>");

**WHEREAS**, Stockholder beneficially owns and has sole or shared voting power with respect to the number of Shares, and holds stock options, restricted stock units ("<u>Company RSUs</u>") or other rights to acquire the number of Shares indicated opposite Stockholder's name on <u>Schedule 1</u> attached hereto;

**WHEREAS**, as an inducement and a condition to the willingness of Parent, Merger Sub and the Company to enter into the Merger Agreement, and in consideration of the substantial expenses incurred and to be incurred by them in connection therewith, Stockholder has agreed to enter into and perform this Agreement; and

WHEREAS, all capitalized terms used in this Agreement without definition herein shall have the meanings ascribed to them in the Merger Agreement.

**NOW, THEREFORE**, in consideration of, and as a condition to, Parent's, Merger Sub's and the Company's entering into the Merger Agreement and proceeding with the transactions contemplated thereby, and in consideration of the expenses incurred and to be incurred by them in connection therewith, Stockholder, Parent and the Company agree as follows:

- 1. <u>Agreement to Vote Shares</u>. Stockholder agrees that, prior to the Expiration Date (as defined in <u>Section 2</u> below), at any meeting of the stockholders of Parent or any adjournment or postponement thereof, or in connection with any written consent of the stockholders of Parent, with respect to the Merger, the Merger Agreement or any Parent Acquisition Proposal, Stockholder shall:
  - (a) appear at such meeting or otherwise cause the Shares and any New Shares (as defined in <u>Section 3</u> below) to be counted as present thereat for purposes of calculating a quorum;
  - (b) from and after the date hereof until the Expiration Date, vote (or cause to be voted), or deliver a written consent (or cause a written consent to be delivered) covering all of the Shares and any New Shares that such Stockholder shall be entitled to

so vote: (i) in favor of adoption and approval of (A) the issuance of the shares of Parent Common Stock by virtue of the Merger, (B) the adoption of the Merger Agreement and approval of the Merger, and (C) an amendment to the Certificate of Incorporation of Parent to effect the Reverse Stock Split; (ii) against any action or agreement that, to the knowledge of Stockholder, would reasonably be expected to result in a breach in any material respect of any covenant, representation or warranty or any other obligation or agreement of Parent or any of its Subsidiaries or affiliates under the Merger Agreement or that would reasonably be expected to result in any of the conditions to Parent's or any of its Subsidiaries' or affiliates' obligations under the Merger Agreement not being fulfilled; and (iii) against any Parent Acquisition Proposal, or any agreement, transaction or other matter that is intended to, or would reasonably be expected to, impede, interfere with, delay, postpone, discourage or materially and adversely affect the consummation of the Merger and all other transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement. The Stockholder shall not take or commit or agree to take any action inconsistent with the foregoing.

- 2. Expiration Date. As used in this Agreement, the term "Expiration Date" shall mean the earlier to occur of (a) the Effective Time, (b) such date and time as the Merger Agreement shall be terminated pursuant to Section 9 thereof or otherwise, or (c) upon mutual written agreement of the parties to terminate this Agreement. Upon termination or expiration of this Agreement, no party shall have any further obligations or liabilities under this Agreement; provided, however, such termination or expiration shall not relieve any party from liability for any willful breach of this Agreement or acts of bad faith prior to termination hereof.
- 3. <u>Additional Purchases</u>. Stockholder agrees that any shares of capital stock or other equity securities of Parent that Stockholder purchases or with respect to which Stockholder otherwise acquires sole or shared voting power after the execution of this Agreement and prior to the Expiration Date, whether by the exercise of any stock options or otherwise ("<u>New Shares</u>"), shall be subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement to the same extent as if they constituted the Shares.
- 4. <u>Agreement to Retain Shares</u>. From and after the date hereof until the Expiration Date, Stockholder shall not, directly or indirectly, (a) sell, assign, transfer, tender, or otherwise dispose of (including, without limitation, by the creation of any Liens (as defined in <u>Section 5(c)</u> below)) any Shares, (b) deposit any Shares or New Shares into a voting trust or enter into a voting agreement or similar arrangement with respect to such Shares or New Shares or grant any proxy or power of attorney with respect thereto (other than this Agreement), (c) enter into any contract, option, commitment or other arrangement or understanding with respect to the direct or indirect sale, transfer, assignment or other disposition of (including, without limitation, by the creation of any Liens) any Shares or New Shares, or (d) take any action that would make any representation or warranty of Stockholder contained herein untrue or incorrect or have the effect of preventing or disabling Stockholder from performing Stockholder's obligations under this Agreement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Stockholder may make (a) transfers by will or by operation of law or other transfers for estate-planning purposes, in which case this Agreement shall bind the transferee, (b) with respect to such Stockholder's Company Options which expire on or prior to the Expiration Date, transfers, sale, or other disposition of Shares to the Company

as payment for the (i) exercise price of such Stockholder's Company Options and (ii) taxes applicable to the exercise of such Stockholder's Company Options, (c) with respect to Stockholder's Company RSUs, (i) transfers for the net settlement of Stockholder's Company RSUs settled in Shares (to pay any tax withholding obligations) or (ii) transfers for receipt upon settlement of Stockholder's Company RSUs, and the sale of a sufficient number of such Shares acquired upon settlement of such securities as would generate sales proceeds sufficient to pay the aggregate taxes payable by Stockholder as a result of such settlement, (d) if Stockholder is a partnership or limited liability company, a transfer to one or more partners or members of Stockholder or to an affiliated corporation, trust or other business entity under common control with Stockholder, or if Stockholder is a trust, a transfer to a beneficiary, provided that in each such case the applicable transferee has signed a voting agreement in substantially the form hereof, (e) transfers to another holder of the capital stock of the Company that has signed a voting agreement in substantially the form hereof, and (f) transfers, sales or other dispositions as the Company may otherwise agree in writing in its sole discretion.

- 5. Representations and Warranties of Stockholder. Stockholder hereby represents and warrants to Parent and the Company as follows:
  - (a) Stockholder has the full power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and to perform Stockholder's obligations hereunder;
- (b) this Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by or on behalf of Stockholder and, to the Stockholder's knowledge and assuming this Agreement constitutes a valid and binding agreement of the Company and Parent, constitutes a valid and binding agreement with respect to Stockholder, enforceable against Stockholder in accordance with its terms, except as enforcement may be limited by general principles of equity whether applied in a court of law or a court of equity and by bankruptcy, insolvency and similar laws affecting creditors' rights and remedies generally;
- (c) Stockholder beneficially owns the number of Shares indicated opposite such Stockholder's name on <u>Schedule 1</u>, and will own any New Shares, free and clear of any liens, claims, charges or other encumbrances or restrictions of any kind whatsoever ("<u>Liens</u>"), and has sole or shared, and otherwise unrestricted, voting power with respect to such Shares or New Shares and none of the Shares or New Shares is subject to any voting trust or other agreement, arrangement or restriction with respect to the voting of the Shares or the New Shares, except as contemplated by this Agreement;
- (d) to the knowledge of Stockholder, the execution and delivery of this Agreement by Stockholder does not, and the performance by Stockholder of his or her obligations hereunder and the compliance by Stockholder with any provisions hereof will not, violate or conflict with, result in a material breach of or constitute a default (or an event that with notice or lapse of time or both would become a material default) under, or give to others any rights of termination, amendment, acceleration or cancellation of, or result in the creation of any Liens on any Shares or New Shares pursuant to, any agreement, instrument, note, bond, mortgage, contract, lease, license, permit or other obligation or any order, arbitration award, judgment or decree to which Stockholder is a

party or by which Stockholder is bound, or any law, statute, rule or regulation to which Stockholder is subject or, in the event that Stockholder is a corporation, partnership, trust or other entity, any bylaw or other organizational document of Stockholder; and

- (e) to the knowledge of Stockholder, the execution and delivery of this Agreement by Stockholder does not, and the performance of this Agreement by Stockholder does not and will not, require any consent, approval, authorization or permit of, or filing with or notification to, any governmental or regulatory authority by Stockholder except for applicable requirements, if any, of the Exchange Act, and except where the failure to obtain such consents, approvals, authorizations or permits, or to make such filings or notifications, would not prevent or delay the performance by Stockholder of his or her obligations under this Agreement in any material respect.
- 6. <u>Irrevocable Proxy.</u> Subject to the penultimate sentence of this <u>Section 6</u>, by execution of this Agreement, Stockholder does hereby appoint the Company with full power of substitution and resubstitution, as Stockholder's true and lawful attorney and irrevocable proxy, to the fullest extent of the undersigned's rights with respect to the Shares, to vote, if the Stockholder is unable to perform his or her obligations under this Agreement, each of such Shares solely with respect to the matters set forth in <u>Section 1</u> hereof. Stockholder intends this proxy to be irrevocable and coupled with an interest hereunder until the Expiration Date and hereby revokes any proxy previously granted by Stockholder with respect to the Shares. Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, this irrevocable proxy shall automatically terminate upon the Expiration Date of this Agreement. The Stockholder hereby revokes any proxies previously granted and represents that none of such previously-granted proxies are irrevocable.
- 7. No Solicitation. From and after the date hereof until the Expiration Date, Stockholder shall not (a) initiate, solicit, seek or knowingly encourage or support any inquiries, proposals or offers that constitute or may reasonably be expected to lead to, a Parent Acquisition Proposal, (b) engage or participate in, or knowingly facilitate, any discussions or negotiations regarding any inquiries, proposals or offers that constitute, or may reasonably be expected to lead to, a Parent Acquisition Proposal, (c) furnish to any Person other than the Company any non-public information that could reasonably be expected to be used for the purposes of formulating any Parent Acquisition Proposal, (d) enter into any letter of intent, agreement in principle or other similar type of agreement relating to a Parent Acquisition Proposal, or enter into any agreement or agreement in principle requiring Parent to abandon, terminate or fail to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby, (e) initiate a stockholders' vote or action by consent of the Parent's stockholders with respect to a Parent Acquisition Proposal, (f) except by reason of this Agreement, become a member of a "group" (as such term is defined in Section 13(d) of the Exchange Act) with respect to any voting securities of Parent that takes any action in support of a Parent Acquisition Proposal or (g) propose or agree to do any of the foregoing. In the event that Stockholder is a corporation, partnership, trust or other entity, it shall not permit any of its Subsidiaries or affiliates to, nor shall it authorize any officer, director or representative of Stockholder, or any of its Subsidiaries or affiliates to, undertake any of the actions contemplated by this Section 7.

#### 8. Waiver of Appraisal Rights; No Legal Actions.

- (a) The Stockholder hereby waives, and agrees not to exercise or assert, any appraisal rights under applicable law, including Section 262 of the DGCL in connection with the Merger.
- (b) The Stockholder will not in its capacity as a stockholder of Parent bring, commence, institute, maintain, prosecute or voluntarily aid any Legal Proceeding which (i) challenges the validity or seeks to enjoin the operation of any provision of this Agreement or (ii) alleges that the execution and delivery of this agreement by the Stockholder, either alone or together with the other voting agreements and proxies to be delivered in connection with the execution of the Merger Agreement, or the approval of the Merger Agreement by the Board of Directors of Parent, constitutes a breach of any fiduciary duty of the Board of Directors of Parent or any member thereof.
- 9. Other Remedies; Specific Performance. Except as otherwise provided herein, any and all remedies herein expressly conferred upon a party will be deemed cumulative with, and not exclusive of, any other remedy conferred hereby, or by law or equity upon such party, and the exercise by a party of any one remedy will not preclude the exercise of any other remedy. The parties hereto agree that irreparable damage would occur in the event that any of the provisions of this Agreement were not performed in accordance with their specific terms or were otherwise breached. It is accordingly agreed that the parties shall be entitled to seek an injunction or injunctions to prevent breaches of this Agreement and to enforce specifically the terms and provisions hereof in any court of the United States or any state having jurisdiction, this being the addition to any other remedy to which they are entitled at law or in equity.
- 10. <u>Directors and Officers</u>. This Agreement shall apply to Stockholder solely in Stockholder's capacity as a stockholder of Parent and/or holder of options, warrants and/or RSUs to purchase shares of Parent Common Stock and not in such Stockholder's capacity as a director, officer or employee of Parent or any of its Subsidiaries or in such Stockholder's capacity as a trustee or fiduciary of any employee benefit plan or trust. Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the contrary, nothing in this Agreement shall (or require Stockholder to attempt to) limit or restrict a director and/or officer of Parent in the exercise of his or her fiduciary duties consistent with the terms of the Merger Agreement as a director and/or officer of Parent or in his or her capacity as a trustee or fiduciary of any employee benefit plan or trust or prevent or be construed to create any obligation on the part of any director and/or officer of Parent or any trustee or fiduciary of any employee benefit plan or trust from taking any action in his or her capacity as such director, officer, trustee and/or fiduciary.
- 11. No Ownership Interest. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall be deemed to vest in the Company any direct or indirect ownership or incidence of ownership of or with respect to any Shares. All rights, ownership and economic benefits of and relating to the Shares shall remain vested in and belong to Stockholder, and the Company does not have authority to manage, direct, superintend, restrict, regulate, govern, or administer any of the policies or operations of Parent or exercise any power or authority to direct Stockholder in the voting of any of the Shares, except as otherwise provided herein.

- 12. <u>Termination</u>. This Agreement shall terminate and shall have no further force or effect as of the Expiration Date. Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing set forth in this <u>Section 12</u> or elsewhere in this Agreement shall relieve either party hereto from any liability, or otherwise limit the liability of either party from any liability for any intentional breach of any obligation or other provision contained in this Agreement.
- 13. <u>Further Assurances</u>. Stockholder shall, from time to time, execute and deliver, or cause to be executed and delivered, such additional or further consents, documents and other instruments as the Company or Parent may reasonably request for the purpose of effectively carrying out the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the Merger Agreement.
- 14. <u>Disclosure</u>. Stockholder hereby agrees that Parent and the Company may publish and disclose in any registration statement, any resale registration statement relating thereto (including all documents and schedules filed with the SEC), the Proxy Statement, any prospectus filed with any regulatory authority in connection with the Merger and any related documents filed with such regulatory authority and as otherwise required by law, such Stockholder's identity and ownership of Shares and the nature of such Stockholder's commitments, arrangements and understandings under this Agreement and may further file this Agreement as an exhibit to the Registration Statement or prospectus or in any other filing made by Parent or the Company as required by law or the terms of the Merger Agreement, including with the SEC or other regulatory authority, relating to the Merger, all subject to prior review and an opportunity to comment by Stockholder's counsel.
- 15. <u>Notice</u>. All notices and other communications hereunder shall be in writing and shall be deemed given if delivered personally or sent by overnight courier (providing proof of delivery) or by facsimile transmission (providing confirmation of transmission) to the Company or Parent, as the case may be, in accordance with Section 10.7 of the Merger Agreement and to each Stockholder at its address set forth on <u>Schedule 1</u> attached hereto (or at such other address for a party as shall be specified by like notice).
- 16. Severability. Any term or provision of this Agreement that is invalid or unenforceable in any situation in any jurisdiction shall not affect the validity or enforceability of the remaining terms and provisions of this Agreement or the validity or enforceability of the offending term or provision in any other situation or in any other jurisdiction. If a final judgment of a court of competent jurisdiction declares that any term or provision of this Agreement is invalid or unenforceable, the parties hereto agree that the court making such determination shall have the power to limit such term or provision, to delete specific words or phrases or to replace such term or provision with a term or provision that is valid and enforceable and that comes closest to expressing the intention of the invalid or unenforceable term or provision, and this Agreement shall be valid and enforceable as so modified. In the event such court does not exercise the power granted to it in the prior sentence, the parties hereto agree to replace such invalid or unenforceable term or provision with a valid and enforceable term or provision that will achieve, to the extent possible, the economic, business and other purposes of such invalid or unenforceable term or provision.

- 17. <u>Assignability</u>. This Agreement shall be binding upon, and shall be enforceable by and inure solely to the benefit of, the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns; *provided*, *however*, that neither this Agreement nor any of a party's rights or obligations hereunder may be assigned or delegated by such party without the prior written consent of the other parties hereto, and any attempted assignment or delegation of this Agreement or any of such rights or obligations by such party without the other party's prior written consent shall be void and of no effect. Nothing in this Agreement, express or implied, is intended to or shall confer upon any Person (other than the parties hereto) any right, benefit or remedy of any nature whatsoever under or by reason of this Agreement.
- 18. No Waivers. No waivers of any breach of this Agreement extended by the Company or Parent to Stockholder shall be construed as a waiver of any rights or remedies of the Company or Parent, as applicable, with respect to any other stockholder of Parent who has executed an agreement substantially in the form of this Agreement with respect to Shares held or subsequently held by such stockholder or with respect to any subsequent breach of the Stockholder or any other such stockholder of Parent. No waiver of any provisions hereof by any party shall be deemed a waiver of any other provisions hereof by any such party, nor shall any such waiver be deemed a continuing waiver of any provision hereof by such party.
- 19. <u>Applicable Law; Jurisdiction</u>. This Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of Delaware, regardless of the laws that might otherwise govern under applicable principles of conflicts of laws. In any action or proceeding between any of the parties arising out of or relating to this Agreement, each of the parties: (i) irrevocably and unconditionally consents and submits to the exclusive jurisdiction and venue of the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware or to the extent such court does not have subject matter jurisdiction, the Superior Court of the State of Delaware or the United States District Court for the District of Delaware, (ii) agrees that all claims in respect of such action or proceeding shall be heard and determined exclusively in accordance with clause (i) of this <u>Section 19</u>, (iii) waives any objection to laying venue in any such action or proceeding in such courts, (iv) waives any objection that such courts are an inconvenient forum or do not have jurisdiction over any party, and (v) agrees that service of process upon such party in any such action or proceeding shall be effective if notice is given in accordance with <u>Section 15</u> of this Agreement.
- 20. <u>Waiver of Jury Trial</u>. The parties hereto hereby waive any right to trial by jury with respect to any action or proceeding related to or arising out of this Agreement, any document executed in connection herewith and the matters contemplated hereby and thereby.
- 21. No Agreement Until Executed. Irrespective of negotiations among the parties or the exchanging of drafts of this Agreement, this Agreement shall not constitute or be deemed to evidence a contract, agreement, arrangement or understanding between the parties hereto unless and until (a) the Board of Directors of Parent has approved, for purposes of any applicable anti-takeover laws and regulations and any applicable provision of the Certificate of Incorporation of Parent, the transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement, (b) the Merger Agreement is executed by all parties thereto, and (c) this Agreement is executed by all parties hereto.

- 22. <u>Entire Agreement; Counterparts; Exchanges by Facsimile</u>. This Agreement and the other agreements referred to in this Agreement constitute the entire agreement and supersede all prior agreements and understandings, both written and oral, among or between any of the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and thereof. This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original and all of which shall constitute one and the same instrument. The exchange of a fully executed Agreement (in counterparts or otherwise) by all parties by facsimile or electronic transmission via ".pdf' shall be sufficient to bind the parties to the terms and conditions of this Agreement.
- 23. <u>Amendment</u>. This Agreement may not be amended, supplemented or modified, and no provisions hereof may be modified or waived, except by an instrument in writing signed on behalf of each party hereto.
- 24. <u>Definition of Merger Agreement</u>. For purposes of this Agreement, the term "<u>Merger Agreement</u>" may include such agreement as amended or modified as long as such amendments or modifications (a) do not (i) change the form of consideration or (ii) change the Exchange Ratio in a manner adverse to Stockholder, or (b) have been agreed to in writing by Stockholder.

#### 25. Construction.

- (a) For purposes of this Agreement, whenever the context requires: the singular number shall include the plural, and vice versa; the masculine gender shall include the feminine and neuter genders; the feminine gender shall include the masculine and neuter genders; and the neuter gender shall include masculine and feminine genders.
- (b) The parties hereto agree that any rule of construction to the effect that ambiguities are to be resolved against the drafting party shall not be applied in the construction or interpretation of this Agreement.
- (c) As used in this Agreement, the words "include" and "including," and variations thereof, shall not be deemed to be terms of limitation, but rather shall be deemed to be followed by the words "without limitation."
- (d) Except as otherwise indicated, all references in this Agreement to "Sections," "Exhibits" and "Schedules" are intended to refer to Sections of this Agreement and Exhibits and Schedules to this Agreement, respectively.
- (e) The bold-faced headings contained in this Agreement are for convenience of reference only, shall not be deemed to be a part of this Agreement and shall not be referred to in connection with the construction or interpretation of this Agreement.

[Remainder of Page has Intentionally Been Left Blank]

EXECUTED as of the date first above written.

# [SHAREHOLDER]

By:	
Name:	
Title:	

Signature Page to Voting Agreement

EXECUTED as of the date first above written.

By: Name: Title:
INOTEK PHARMACEUTICALS CORPORATION
By:
Name:
Title:

ROCKET PHARMACEUTICALS, LTD.

Signature Page to Voting Agreement

**SCHEDULE 1** 

Name and Address of Shareholder Shares Options RSUs Other Rights

Signature Page to Voting Agreement

B-11

#### ROCKET PHARMACEUTICALS, LTD.

#### VOTING AGREEMENT

**THIS VOTING AGREEMENT** ("<u>Agreement</u>"), dated as of September 12, 2017, is made by and among Inotek Pharmaceuticals Corporation, a Delaware corporation ("<u>Parent</u>"), Rocket Pharmaceuticals, Ltd., a Cayman Islands exempted company (the "<u>Company</u>"), and the undersigned holders ("each a <u>Shareholder</u>") of shares of the share capital (the "<u>Shares</u>") of the Company.

**WHEREAS**, Parent, Rome Merger Sub, a Cayman Islands exempted company and a wholly owned subsidiary of Parent ("<u>Merger Sub</u>"), and the Company, have entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger and Reorganization, dated of even date herewith (the "<u>Merger Agreement</u>"), providing for the merger of Merger Sub with and into the Company (the "<u>Merger</u>");

**WHEREAS**, Shareholder beneficially owns and has sole or shared voting power with respect to the number of Shares, and holds share options or other rights to acquire the number of Shares indicated opposite Shareholder's name on <u>Schedule 1</u> attached hereto;

**WHEREAS**, as an inducement and a condition to the willingness of Parent, Merger Sub and the Company to enter into the Merger Agreement, and in consideration of the substantial expenses incurred and to be incurred by them in connection therewith, Shareholder has agreed to enter into and perform this Agreement; and

WHEREAS, all capitalized terms used in this Agreement without definition herein shall have the meanings ascribed to them in the Merger Agreement.

**NOW, THEREFORE**, in consideration of, and as a condition to, Parent's, Merger Sub's and the Company's entering into the Merger Agreement and proceeding with the transactions contemplated thereby, and in consideration of the expenses incurred and to be incurred by them in connection therewith, Shareholder, Parent and the Company agree as follows:

- 1. <u>Agreement to Vote Shares</u>. Shareholder agrees that, prior to the Expiration Date (as defined in <u>Section 2</u> below), at any meeting (whether a general meeting or a class or series meeting, as applicable) of the shareholders of the Company or any adjournment or postponement thereof, or in connection with any written consent of the shareholders (or any class or series of shareholders, as applicable) of the Company, with respect to the Merger, the Merger Agreement or any Company Acquisition Proposal, Shareholder shall:
  - (a) appear at such meeting or otherwise cause the Shares and any New Shares (as defined in <u>Section 3</u> below) to be counted as present thereat for purposes of calculating a quorum;
  - (b) from and after the date hereof until the Expiration Date, vote (or cause to be voted), or deliver a written consent (or cause a written consent to be delivered)

covering all of the Shares and any New Shares that such Shareholder shall be entitled to so vote: (i) in favor of adoption and approval of the adoption of the Merger Agreement and approval of the Merger; (ii) against any action or agreement that, to the knowledge of Shareholder, would reasonably be expected to result in a breach in any material respect of any covenant, representation or warranty or any other obligation or agreement of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or affiliates under the Merger Agreement or that would reasonably be expected to result in any of the conditions to the Company's or any of its Subsidiaries' or affiliates' obligations under the Merger Agreement not being fulfilled; (iii) against any Company Acquisition Proposal, or any agreement, transaction or other matter that is intended to, or would reasonably be expected to, impede, interfere with, delay, postpone, discourage or materially and adversely affect the consummation of the Merger and all other transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement; and (iv) where applicable, in favour of an election to convert all of the Company Preferred Shares held by the Shareholder into Company Ordinary Shares. The Shareholder shall not take or commit or agree to take any action inconsistent with the foregoing.

- 2. Expiration Date. As used in this Agreement, the term "Expiration Date" shall mean the earlier to occur of (a) the Effective Time, (b) such date and time as the Merger Agreement shall be terminated pursuant to Section 9 thereof or otherwise, or (c) upon mutual written agreement of the parties to terminate this Agreement. Upon termination or expiration of this Agreement, no party shall have any further obligations or liabilities under this Agreement; provided, however, such termination or expiration shall not relieve any party from liability for any willful breach of this Agreement or acts of bad faith prior to termination bereof.
- 3. <u>Additional Purchases</u>. Shareholder agrees that any shares of the share capital or other equity securities of the Company that Shareholder purchases or with respect to which Shareholder otherwise acquires sole or shared voting power after the execution of this Agreement and prior to the Expiration Date, whether by the exercise of any share options or otherwise ("<u>New Shares</u>"), shall be subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement to the same extent as if they constituted the Shares.
- 4. <u>Agreement to Retain Shares</u>. From and after the date hereof until the Expiration Date, Shareholder shall not, directly or indirectly, (a) sell, assign, transfer, tender, or otherwise dispose of (including, without limitation, by the creation of any Liens (as defined in <u>Section 5(c)</u> below)) any Shares or any New Shares acquired, (b) deposit any Shares or New Shares into a voting trust or enter into a voting agreement or similar arrangement with respect to such Shares or New Shares or grant any proxy or power of attorney with respect thereto (other than this Agreement), (c) enter into any contract, option, commitment or other arrangement or understanding with respect to the direct or indirect sale, transfer, assignment or other disposition of (including, without limitation, by the creation of any Liens) any Shares or New Shares, or (d) take any action that would make any representation or warranty of Shareholder contained herein untrue or incorrect or have the effect of preventing or disabling Shareholder from performing Shareholder's obligations under this Agreement.

  Notwithstanding the foregoing, Shareholder may make (a) transfers by will or by operation of law or other transfers for estate-planning purposes, in which case this Agreement shall bind the transferee, (b) if Shareholder is a partnership or limited liability company, a transfer to one or more partners or members of

Shareholder or to an affiliated corporation, trust or other business entity under common control with Shareholder, or if Shareholder is a trust, a transfer to a beneficiary, provided that in each such case the applicable transferee has signed a voting agreement in substantially the form hereof, (c) transfers to another holder of the share capital of the Company that has signed a voting agreement in substantially the form hereof and (d) transfers, sales or other dispositions as the Company may otherwise agree in writing in its sole discretion.

- 5. Representations and Warranties of Shareholder. Shareholder hereby represents and warrants to Parent and the Company as follows:
  - (a) Shareholder has the full power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and to perform Shareholder's obligations hereunder;
- (b) this Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by or on behalf of Shareholder and, to the Shareholder's knowledge and assuming this Agreement constitutes a valid and binding agreement of the Company and Parent, constitutes a valid and binding agreement with respect to Shareholder, enforceable against Shareholder in accordance with its terms, except as enforcement may be limited by general principles of equity whether applied in a court of law or a court of equity and by bankruptcy, insolvency and similar laws affecting creditors' rights and remedies generally;
- (c) Shareholder beneficially owns the number of Shares indicated opposite such Shareholder's name on <u>Schedule 1</u>, and will own any New Shares, free and clear of any liens, claims, charges or other encumbrances or restrictions of any kind whatsoever ("<u>Liens</u>"), and has sole or shared, and otherwise unrestricted, voting power with respect to such Shares or New Shares and none of the Shares or New Shares is subject to any voting trust or other agreement, arrangement or restriction with respect to the voting of the Shares or the New Shares, except as contemplated by this Agreement;
- (d) to the knowledge of Shareholder, the execution and delivery of this Agreement by Shareholder does not, and the performance by Shareholder of his or her obligations hereunder and the compliance by Shareholder with any provisions hereof will not, violate or conflict with, result in a material breach of or constitute a default (or an event that with notice or lapse of time or both would become a material default) under, or give to others any rights of termination, amendment, acceleration or cancellation of, or result in the creation of any Liens on any Shares or New Shares pursuant to, any agreement, instrument, note, bond, mortgage, contract, lease, license, permit or other obligation or any order, arbitration award, judgment or decree to which Shareholder is a party or by which Shareholder is bound, or any law, statute, rule or regulation to which Shareholder is subject or, in the event that Shareholder is a corporation, partnership, trust or other entity, any bylaw or other organizational document of Shareholder; and
- (e) to the knowledge of Shareholder, the execution and delivery of this Agreement by Shareholder does not, and the performance of this Agreement by Shareholder does not and will not, require any consent, approval, authorization or permit of, or filing with or notification to, any governmental or regulatory authority by

Shareholder except for applicable requirements, if any, of the Exchange Act, and except where the failure to obtain such consents, approvals, authorizations or permits, or to make such filings or notifications, would not prevent or delay the performance by Shareholder of his or her obligations under this Agreement in any material respect.

- 6. <u>Irrevocable Proxy</u>. Subject to the penultimate sentence of this <u>Section 6</u>, by execution of this Agreement, Shareholder does hereby appoint the Parent with full power of substitution and resubstitution, as Shareholder's true and lawful attorney and irrevocable proxy, to the fullest extent of the undersigned's rights with respect to the Shares, to vote, if the Shareholder is unable to perform his or her obligations under this Agreement, each of such Shares solely with respect to the matters set forth in <u>Section 1</u> hereof. Shareholder intends this proxy to be irrevocable and coupled with an interest hereunder until the Expiration Date and hereby revokes any proxy previously granted by Shareholder with respect to the Shares. Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, this irrevocable proxy shall automatically terminate upon the Expiration Date of this Agreement. The Shareholder hereby revokes any proxies previously granted and represents that none of such previously-granted proxies are irrevocable.
- 7. No Solicitation. From and after the date hereof until the Expiration Date, Shareholder shall not (a) initiate, solicit, seek or knowingly encourage or support any inquiries, proposals or offers that constitute or may reasonably be expected to lead to, a Company Acquisition Proposal, (b) engage or participate in, or knowingly facilitate, any discussions or negotiations regarding any inquiries, proposals or offers that constitute, or may reasonably be expected to lead to, a Company Acquisition Proposal, (c) furnish to any Person other than the Company any non-public information that could reasonably be expected to be used for the purposes of formulating any Company Acquisition Proposal, (d) enter into any letter of intent, agreement in principle or other similar type of agreement relating to a Company Acquisition Proposal, or enter into any agreement or agreement in principle requiring the Company to abandon, terminate or fail to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby, (e) initiate a shareholders' vote or action by consent of the Company's shareholders with respect to a Company Acquisition Proposal, (f) except by reason of this Agreement, become a member of a "group" (as such term is defined in Section 13(d) of the Exchange Act) with respect to any voting securities of the Company that takes any action in support of a Company Acquisition Proposal or (g) propose or agree to do any of the foregoing. In the event that Shareholder is a corporation, partnership, trust or other entity, it shall not permit any of its Subsidiaries or affiliates to, nor shall it authorize any officer, director or representative of Shareholder, or any of its Subsidiaries or affiliates to, undertake any of the actions contemplated by this Section 7.

## 8. Waiver of Appraisal Rights; No Legal Actions.

- (a) The Shareholder hereby waives, and agrees not to exercise or assert, any appraisal rights under applicable law, including Section 238 of Cayman Law in connection with the Merger.
- (b) The Shareholder will not in its capacity as a shareholder of the Company bring, commence, institute, maintain, prosecute or voluntarily aid any Legal Proceeding

which (i) challenges the validity or seeks to enjoin the operation of any provision of this Agreement or (ii) alleges that the execution and delivery of this agreement by the Shareholder, either alone or together with the other voting agreements and proxies to be delivered in connection with the execution of the Merger Agreement, or the approval of the Merger Agreement by the Board of Directors of the Company, constitutes a breach of any fiduciary duty of the Board of Directors of the Company or any member thereof.

9. Other Remedies; Specific Performance. Except as otherwise provided herein, any and all remedies herein expressly conferred upon a party will be deemed cumulative with, and not exclusive of, any other remedy conferred hereby, or by law or equity upon such party, and the exercise by a party of any one remedy will not preclude the exercise of any other remedy. The parties hereto agree that irreparable damage would occur in the event that any of the provisions of this Agreement were not performed in accordance with their specific terms or were otherwise breached. It is accordingly agreed that the parties shall be entitled to seek an injunction or injunctions to prevent breaches of this Agreement and to enforce specifically the terms and provisions hereof in any court of the United States or any state having jurisdiction, this being the addition to any other remedy to which they are entitled at law or in equity.

## 10. Intentionally Omitted.

- 11. <u>No Ownership Interest</u>. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall be deemed to vest in Parent any direct or indirect ownership or incidence of ownership of or with respect to any Shares. All rights, ownership and economic benefits of and relating to the Shares shall remain vested in and belong to Shareholder, and Parent does not have authority to direct Shareholder in the voting of any of the Shares, except as otherwise provided herein.
- 12. <u>Termination</u>. This Agreement shall terminate and shall have no further force or effect as of the Expiration Date. Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing set forth in this <u>Section 12</u> or elsewhere in this Agreement shall relieve either party hereto from any liability, or otherwise limit the liability of either party from any liability for any intentional breach of any obligation or other provision contained in this Agreement.
- 13. <u>Further Assurances</u>. Shareholder shall, from time to time, execute and deliver, or cause to be executed and delivered, such additional or further consents, documents and other instruments as the Company or Parent may reasonably request for the purpose of effectively carrying out the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the Merger Agreement.
- 14. <u>Disclosure</u>. Shareholder hereby agrees that Parent and the Company may publish and disclose in any registration statement, any resale registration statement relating thereto (including all documents and schedules filed with the SEC), the Proxy Statement, any prospectus filed with any regulatory authority in connection with the Merger and any related documents filed with such regulatory authority and as otherwise required by law, such Shareholder's identity and ownership of Shares and the nature of such Shareholder's commitments, arrangements and understandings under this Agreement and may further file this Agreement as an exhibit to the Registration Statement or prospectus or in any other filing made by Parent or the Company as required by law or the terms of the Merger Agreement, including with the SEC or other regulatory authority, relating to the Merger, all subject to prior review and an opportunity to comment by Shareholder's counsel.

- 15. <u>Notice</u>. All notices and other communications hereunder shall be in writing and shall be deemed given if delivered personally or sent by overnight courier (providing proof of delivery) or by facsimile transmission (providing confirmation of transmission) to the Company or Parent, as the case may be, in accordance with Section 10.7 of the Merger Agreement and to each Shareholder at its address set forth on <u>Schedule 1</u> attached hereto (or at such other address for a party as shall be specified by like notice).
- 16. Severability. Any term or provision of this Agreement that is invalid or unenforceable in any situation in any jurisdiction shall not affect the validity or enforceability of the remaining terms and provisions of this Agreement or the validity or enforceability of the offending term or provision in any other situation or in any other jurisdiction. If a final judgment of a court of competent jurisdiction declares that any term or provision of this Agreement is invalid or unenforceable, the parties hereto agree that the court making such determination shall have the power to limit such term or provision, to delete specific words or phrases or to replace such term or provision with a term or provision that is valid and enforceable and that comes closest to expressing the intention of the invalid or unenforceable term or provision, and this Agreement shall be valid and enforceable as so modified. In the event such court does not exercise the power granted to it in the prior sentence, the parties hereto agree to replace such invalid or unenforceable term or provision with a valid and enforceable term or provision that will achieve, to the extent possible, the economic, business and other purposes of such invalid or unenforceable term or provision.
- 17. <u>Assignability</u>. This Agreement shall be binding upon, and shall be enforceable by and inure solely to the benefit of, the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns; *provided*, *however*, that neither this Agreement nor any of a party's rights or obligations hereunder may be assigned or delegated by such party without the prior written consent of the other parties hereto, and any attempted assignment or delegation of this Agreement or any of such rights or obligations by such party without the other party's prior written consent shall be void and of no effect. Nothing in this Agreement, express or implied, is intended to or shall confer upon any Person (other than the parties hereto) any right, benefit or remedy of any nature whatsoever under or by reason of this Agreement.
- 18. No Waivers. No waivers of any breach of this Agreement extended by the Company or Parent to Shareholder shall be construed as a waiver of any rights or remedies of the Company or Parent, as applicable, with respect to any other shareholder of the Company who has executed an agreement substantially in the form of this Agreement with respect to Shares held or subsequently held by such shareholder or with respect to any subsequent breach of the Shareholder or any other such shareholder of the Company. No waiver of any provisions hereof by any party shall be deemed a waiver of any other provisions hereof by any such party, nor shall any such waiver be deemed a continuing waiver of any provision hereof by such party.
- 19. <u>Applicable Law; Jurisdiction</u>. This Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of Delaware, regardless of the laws that might

otherwise govern under applicable principles of conflicts of laws, except as otherwise required by Cayman Law. In any action or proceeding between any of the parties arising out of or relating to this Agreement, each of the parties: (i) irrevocably and unconditionally consents and submits to the exclusive jurisdiction and venue of the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware or to the extent such court does not have subject matter jurisdiction, the Superior Court of the State of Delaware or the United States District Court for the District of Delaware, (ii) agrees that all claims in respect of such action or proceeding shall be heard and determined exclusively in accordance with clause (i) of this Section 19, (iii) waives any objection to laying venue in any such action or proceeding in such courts, (iv) waives any objection that such courts are an inconvenient forum or do not have jurisdiction over any party, and (v) agrees that service of process upon such party in any such action or proceeding shall be effective if notice is given in accordance with Section 15 of this Agreement.

- 20. <u>Waiver of Jury Trial</u>. The parties hereto hereby waive any right to trial by jury with respect to any action or proceeding related to or arising out of this Agreement, any document executed in connection herewith and the matters contemplated hereby and thereby.
- 21. No Agreement Until Executed. Irrespective of negotiations among the parties or the exchanging of drafts of this Agreement, this Agreement shall not constitute or be deemed to evidence a contract, agreement, arrangement or understanding between the parties hereto unless and until (a) the Board of Directors of the Company has approved, for purposes of Cayman Law, any applicable anti-takeover laws and regulations and any applicable provision of the memorandum and articles of association, the Merger Agreement and the transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement, (b) the Merger Agreement is executed by all parties thereto, and (c) this Agreement is executed by all parties hereto.
- 22. <u>Entire Agreement; Counterparts; Exchanges by Facsimile</u>. This Agreement and the other agreements referred to in this Agreement constitute the entire agreement and supersede all prior agreements and understandings, both written and oral, among or between any of the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and thereof. This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original and all of which shall constitute one and the same instrument. The exchange of a fully executed Agreement (in counterparts or otherwise) by all parties by facsimile or electronic transmission via ".pdf' shall be sufficient to bind the parties to the terms and conditions of this Agreement.
- 23. <u>Amendment</u>. This Agreement may not be amended, supplemented or modified, and no provisions hereof may be modified or waived, except by an instrument in writing signed on behalf of each party hereto.
- 24. <u>Definition of Merger Agreement</u>. For purposes of this Agreement, the term "<u>Merger Agreement</u>" may include such agreement as amended or modified as long as such amendments or modifications (a) do not (i) change the form of consideration or (ii) change the Exchange Ratio in a manner adverse to Shareholder, or (b) have been agreed to in writing by Shareholder.
  - 25. Construction.

- (a) For purposes of this Agreement, whenever the context requires: the singular number shall include the plural, and vice versa; the masculine gender shall include the feminine and neuter genders; the feminine gender shall include the masculine and neuter genders; and the neuter gender shall include masculine and feminine genders.
- (b) The parties hereto agree that any rule of construction to the effect that ambiguities are to be resolved against the drafting party shall not be applied in the construction or interpretation of this Agreement.
- (c) As used in this Agreement, the words "include" and "including," and variations thereof, shall not be deemed to be terms of limitation, but rather shall be deemed to be followed by the words "without limitation."
- (d) Except as otherwise indicated, all references in this Agreement to "Sections," "Exhibits" and "Schedules" are intended to refer to Sections of this Agreement and Exhibits and Schedules to this Agreement, respectively.
- (e) The bold-faced headings contained in this Agreement are for convenience of reference only, shall not be deemed to be a part of this Agreement and shall not be referred to in connection with the construction or interpretation of this Agreement.

[Remainder of Page has Intentionally Been Left Blank]

EXECUTED as of the date first above written.

# [SHAREHOLDER]

By:	
Name:	
Title:	

Signature Page to Voting Agreement

B-20

EXECUTED as of the date first above written.

By: Name: Title:
INOTEK PHARMACEUTICALS CORPORATION
Ву:
Name:
Title:

ROCKET PHARMACEUTICALS, LTD.

Signature Page to Voting Agreement

# SCHEDULE 1

Name and Address of Shareholder	Shares	<b>Options</b>	Other Rights
---------------------------------	--------	----------------	--------------

## EXHIBIT C

# FORM OF LOCK-UP AGREEMENTS

#### LOCK-UP AGREEMENT

September 12, 2017

Inotek Pharmaceuticals Corporation 91 Hartwell Avenue Lexington, MA 02421

#### Ladies and Gentlemen:

The undersigned signatory of this lock-up agreement (this "Lock-Up Agreement") understands that Inotek Pharmaceuticals Corporation, a Delaware corporation ("Parent") has entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger and Reorganization, dated as of September 12, 2017 (as the same may be amended from time to time, the "Merger Agreement") with Rome Merger Sub, a Cayman Islands exempted company and a wholly owned subsidiary of Parent, and Rocket Pharmaceuticals, Ltd., a Cayman Islands exempted company. Capitalized terms used but not otherwise defined herein shall have the respective meanings ascribed to such terms in the Merger Agreement.

As a material inducement to each of the Parties to enter into the Merger Agreement and to consummate the Contemplated Transactions, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, the undersigned hereby irrevocably agrees that, subject to the exceptions set forth herein, without the prior written consent of Parent, the undersigned will not, during the period commencing upon the Closing and ending on the date that is 180 days after the Closing Date (the "Restricted Period"):

- (i) offer, pledge, sell, contract to sell, sell any option or contract to purchase, purchase any option or contract to sell, grant any option, right or warrant to purchase, or otherwise transfer or dispose of, directly or indirectly, any shares of Common Stock or any securities convertible into or exercisable or exchangeable for Parent Common Stock (including without limitation, Parent Common Stock or such other securities which may be deemed to be beneficially owned by the undersigned in accordance with the rules and regulations of the SEC and securities of Parent which may be issued upon exercise of a stock option or warrant or settlement of a restricted stock unit ("RSU")) that are currently or hereafter owned by the undersigned (collectively, the "Undersigned's Shares"), or publicly disclose the intention to make any such offer, sale, pledge, grant, transfer or disposition:
- (ii) enter into any swap, short sale, hedge or other agreement that transfers, in whole or in part, any of the economic consequences of ownership of the Undersigned's Shares regardless of whether any such transaction described in clause (i) above or this clause (ii) is to be settled by delivery of Parent Common Stock or such other securities, in cash or otherwise; or
- (iii) make any demand for or exercise any right with respect to the registration of any shares of Parent Common Stock or any security convertible into or exercisable or exchangeable for Parent Common Stock.

The restrictions and obligations contemplated by this Lock-Up Agreement shall not apply to:

- (a) transfers of the Undersigned's Shares:
  - (i) if the undersigned is a <u>natural person</u>, (A) to any person related to the undersigned by blood or adoption who is an immediate family member of the undersigned, or by marriage or domestic partnership (a "Family Member"), or to a trust formed for the benefit of the undersigned or any of the undersigned's Family Members, (B) to the undersigned's estate, following the death of the undersigned, by will, intestacy or other operation of law, (C) as a

#### **EXECUTION VERSION**

- bona fide gift to a charitable organization, (D) by operation of law pursuant to a qualified domestic order or in connection with a divorce settlement or (E) to any partnership, corporation or limited liability company which is controlled by the undersigned and/or by any such Family Member(s);
- (ii) if the undersigned is a <u>corporation, partnership or other business entity</u>, (A) to another corporation, partnership or other business entity that is an affiliate (as defined under Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act) of the undersigned, including investment funds or other entities under common control or management with the undersigned, (B) as a distribution or dividend to equity holders (including, without limitation, general or limited partners and members) of the undersigned (including upon the liquidation and dissolution of the undersigned pursuant to a plan of liquidation approved by the undersigned's equity holders) or (C) as a bona fide gift to a charitable organization; or
- (iii) if the undersigned is a trust, to any grantors or beneficiaries of the trust;

*provided that*, in the case of any transfer or distribution pursuant to this clause (a), such transfer is not for value and each donee, heir, beneficiary or other transferee or distributee shall sign and deliver to Parent a lock-up agreement in the form of this Lock-Up Agreement with respect to the shares of Parent Common Stock or such other securities that have been so transferred or distributed;

- (b) the exercise of an option (including a net or cashless exercise of an option) to purchase shares of Parent Common Stock, and any related transfer of shares of Parent Common Stock to Parent for the purpose of paying the exercise price of such options or for paying taxes (including estimated taxes) due as a result of the exercise of such options (or the disposition to Parent of any shares of restricted stock granted pursuant to the terms of any employee benefit plan or restricted stock purchase agreement); *provided that*, for the avoidance of doubt, the underlying shares of Parent Common Stock shall continue to be subject to the restrictions on transfer set forth in this Lock-Up Agreement;
- (c) transfers for the net settlement of RSUs settled in Parent Common Stock to pay any tax withholding obligations; *provided that*, for the avoidance of doubt, the underlying shares of Parent Common Stock shall continue to be subject to the restrictions on transfer set forth in this Lock-Up Agreement;
- (d) the establishment of a trading plan pursuant to Rule 10b5-1 under the Exchange Act for the transfer of Parent Common Stock; <u>provided that</u> such plan does not provide for any transfers of Parent Common Stock during the Restricted Period; or
  - (e) transfers by the undersigned of shares of Parent Common Stock purchased by the undersigned on the open market following the Closing Date;

and <u>provided</u>, <u>further</u>, that, with respect to each of (a), (b), (c) and (d) above, no filing by any party (including any donor, donee, transferor, transferee, distributor or distributee) under the Exchange Act or other public announcement shall be required or shall be made voluntarily in connection with such transfer or disposition during the Restricted Period (other than (i) any exit filings or public announcements that may be required under applicable federal and state securities laws or (ii) in respect of a required filing under the Exchange Act in connection with the exercise of an option to purchase Parent Common Stock following such individual's termination of employment with Parent that would otherwise expire during the Restricted Period, provided that reasonable notice shall be provided to Parent prior to any such filing).

Any attempted transfer in violation of this Lock-Up Agreement will be of no effect and null and void, regardless of whether the purported transferee has any actual or constructive knowledge of the transfer restrictions set forth in this Lock-Up Agreement, and will not be recorded on the share register of Parent. In furtherance of the foregoing, the undersigned agrees that Parent and any duly appointed transfer agent for the registration or transfer of

#### **EXECUTION VERSION**

the securities described herein are hereby authorized to decline to make any transfer of securities if such transfer would constitute a violation or breach of this Lock-Up Agreement. Parent may cause the legend set forth below, or a legend substantially equivalent thereto, to be placed upon any certificate(s) or other documents, ledgers or instruments evidencing the undersigned's ownership of Parent Common Stock:

THE SHARES REPRESENTED BY THIS CERTIFICATE ARE SUBJECT TO AND MAY ONLY BE TRANSFERRED IN COMPLIANCE WITH A LOCK-UP AGREEMENT, A COPY OF WHICH IS ON FILE AT THE PRINCIPAL OFFICE OF THE COMPANY.

The undersigned hereby represents and warrants that the undersigned has full power and authority to enter into this Lock-Up Agreement. All authority herein conferred or agreed to be conferred and any obligations of the undersigned shall be binding upon the successors, assigns, heirs or personal representatives of the undersigned.

The undersigned understands that if the Merger Agreement is terminated for any reason, the undersigned shall be released from all obligations under this Lock-Up Agreement. The undersigned understands that Parent is proceeding with the Contemplated Transactions in reliance upon this Lock-Up Agreement.

Any and all remedies herein expressly conferred upon Parent will be deemed cumulative with and not exclusive of any other remedy conferred hereby, or by law or equity, and the exercise by Parent of any one remedy will not preclude the exercise of any other remedy. The undersigned agrees that irreparable damage would occur to Parent in the event that any provision of this Lock-Up Agreement were not performed in accordance with its specific terms or were otherwise breached. It is accordingly agreed that Parent shall be entitled to an injunction or injunctions to prevent breaches of this Lock-Up Agreement and to enforce specifically the terms and provisions hereof in any court of the United States or any state having jurisdiction, this being in addition to any other remedy to which Parent is entitled at law or in equity, and the undersigned waives any bond, surety or other security that might be required of Parent with respect thereto.

This Lock-Up Agreement and any claim, controversy or dispute arising under or related to this Lock-Up Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Delaware, without regard to the conflict of laws principles thereof.

This Lock-Up Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original and all of which shall constitute one and the same instrument. The exchange of a fully executed Lock-Up Agreement (in counterparts or otherwise) by Parent and the undersigned by facsimile or electronic transmission in .pdf format shall be sufficient to bind such parties to the terms and conditions of this Lock-Up Agreement.

(Signature Page Follows)

EXECUTION VERSION	
	Very truly yours,
Print Name of Stockholder:	[]
	Signature (for individuals):
	Signature (for entities):
	Ву:
	Name:
	Title:
Accepted and Agreed by Inotek Pharmaceuticals Corporation:	
Ву	
Name:	
Title:	

[Signature Page to Lock-up Agreement]

C-4



September 12, 2017

Rudolf A. Baumgartner

Re: Amendment to Offer Letter

Dear Rudy:

This letter hereby amends the offer letter dated as of May 2, 2007, as amended on December 23, 2008, October 9, 2009, and August 7, 2017 (the "Offer Letter"), by and between Inotek Pharmaceuticals Corporation (the "Company") and you as set forth below.

The paragraph of the Offer Letter, as amended in 2009 pursuant to "Amendment No. 2 to Offer of Employment," describing your status as an "at-will" employee of the Company and any potential severance payments payable upon termination of your employment is hereby amended and replaced with the following:

You should be aware that your employment with the Company constitutes "at-will" employment. This means that your employment relationship with the Company may be terminated at any time with or without notice, with or without Cause or for any or no Cause, at either party's option. You understand and agree that neither your job performance nor promotions, commendations, bonuses (if any) or the like from the Company give rise to or in any way serve as the basis for modification, amendment, or extension, by implication or otherwise, of your employment with the Company. Please note, however, if, at any time after the date of this Amendment, your employment with the Company is terminated: (a) by the Company without Cause, or (b) by you as a result of your resignation for Good Reason (each a "Qualifying Termination"), then upon your execution of a comprehensive release of claims in the Company's (and/or its successors(s)) favor in a form and of a scope reasonably acceptable to the Company within the 21-day period following the date your employment terminates and the expiration of the seven-day revocation period for such release, you shall also receive severance payments, at a monthly rate equal to your then current monthly base salary, for a period of twelve (12) months (the "Severance Pay Period"). In addition, if you experience a Qualifying Termination and in connection therewith you elect COBRA continuation coverage, the Company shall pay the same portion of premiums that it pays for active employees for the same level of group health coverage as in effect for you on the date your employment with the Company ends until the earliest of the following: (i) the end of the Severance Pay Period, or (ii) the end of your eligibility under COBRA continuation coverage for any reason. Such severance payments shall be payable on at least a monthly basis and shall be subject to all applicable federal, state and local withholding, payroll and other taxes, commencing on the first payroll date of the Company that occurs 30 days fol

Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"), each installment payment is considered a separate payment. Upon the date you experience a Qualifying Termination (as defined below), all outstanding stock options and other stock-based awards you hold shall vest in full and become exercisable or nonforfeitable as of such date, notwithstanding anything to the contrary in any applicable stock option agreement or stock-based award agreement.

### For purposes of this Amendment:

"Change in Control" shall mean (i) the sale of the Company by merger in which the shareholders of the Company in their capacity as such no longer own a majority of the outstanding equity securities of the Company (or its successor); (ii) any sale of all or substantially all of the assets or capital stock of the Company (other than in a spin-off or similar transaction); or (iii) any other acquisition of the business of the Company, as determined by the Board.

"Cause" shall mean any one or more of the following: (i) your misconduct, deliberate disregard of the rules or policies of the Company, or breach of fiduciary duty to the Company; (ii) your commission of an act of fraud, theft, misappropriation or embezzlement; (iii) your violation of federal or state securities laws; (iv) your conviction of, or pleading nolo contendere to, a felony or any other crime involving moral turpitude; or (v) your material breach of this offer letter, any stock option agreement between you and the Company, the Confidentiality Agreement attached hereto as Exhibit A, or any other written agreement between you and the Company. Please note that you shall not be eligible for any severance payments should your employment terminate because of death or Disability. For purposes of this Amendment, you shall be deemed to have a "Disability" if you are unable to perform the essential functions of your job or without reasonable accommodation for a period of 120 consecutive or cumulative calendar days in any 12-month period. Any accommodation will not be deemed reasonable if it imposes an undue hardship on the Company. You agree to submit to an examination by a Company-selected physician for the determination of such Disability. Such physician shall not be an employee or consultant of the Company, nor shall such physician be located more than 50 miles from the Company's current Lexington, Massachusetts office.

"Good Reason" shall mean any one or more of the following: (i) the Company's reduction of your compensation as in effect on the date prior to a Change in Control and that is not part of a reduction applicable to the other senior executives of the Company, or the Company's failure to pay your compensation in the time and manner contemplated herein or (ii) the material reduction in your title, responsibilities, duties, reporting relationships or authorities as Chief Medical Officer; provided, however, that an event described in this sentence shall not constitute Good Reason unless it is communicated by you to the Company in writing within 90 days of the event, and the Company has not cured the event within 30 days of receiving written notice from you setting forth the nature of such alleged Good Reason.

All other terms in the Offer Letter remain in full force and effect.

This Amendment shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts applicable to agreements made and to be performed entirely within such State, without regard to the conflicts of law principles of such State.

This Amendment may be executed in one or more counterparts, all of which shall be considered one and the same agreement, and shall become effective when one or more such counterparts have been signed by each of the parties and delivered to the other party.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have executed this Amendment as of the date first above written.

COMPANY: INOTEK PHARMACEUTICALS CORPORATION

By: /s/ David P. Southwell

David P. Southwell President and Chief Executive Officer

/s/ Rudolf A. Baumgartner

Rudolf A. Baumgartner

# Inotek Pharmaceuticals Announces Merger Agreement with Rocket Pharmaceuticals to Advance Pipeline of First-in-Class Gene Therapies for Rare Diseases

- Company to Leverage Lentiviral and AAV Gene Therapy Platforms to Target Rare Genetic Diseases -
  - Transaction to Advance Rocket's Growing Pipeline; Up to Four Clinical Trials to Begin in 2018 -
- Proof of Concept Data Expected in 2018 for One or More Clinical Programs Focused on Rare Blood Disorders: Fanconi Anemia, Pyruvate Kinase Deficiency, and Leukocyte Adhesion Deficiency-1-

**LEXINGTON, Mass and NEW YORK, NY** – **September 12, 2017** – <u>Inotek Pharmaceuticals Corporation</u> (NASDAQ: ITEK) today announced that they have entered into a definitive merger agreement with <u>Rocket Pharmaceuticals Ltd.</u>, a leading US-based gene therapy company. Subject to shareholder approval, the combined company will retain the name Rocket Pharmaceuticals and will be headquartered in New York City. The combined company will focus on developing and advancing its pipeline of gene therapies based on lentiviral virus (LVV) and adeno-associated virus (AAV) gene therapy platforms, with a focus on treating devastating rare diseases.

"We have conducted an exhaustive strategic process focused on proactively identifying assets that have clear biological plausibility and a high unmet need. As a result of this process, I'm delighted to announce a merger with Rocket as the best scenario for value creation for our stockholders," said David P. Southwell, President and Chief Executive Officer of Inotek.

"Rocket is a leader in developing first-in-class gene therapies for patients with rare genetic diseases with complex and challenging treatment options, such as bone marrow and organ transplants. We believe the combined company will be well-funded, and it will be led by Gaurav Shah, MD, who was formerly a CART-19 Global Program Head in the Cell and Gene Therapies Unit at Novartis. In addition to Gaurav, Rocket has a seasoned team of gene therapy and rare disease drug development experts," said Southwell. "The proposed transaction will provide significant and immediate value to accelerate the development of Rocket's five distinct programs."

Rocket's focus for its lentiviral gene therapies is bone marrow disorders caused by gene mutations. Lead programs include Fanconi Anemia (FA), Leukocyte Adhesion Deficiency-1 (LAD-1) and Pyruvate Kinase Deficiency (PKD). Current treatment options available for patients with these diseases are limited and include allogeneic bone marrow transplant procedures, which are often complicated by graft versus host disease and a lack of available donors. Rocket's gene therapy approach could be potentially curative and replace or pre-empt the need for transplant. Longer term, Rocket is also developing a lentiviral-based gene therapy for infantile malignant osteopetrosis, an inherited bone disorder.

In addition, Rocket is advancing an AAV-based program for an undisclosed rare pediatric disease with a significant estimated patient population size (15,000+ prevalence in the US/EU).

"Our vision is to create a fully-integrated platform gene therapy company with a portfolio of distinct treatments for devastating genetic diseases," said Gaurav Shah, MD, Chief Executive Officer of Rocket. "FA, LAD-1 and PKD are near term opportunities in rare bone marrow-derived disorders. The AAV-based approach, while earlier, will target treatment of a broader range of challenging diseases."

Shah continued, "We are inspired by the passion for science and dedication to patients which David and his team have exemplified, and honored to be on this journey together. With this transaction, Rocket's rich pipeline will progress even more rapidly into what we already see as a transformational year for the company. We expect to enter the clinic in 2018, with clinical proof of concept data from one or more of the lentiviral programs in 2018."

#### **Proposed Transaction Detail**

Under the terms of the merger agreement, shareholders of Rocket will receive shares of newly issued Inotek common shares in a private placement. Rocket shareholders are expected to own approximately 81% of the combined Company and current Inotek shareholders will own approximately 19% of the combined Company. The percentage of the combined Company that Rocket's shareholders will own as of the close of the transaction is subject to adjustment based on the amount of Inotek's net cash at the closing date. The merger agreement contains further details with respect to this adjustment and the transaction. The transaction has been unanimously approved by the Board of Directors of both companies. The merger is expected to close in the first quarter of 2018, subject to customary closing conditions, including the approval by stockholders of Inotek.

Perella Weinberg Partners LP is acting as financial advisor to Inotek and Goodwin Procter, LLP is serving as legal counsel to Inotek and Gibson, Dunn & Crutcher LLP is serving as legal counsel to Rocket.

#### **Board of Directors**

Gaurav Shah, MD, will serve as Chief Executive Officer of the combined Company. The combined Company Board of Directors will be chaired by Roderick Wong, MD, Managing Partner of RTW Investments, and will include David Southwell, President and Chief Executive Officer of Inotek, Gaurav Shah, MD, Chief Executive Officer of Rocket, as well as four additional members.

## **Inotek Operational Update**

Inotek also announced today that it is reducing its workforce by approximately 60% to a total of 7 full-time employees, which is expected to be completed in the third quarter. All affected employees are being offered severance and transition benefits.

#### **Conference Call Information**

Inotek and Rocket will host a conference call and webcast tomorrow, September 13, 2017, at 8:30 am ET. To participate in the conference call, please dial (844) 358-9183 in the U.S. or (478) 219-0400 outside of the U.S. five minutes prior to the start of the call and provide the Conference ID: 85020110 or access the listen-only webcast by visiting the Company's website <a href="https://www.inotekpharma.com">www.inotekpharma.com</a>.

An archive of tomorrow's conference call will be available shortly after the conclusion of the call and accessed by dialing (855) 859-2056 in the U.S. or (404) 537-3406 outside of the U.S. and referencing the Conference ID: 85020110, or by visiting Inotek's website. The audio replay will be available for two weeks following the call and the webcast for thirty days.

#### **About Inotek Pharmaceuticals Corporation**

Inotek Pharmaceuticals is a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical company focused on the discovery, development and commercialization of therapies for ocular diseases, including glaucoma. In July 2017, the Company announced top-line results of its Phase 2 fixed-dose combination trial of *trabodenoson* and *latanoprost* for the treatment of glaucoma. The trial did not meet its primary efficacy endpoint and the Company has since discontinued development of *trabodenoson* in order to focus on evaluating strategic

alternatives. For more information, please visit <a href="www.inotekpharma.com">www.inotekpharma.com</a>. The inclusion of our website address here and elsewhere in this press release does not include or incorporate by reference the information on our website into this press release.

#### About Rocket Pharmaceuticals, Ltd.

Rocket Pharmaceuticals, Ltd. is an emerging biotechnology company focused on developing first-in-class gene therapy treatment options for rare, undertreated diseases. The Company's lead program is a lentiviral-based gene therapy for the treatment of Fanconi Anemia (FA), a difficult to treat genetic disease that leads to bone marrow failure and potentially cancer. Preclinical studies of additional bone marrow-derived disorders are ongoing and target Pyruvate Kinase Deficiency (PKD), Leukocyte Adhesion Deficiency-1 (LAD-1) and Infantile Malignant Osteopetrosis. The Company is also developing an AAV-based gene therapy program for an undisclosed rare pediatric disease. The Company is backed by leading institutional investors, including RTW Investments, Cormorant Asset Management and Tavistock Group. For more information about Rocket Pharmaceuticals Ltd., please visit <a href="https://www.rocketpharma.com">www.rocketpharma.com</a>.

#### **Additional Information for Inotek Common Stockholders**

In connection with the proposed transaction, Inotek plans to file with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) a proxy statement relating to the approval of the merger agreement. The information in the preliminary proxy statement is not complete and may be changed. The proxy statement and this press release are not offers to sell Inotek securities and are not soliciting an offer to buy Inotek securities in any state where the offer and sale is not permitted.

The definitive proxy statement will be mailed to stockholders of Inotek. INOTEK URGES INVESTORS AND SECURITY HOLDERS TO READ THE DEFINITIVE PROXY STATEMENT AND OTHER DOCUMENTS FILED WITH THE SEC CAREFULLY AND IN THEIR ENTIRETY WHEN THEY BECOME AVAILABLE BECAUSE THEY WILL CONTAIN IMPORTANT INFORMATION ABOUT THE PROPOSED TRANSACTION. Investors and security holders will be able to obtain free copies of the definitive proxy statement (when available) and other documents filed with the SEC by Inotek through the web site maintained by the SEC at www.sec.gov. Free copies of the definitive proxy statement (when available) and other documents filed with the SEC can also be obtained on Inotek's website at <a href="http://ir.inotekpharma.com/phoenix.zhtml?c=254118&p=irol-sec">http://ir.inotekpharma.com/phoenix.zhtml?c=254118&p=irol-sec</a>.

## **Participants in Solicitation**

Inotek, Rocket and their respective directors and executive officers may be deemed to be participants in the solicitation of proxies from the stockholders of Inotek in connection with the merger. Information about the directors and executive officers of Inotek is set forth in Inotek's Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016 and filed with the SEC on March 16, 2017 and the proxy statement filed with the SEC on April 26, 2017. Additional information regarding the interests of these participants and other persons who may be deemed participants in the merger may be obtained by reading the proxy statement regarding the proposed transaction when it becomes available.

This document will not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy any securities, nor will there be any sale of securities in any jurisdiction in which such offer, solicitation or sale would be unlawful prior to the registration or qualification under the securities laws of any such jurisdiction.

# ${\bf Cautionary\ Statement\ Regarding\ Forward\text{-}Looking\ Statements}$

This communication contains "forward-looking" statements within the meaning of Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995,

known as the PSLRA. These statements, as they relate to Inotek or Rocket, the management of either such company or the proposed transaction between Inotek and Rocket, involve risks and uncertainties that may cause results to differ materially from those set forth in the statements. These statements are based on current plans, estimates and projections, and therefore, you are cautioned not to place undue reliance on them. No forward-looking statement can be guaranteed, and actual results may differ materially from those projected. Inotek and Rocket undertake no obligation to publicly update any forward-looking statement, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, except to the extent required by law. Forward-looking statements are not historical facts, but rather are based on current expectations, estimates, assumptions and projections about the business and future financial results of the pharmaceutical industry, and other legal, regulatory and economic developments. We use words such as "anticipates," "believes," "plans," "expects," "projects," "future," "intends," "may," "will," "should," "could," "estimates," "predicts," "potential," "continue," "guidance," and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements, although not all forward-looking statements contain these identifying words. Actual results could differ materially from the results contemplated by these forward-looking statements due to a number of factors, including, but not limited to, those described in the documents Inotek has filed with the SEC as well as the possibility that (1) the parties may be unable to obtain stockholder or regulatory approvals required for the proposed transaction or may be required to accept conditions that could reduce the anticipated benefits of the merger as a condition to obtaining regulatory approvals; (2) the length of time necessary to consummate the proposed transaction may be longer than anticipated; (3) the parties may not be able to satisfy the conditions precedent to consummate the proposed transaction; (4) the proposed transaction may divert management's attention from Inotek's ongoing business operations; (5) the anticipated benefits of the proposed transaction might not be achieved; (6) Rocket's clinical programs and pre-clinical studies may not be successful or completed on time; (7) Rocket may not be able to successfully demonstrate safety and efficacy of its clinical programs or pre-clinical studies; (8) Rocket's expectations regarding the future development of its clinical programs and pre-clinical studies may not materialize; (9) Rocket's clinical programs may not obtain necessary regulatory or other approvals; (10) Rocket's clinical programs may not meet proof of concept; (11) Rocket may not be able to raise the necessary capital to conduct Rocket's clinical programs and pre-clinical studies or such capital may not be available; (12) the prospective market size of Rocket's drug candidates may be different than currently anticipated; (13) the proposed transaction may involve unexpected costs; (14) the business may suffer as a result of uncertainty surrounding the proposed transaction, including difficulties in maintaining relationships with third parties or retaining key employees; (15) the parties may be unable to meet expectations regarding the timing, completion and accounting and tax treatments of the transaction; (16) the parties may be subject to risks related to the proposed transaction, including any legal proceedings related to the proposed transaction and the general risks associated with the respective businesses of Inotek and Rocket, including the general volatility of the capital markets, terms and deployment of capital, volatility of Inotek share prices, changes in the biotechnology industry, interest rates or the general economy, underperformance of Inotek's or Rocket's assets and investments, decreased ability to raise funds and the degree and nature of Inotek's and Rocket's competition, as well as the risk that unexpected reductions in Inotek's cash balance could adversely affect the portion of the combined company that the Inotek stockholders retain; (17) activist investors might not approve of the proposed transaction; or (18) the risks that are more fully described in the section titled "Risk Factors" in Inotek's most recent Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC, as well as subsequent and other documents filed from time to time with the SEC by Inotek could materialize. Additionally, forward-looking statements related to Rocket's future expectations are subject to numerous risks and uncertainties, including risks that planned development milestones and timelines will not be met. Additional risks relating to Rocket's business and operations will be set forth in the proxy statement that Inotek will file to seek stockholder approval of the merger. Neither Inotek nor Rocket gives any assurance that either Inotek or Rocket will achieve its expectations.

The foregoing list of factors is not exhaustive. You should carefully consider the foregoing factors and the other risks and uncertainties that affect the businesses of Inotek described in the "Risk Factors" section of its Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q and other documents filed by Inotek from time to time with the SEC, as well as Risk Factors relating to Rocket that will be contained in definitive proxy statement for the proposed merger between Inotek and Rocket. All forward-looking statements included in this document are based upon information available to Inotek and Rocket the date hereof, and neither Inotek nor Rocket assumes any obligation to update or revise any such forward-looking statements.

#### **Inotek Contact:**

Claudine Prowse, PhD, 781-552-4305 Vice President, Corporate Development and IRO <a href="mailto:cprowse@inotekpharma.com">cprowse@inotekpharma.com</a>

#### **Inotek Media & Investor Contact:**

Joe Rayne, 781-327-5610 jrayne@inotekpharma.com

## **Rocket Contact:**

investors@rocketpharma.com